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Definitions

The following abbreviations and acronyms used in this Form 10-K are defined below:

Abbreviation or Acronym

AFUDC

Applied Digital
Army Corps

ASC

ASU

Bcef

Big Stone Station

BSSE

Cascade
Centennial

Centennial Capital
CERCLA

Cclo

Code

CODM

Company
COVID-19

Coyote Creek
Coyote Station
CWIP

CyROC

DC Circuit Court
dk

EBITDA

EIN

EPA

ERISA

ERM

ESG

Everus

Everus Construction

Exchange Act
FASB

FERC

Fidelity

FIP

GAAP

GHG

Great Plains
GVTC

Allowance for funds used during construction

Applied Digital Corporation

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers

FASB Accounting Standards Codification

FASB Accounting Standards Update

Billion cubic feet

475-MW coal-fired electric generating facility near Big Stone City, South Dakota (22.7 percent
ownership)

345-kV transmission line from Ellendale, North Dakota, to Big Stone City, South Dakota
(50 percent ownership)
Cascade Natural Gas Corporation, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of MDU Energy Capital

CEHI, LLC, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, formerly known as Centennial
Energy Holdings, Inc. prior to the separation of Knife River from the Company. References to
Centennial's historical business and operations refer to the business and operations of
Centennial Energy Holdings, Inc.

Centennial Holdings Capital LLC, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Centennial
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act

Chief Information Officer

U.S. Internal Revenue Code

Chief Operating Decision Maker

MDU Resources Group, Inc.

Coronavirus disease 2019

Coyote Creek Mining Company, LLC, a subsidiary of The North American Coal Corporation
427-MW coal-fired electric generating facility near Beulah, North Dakota (25 percent ownership)

Construction work in progress, costs associated with the construction of new utility facilities
recorded on the balance sheet until these facilities are placed in service.

Cyber Risk Oversight Committee

U.S Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit

Decatherm

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
Employer Identification Number

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency

Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended
Enterprise risk management

Environmental, social and governance

Everus Construction Group, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company prior to the
séeparation from the Company, that was established in conjunction with the separation of Everus
onstruction

Everus Construction, Inc., a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Centennial prior to the separation
from the Company, formerly known as MDU Construction Services Group, Inc. prior to March 12,
2024

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

Financial Accounting Standards Board

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission

Fidelity Exploration & Production Company, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Centennial
(previously referred to as the Company's exploration and production segment)

Funding improvement plan

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
Greenhouse gas

Great Plains Natural Gas Co., a public utility division of Montana-Dakota
Generation Verification Test Capacity
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Definitions

Holding Company Reorganization

IBEW

ICWU
Intermountain
IPUC

IRA

IRP

IRS

Item 8

JETx

Knife River

K-Plan
kW
kWh
kV

Leading with Integrity Guide

LIBOR
MD&A

MDU Energy Capital

MDUR Newco
MDUR Newco Sub

MEPP
MISO

MMcf
MMdk
MNPUC
Montana-Dakota
MPPAA
MTPSC
MW
NDDEQ
NDPSC
NERC
NYSE
ODEQ
OPUC
PCAOB
PCBs
PHMSA
Proxy Statement
PRP
PSAs
RCRA
RNG
RP

The internal holding company reorganization completed on January 1, 2019, pursuant to the
agreement and plan of merger, dated as of December 31, 2018, by and among Montana-Dakota,
the Company and MDUR Newco Sub, which resulted in the Company becoming a holding
company and owning all of the outstanding capital stock of Montana-Dakota.

International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers

International Chemical Workers Union

Intermountain Gas Company, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of MDU Energy Capital
Idaho Public Utilities Commission

Inflation Reduction Act

Integrated Resource Plan

Internal Revenue Service

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

345-kV transmission line from Jamestown, North Dakota to Ellendale, North Dakota (50 percent
ownership)

Established as Knife River Corporation prior to the separation from the Company, a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of Centennial. Knife River refers to Knife River Corporation, during the
period prior to separation, now known as "KRC Materials, Inc." Following the separation Knife
River refers to Knife River Holding Company, now known as Knife River Corporation.

Company's 401(k) Retirement Plan

Kilowatts

Kilowatt-hour

Kilovolts

Company's code of business conduct

London Inter-bank Offered Rate

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
MDU Energy Capital, LLC, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

MDUR Newco, Inc., a public holding company created by implementing the Holding Company
Reorganization, now known as the Company

MDUR Newco Sub, Inc., a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of MDUR Newco, which was merged
with and into Montana-Dakota in the Holding Company Reorganization

Multiemployer pension plan

Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc., the organization that provides open-access
transmission services and monitors the high-voltage transmission system in the Midwest United
States and Manitoba, Canada and a southern United States region which includes much of
Arkansas, Mississippi and Louisiana

Million cubic feet

Million dk

Minnesota Public Utilities Commission
Montana-Dakota Utilities Co. a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of MDU Energy Capital
Multiemployer Pension Plan Amendments Act of 1980
Montana Public Service Commission

Megawatt

North Dakota Department of Environmental Quality
North Dakota Public Service Commission

North American Electric Reliability Corporation

New York Stock Exchange

Oregon Department of Environmental Quality

Oregon Public Utility Commission

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
Polychlorinated biphenyls

Pipeline and Hazardous Material Safety Administration
Company's 2025 Proxy Statement

Potentially Responsible Party

Performance share awards

Resource Conservation and Recovery Act
Renewable natural gas

Rehabilitation plan
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Definitions

RSUs

SBCC

SDPUC

SEC

Securities Act
Sheridan System
SOFR

SPP

UA

TSA

VIE

Washington DOE

WBI Energy

WBI Energy Transmission
WUTC

Wygen llI

WYDEQ

WYPSC

ZRCs

Restricted stock units

State Building Code Council

South Dakota Public Utilities Commission

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission

Securities Act of 1933, as amended

A separate electric system owned by Montana-Dakota

Secured Overnight Financing Rate

Southwest Power Pool, the organization that manages the electric grid and wholesale power
market for the central United States.

United Association of Journeyman and Apprentices of the Plumbing and Pipefitting Industry of
the United States and Canada

Transportation Security Administration

Variable interest entity

Washington State Department of Ecology

WBI Energy, Inc., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Centennial

WBI Energy Transmission, Inc., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Centennial
Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission

100-MW coal-fired electric generating facility near Gillette, Wyoming (25 percent ownership)
Wyoming Department of Environmental Quality

Wyoming Public Service Commission

Zonal resource credits - a MW of demand equivalent assigned to generators by MISO for
meeting system reliability requirements

6 MDU Resources Group, Inc. Form 10-K



Index
Part |

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws. Other than statements of historical facts, all statements which address
activities, events or developments that the Company anticipates will or may occur in the future, including, but not limited to, such things as estimates for growth, stockholder value
creation, the Company's "CORE" strategy, capital expenditures, financial guidance and other such matters, are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are
based on many assumptions and factors, which are detailed in the Company's filings with the SEC.

While made in good faith, these forward-looking statements are based largely on the Company's expectations and judgments and are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties,
many of which are unforeseeable and beyond our control. For additional discussion regarding risks and uncertainties, that may affect forward-looking statements, see Item 1A - Risk
Factors. Any changes in such assumptions or factors could produce significantly different results. Undue reliance should not be placed on forward-looking statements, which speak
only as of the date they are made. Except as required by applicable law, the Company undertakes no obligation to update the forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise.

Items 1 and 2. Business and Properties

General

The Company is a pure-play regulated energy delivery business upon the completed separations of both its construction materials and contracting and construction services
businesses, as further discussed below. Its principal executive offices are located at 1200 West Century Avenue, P.O. Box 5650, Bismarck, North Dakota 58506-5650, telephone
(701) 530-1000.

Montana-Dakota was incorporated under the state laws of Delaware in 1924, marking its 100th year in business on March 14, 2024. The Company was incorporated under the state
laws of Delaware in 2018. Upon the completion of the Holding Company Reorganization, Montana-Dakota became a subsidiary of the Company. The Company adopted a new
mission statement in early 2025, "With integrity, deliver value as a leading energy provider and employer of choice."

Through a strategy focusing on its "CORE," the Company strives to deliver superior value and achieve industry-leading performance as a pure-play regulated energy delivery
company, while pursuing organic growth opportunities. The Company's "CORE" strategy prioritizes customers and communities, operational excellence, returns focused initiatives
and an employee driven culture. The Company generates, transmits and distributes electricity and provides natural gas distribution, transportation and storage services. These
businesses are regulated by state public service commissions and/or the FERC.

As part of the Company's continual review of its business, the Company announced strategic initiatives to enhance stockholder value. On May 31, 2023, the Company executed the
separation of Knife River, the construction materials and contracting business, from the Company, resulting in Knife River becoming an independent, publicly-traded company. On
October 31, 2024, the Company completed the separation of Everus, the construction services business, from the Company, resulting in Everus becoming an independent, publicly-
traded company.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company was organized into three reportable business segments. These business segments include: electric, natural gas distribution and pipeline.
The Company's business segments are determined based on the Company's method of internal reporting, which generally segregates the business activities by differences in
products and services. The internal reporting of these segments is defined based on the reporting and review process used by the Company's chief executive officer.

=== MDU RESOURCES

| GROUP, INC.

MDU Energy
Capital

Centennial

WBI Energy Cente_nnial
* Pipeline Capital
© Other

Montana-Dakota Cascade Intermountain

* Natural gas * Natural gas * Natural gas
o Electric

*Depicts the segment structure of the corporation; not the legal organization.
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The Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, MDU Energy Capital, owns Montana-Dakota, Cascade and Intermountain. The electric segment is comprised of Montana-
Dakota while the natural gas distribution segment is comprised of Montana-Dakota, Cascade and Intermountain.

The Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Centennial, owns WBI Energy and Centennial Capital. WBI Energy is the pipeline segment and Centennial Capital is reflected in
the Other category.

The financial results and data applicable to each of the Company's business segments, as well as their financing requirements, are set forth in Item 7 - MD&A and Item 8 - Note 17.

The Company's material properties, which are of varying ages and are of different construction types, are generally in good condition, are well maintained and are generally suitable
and adequate for the purposes for which they are used.

Human Capital Management The Company continues to focus on building a strong workforce. This means building a strong team of employees with a focus on safety and integrity
and a commitment to a respectful workplace. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had 2,052 employees.

Many of the Company's employees are represented by collective-bargaining agreements and the Company is committed to establishing constructive dialogue with this
representation and bargaining in good faith. The majority of the collective-bargaining agreements contain provisions that prohibit work stoppages or strikes and provide dispute

resolution through binding arbitration in the event of an extended disagreement.

The following information is as of December 31, 2024.

Number of
Collective-bargaining employees
Company agreement represented Agreement status
Montana-Dakota IBEW 296 Effective through April 30, 2026
Intermountain UA 152 Three agreements with one effective through October 31,

2026, one effective through March 31, 2027 and the third
agreement in negotiation.

Cascade ICWU 182 Effective through March 31, 2028
WBI Energy Transmission IBEW 72 Effective through April 30, 2027
Total 702

Respectful Workplace The Company is committed to an environment that respects the differences and embraces the strengths of its employees. Essential to the Company's
success is its ability to attract, retain and engage the best people from a broad range of backgrounds and build an inclusive culture where all employees feel valued and contribute
their best. The Company requires employees to participate in its Leading with Integrity training which provides training on the Company's code of conduct.

The Company's goals related to a respectful workplace:
» Enhance collaboration efforts through cooperation and sharing of best practices to create new ways of meeting employee, customer and stockholder needs.

« Increase productivity and profitability through the creation of a work environment which values all perspectives and methods of accomplishing work.

8 MDU Resources Group, Inc. Form 10-K
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The Company also promotes recognition of team members through the following awards:

o Aw,
\kt“ 440

The Einstein Award The Community Spirit The Summit Award The Environmental The Hero Award
recognizes the best Award recognizes recognizes employees Sustainability Award recognizes employees who
process improvement employees who are who make the Company recognizes an employee go above and beyond the
ideas that contribute in a actively involved in their a better place to work. program, project or call of duty to save
measurable way to community. activity that reflects the another's life.

improving the Company's Company's environmental

bottom line and are vital to policy and philosophy.

the Company's success.

Building People Building a strong workforce begins with employee recruitment. The Company hires and trains employees to have the skills, abilities and motivation to achieve the
results needed for their jobs. Each job is important and part of a coordinated team effort to accomplish the organization's objectives. The Company uses a variety of means to recruit
new employees for open positions including posting on the Company's website. Other sources for employee recruitment include employee referrals, union workforce, direct
recruitment, advertising, social media, career fairs, partnerships with colleges and technical schools, job service organizations and associations connected with a variety of
professions. The Company also uses internship programs to introduce individuals to the Company's business operations and provide a possible source of future employees.

Building a strong workforce also requires developing employees in their current positions and for future advancement. The Company provides opportunities for advancement through
job mobility, succession planning and promotions both within and between business segments. The Company provides employees the opportunity to further develop and grow

through various forms of training, mentorship programs and internship programs, among other things.

To attract and retain employees, the Company offers:

— 052G

0 Y] [$]

= NN
o S,
Compensation Growth & Development Incentives Benefits
Competitive salaries and Employee growth through Incentive compensation Comprehensive benefits
wages based on the labor training in the form of based on the Company’s including vacation, sick leave,
markets in which it operates. technical, professional and performance. health and wellness programs,
leadership programs, as well retirement plans and discount
as formal and informal programs.

mentoring and job shadowing
programs to assist employees
in their job and career goals.

The chief executive officer engages in employee tours at Company locations and the Company conducts employee surveys to hear and gauge employee opinions on issues such as
fairness, camaraderie and pride in the workplace. Survey responses are compiled and evaluated at various levels throughout the Company to develop action plans to address areas
of concern raised by employees.

Safety Safety is one of the Company's corporate values. The Company is committed to safety and health in the workplace. To ensure safe work environments, the Company
provides training, resources and appropriate follow-up on any unsafe conditions or actions. To facilitate a strong safety culture, the Company established its Safety Leadership
Council. In addition to the Safety Leadership Council, the Company has policies and training that support safety in the workplace including training on safety matters through
classroom and toolbox meetings on job sites. The Company utilizes safety compliance in the evaluation of employees, which includes management, and recognizes employee safety
through safety award programs.

MDU Resources Group, Inc. Form 10-K 9
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Accident and safety statistical information is regularly reported to management and the board of directors.

Environmental Matters The Company believes it has a
responsibility to use natural resources efficiently and attempt to

electric-generating facilities, as well as from natural gas pipeline
and storage systems, and operations of equipment and fleet
vehicles. The Company has developed renewable generation
with lower or no GHG emissions. Governmental legislation and
regulatory initiatives regarding environmental and energy policy
are continuously evolving and could negatively impact the
Company's operations and financial results. The Company will
continue to monitor legislative and regulatory activity related to Minimize waste and
environmental and energy policy initiatives and take all
appropriate action to comply. In addition, for a discussion of the
Company's risks related to environmental laws and regulations,
see Item 1A - Risk Factors.

minimize the environmental impact of its activities. The
Company produces GHG emissions primarily from its fossil fuel D

The Company operates with three primary environmental objectives:
]

Be a good steward of
the environment, while
providing high-quality

Comply with or surpass
all applicable

environmental laws,
regulations and permit
requirements.

maximize resources. £
and reasonably priced

products and services.

For more information on the Company's sustainability goals, programs and performance, see the Company's Sustainability Report on its website, which is not incorporated by
reference herein.

Governmental Matters The Company's operations and certain of its

2 subsidiaries are subject to laws and regulations relating to air, water
and solid waste pollution control; state facility-siting regulations;

m zoning and planning regulations of certain state and local authorities;

federal and state health and safety regulations; and state hazard
communication standards.

—
Laws & Regulations The Company strives to be in substantial compliance with applicable
I regulations, except as to what may be ultimately determined with
| | regard to items discussed in Environmental matters in Iltem 8 -
. . Note 21. There are no pending CERCLA actions for any of the
Air, water and Zoning and Federal and State , . . . .
' : S Company's material properties. However, the Company is involved in
solid waste planning state health facility-siting X K . .
) ) . certain claims relating to the Bremerton Gasworks Superfund Site.
pollution regulations - and safety regulations E inf i the C ) X tal matt
control state and local regulations or more information on the Company's environmental matters, see

authorities Item 8 - Note 21 and Item 7 - MD&A - Business Section Financial and
Operating Data.

Technology The Company uses technology in substantially all aspects of its business operations and requires uninterrupted operation of information technology systems and
network infrastructure. These systems may be vulnerable to failures or unauthorized access. The Company has policies, procedures and processes designed to strengthen and
protect these systems, which include the Company’s enterprise information technology and operation technology groups continually evaluating new tools and techniques to reduce
the risk and potential impacts of a cyber breach.

For a discussion of the Company's risks related to cybersecurity, see ltem 1A - Risk Factors. For more information on the Company's approach to cybersecurity, see ltem 1C -
Cybersecurity.

Available Information The Company maintains a corporate website at www.mdu.com. The Company's filings with the SEC, including its annual report on Form 10-K, it's quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports are available free of charge through this website as soon as reasonably practicable
after they are filed with or furnished to the SEC. The Governance section of the website contains the Company's Corporate Governance Guidelines, committee charters, and the
Leading with Integrity Guide for directors, officers, and employees, and is incorporated herein by reference. Copies of these documents may also be obtained free of charge upon
written request to the Company's corporate secretary at MDU Resources Group, Inc., P.O. Box 5650, Bismarck, North Dakota 58506.The information available on, or accessible
through, the Company's website is not part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Electric

General The Company's electric segment is operated through its

wholly-owned subsidiary, Montana-Dakota. Montana-Dakota provides Electric utility areas
electric service at retail, serving residential, commercial, industrial @ States of operations

and municipal customers in 185 communities and adjacent rural @ Electric generating stations
areas.

The material properties owned by Montana-Dakota for use in its
electric operations include interests in 14 electric generating units at
11 facilities and two small portable diesel generators, as further
described under System Supply, System Demand and Competition, m
approximately 3,400 and 4,800 miles of transmission and distribution

lines, respectively, and 87 transmission and 295 distribution

substations. Montana-Dakota has obtained and holds, or is in the

process of renewing, valid and existing franchises authorizing it to

conduct its electric operations in all of the municipalities it serves

where such franchises are required. Montana-Dakota intends to

protect its service area and seek renewal of all expiring franchises. At

December 31, 2024, Montana-Dakota's net electric plant investment

was $1.8 billion and its rate base was $1.5 billion.

Retail electric rates, service, accounting and certain securities issuances are subject to regulation by the MTPSC, NDPSC, SDPUC and WYPSC. The interstate transmission and
wholesale electric power operations of Montana-Dakota are also subject to regulation by the FERC under provisions of the Federal Power Act, as are interconnections with other
utilities and power generators, the issuance of certain securities, accounting, cybersecurity and other matters.

Through MISO, Montana-Dakota has access to wholesale energy, ancillary services and capacity markets for its interconnected system. MISO is a regional transmission
organization responsible for operational control of the transmission systems of its members. MISO provides security center operations, tariff administration and operates day-ahead
and real-time energy markets, ancillary services and capacity markets. As a member of MISO, Montana-Dakota's generation is sold into the MISO energy market and its energy
needs are purchased from that market.

The retail customers served and respective revenues by class for the electric business were as follows:

2024 2023 2022
Customers Customers Customers
Served Revenues Served Revenues Served Revenues

(Dollars in thousands)

Residential 120,043 $ 139,862 119,700 $ 134,054 119,398 $ 135,412
Commercial 23,762 165,778 23,573 164,142 23,327 142,722
Industrial 219 42,320 228 42,340 230 42,937
Other 1,662 7,773 1,607 7,075 1,606 7,335

145,686 $ 355,733 145,108 $ 347,611 144,561 $ 328,406

Other electric revenues, which are largely transmission-related revenues, for Montana-Dakota were $58.7 million, $53.6 million and $48.7 million for the years ended December 31,
2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The percentage of electric retail revenues by jurisdiction was as follows:

2024 2023 2022
North Dakota 65 % 66 % 65 %
Montana 21% 20 % 21%
Wyoming 9% 9% 9%
South Dakota 5% 5% 5%

System Supply, System Demand and Competition Through an interconnected electric system, Montana-Dakota serves markets in portions of North Dakota, Montana and South
Dakota. These markets are highly seasonal and sales volumes depend largely on the weather. Additionally, the average customer consumption has tended to decline due to
increases in energy efficient lighting and appliances being installed. In mid-2023 a data center began operating in the Company's service territory which led to an increase in sales
volumes. As of December 31, 2024, the interconnected system consisted of 13 electric generating units at 10 facilities and two small portable diesel generators. Additional details are
included in the table that

MDU Resources Group, Inc. Form 10-K 11
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follows. For 2024, Montana-Dakota's total ZRCs, including its firm purchase power contracts, were 536.8. Montana-Dakota's planning reserve margin requirement within MISO was
528.6 ZRCs for 2024. The maximum electric peak demand experienced to date attributable to Montana-Dakota's sales to retail customers on the interconnected system was
764,823 kW in January 2024. Montana-Dakota's latest forecast for its interconnected system indicates that its annual peak will continue to occur during the summer. Additional
energy is purchased as needed, or in lieu of generation if more economical, from the MISO market. In 2024, Montana-Dakota purchased approximately 61 percent of its net kWh
needs for its interconnected system through the MISO market.

Through the Sheridan System, Montana-Dakota serves Sheridan, Wyoming, and neighboring communities. The maximum peak demand experienced to date attributable to
Montana-Dakota sales to retail customers on that system was approximately 69,991 kW in July 2024. Montana-Dakota has a power supply contract with Black Hills Power, Inc. to
purchase up to 49,000 kW of capacity annually through December 31, 2028. Wygen Il also serves a portion of the needs of Montana-Dakota's Sheridan-area customers.

Approximately 38 percent of the electricity delivered to customers from Montana-Dakota's owned generation in 2024 was from renewable resources. Although Montana-Dakota's
generation resource capacity has increased to serve the needs of its customers, the carbon dioxide emission intensity of its electric generation resource fleet has been reduced by
approximately 38 percent since 2005 through the addition of renewable generation and with the retirement of aging coal-fired electric generating units, as further discussed below.

In February 2022, the Company ceased operations of Units 1 and 2 at Heskett Station near Mandan, North Dakota, and decommissioning was completed in December 2023. In May
2022 Montana-Dakota began construction of Heskett Unit 4, an 88-MW simple-cycle natural gas-fired combustion turbine peaking unit at the existing Heskett Station near Mandan,
North Dakota. Heskett Unit 4 was in service and fully operational in July 2024.

The following table sets forth details applicable to the Company's electric generating stations:

Nameplate(Eating

W) at 2024 Net
December 31, Generation (kWh
Generating Station Type Fuel 2024 2024 ZRCs (a) in thousands)
Interconnected System:
North Dakota:
Coyote (b) Steam Coal 103,647 99.7 557,051
Heskett Combustion turbine Natural gas 176,632 85.7 39,183
Glen Ullin Renewable Heat recovery 7,500 29 37,611
Cedar Hills Renewable Wind 19,500 5.2 55,714
Thunder Spirit Renewable Wind 155,500 36.7 523,155
South Dakota:
Big Stone (b) Steam Coal 94,111 108.7 352,231
Montana:
Lewis & Clark Reciprocating internal combustion engine  Natural gas 18,700 14.4 3,276
Glendive Combustion turbine Natural gas / diesel 75,522 53.9 3,805
Miles City Combustion turbine Natural gas / diesel 23,150 16.2 440
Diamond Willow Renewable Wind 30,000 6.0 86,247
Portable Units (2) Reciprocating internal combustion engine  Diesel 3,650 815 31
707,912 432.9 1,658,744
Sheridan System:
Wyoming:
Wygen Il (b) Steam Coal 28,000 N/A 167,682
735,912 432.9 1,826,426

(a) Interconnected system only. MISO requires generators to obtain their seasonal capability through the GVTC. The GVTC is then converted to ZRCs by applying each generator's
forced outage factor against its GVTC. Wind generator's ZRCs are calculated based on a wind capacity study performed annually by MISO. ZRCs are used to meet supply
obligations within MISO.

(b) Reflects Montana-Dakota's ownership interest.

The owners of Coyote Station, including Montana-Dakota, have a contract with Coyote Creek for coal supply to the Coyote Station that expires December 2040. Montana-Dakota
estimates the Coyote Station coal supply agreement to be approximately 1.5 million tons per contract year. For more information, see ltem 8 - Note 21.

The owners of Big Stone Station, including Montana-Dakota, have a coal supply agreement with Navajo Transitional Energy Company, LLC to meet all of the Big Stone Station's fuel
requirements through 2026. Montana-Dakota estimates the Big Stone Station coal supply agreement to be approximately 1.5 million tons per contract year.
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Montana-Dakota has a coal supply agreement with Wyodak Resources Development Corp., to supply the coal requirements of Wygen Ill at contracted pricing through June 1, 2060.
Montana-Dakota estimates the maximum annual coal consumption of the facility to be approximately 585,000 tons.

Montana-Dakota has power purchase agreements that run through 2045, including agreements entered into during the retirement of the Lewis and Clark Station and Heskett Units 1
and 2 and through the construction of Heskett Unit 4.

Montana-Dakota expects that it has secured adequate capacity available through existing baseload generating stations, renewable generation, turbine peaking stations, demand
reduction programs and firm contracts to meet the peak customer demand requirements of its customers. Based upon current MISO resource adequacy rules, Montana-Dakota
expects that it has secured adequate capacity available through existing baseload generation, peaking stations, demand reduction programs and firm contracts to meet the peak
customer demand. MISO's recently approved direct loss of load accreditation is showing the need of additional generating units by May of 2028. Future capacity needs are expected
to be met by constructing new generation resources or acquiring additional capacity through power purchase contracts or the MISO capacity auction.

Montana-Dakota has major interconnections with its neighboring utilities and considers these interconnections adequate for coordinated planning, emergency assistance, exchange
of capacity and energy and power supply reliability.

Montana-Dakota is subject to competition resulting from customer demands, technological advances and other factors in certain areas, from rural electric cooperatives, on-site
generators, co-generators and municipally owned systems. In addition, competition in varying degrees exists between electricity and alternative forms of energy such as natural gas.

Montana-Dakota is not dependent on any single customer or group of customers for sales of its products and services, where the loss of which would have a material adverse effect
on its business.

Regulatory Matters and Revenues Subject to Refund In North Dakota, Montana, South Dakota and Wyoming, there are various recurring regulatory mechanisms with annual
true-ups that can impact Montana-Dakota's results of operations, which also reflect monthly increases or decreases in electric fuel and purchased power costs (including demand
charges). Montana-Dakota is deferring those electric fuel and purchased power costs that are greater or less than amounts presently being recovered through its existing rate
schedules. Examples of these recurring mechanisms include: monthly Fuel and Purchased Power Tracking Adjustments, a fuel adjustment clause, and an annual Electric Power
Supply Cost Adjustment. Such mechanisms generally provide that these deferred fuel and purchased power costs are recoverable or refundable through rate adjustments which are
filed annually. Montana-Dakota's results of operations reflect 95 percent of the increases or decreases from the base purchased power costs and also reflect 85 percent of the
increases or decreases from the base coal price, which is also recovered through the Electric Power Supply Cost Adjustment in Wyoming. For more information on regulatory assets
and liabilities, see Item 8 - Note 6.

All of Montana-Dakota's wind resources pertaining to electric operations in North Dakota are included in a renewable resource cost adjustment rider. Montana-Dakota also has a
transmission tracker in North Dakota to recover transmission costs associated with MISO and SPP, along with certain transmission investments not recovered through retail rates.
The tracking mechanism has an annual true-up.

In South Dakota, Montana-Dakota recovers the South Dakota decommissioning regulatory asset through an Infrastructure Rider tracking mechanism that is subject to an annual
true-up. Montana-Dakota also has in place in South Dakota a transmission tracker to recover transmission costs associated with MISO and SPP, that allows transmission
investments not recovered through retail rates. This tracking mechanism also has an annual true-up.

In Montana, Montana-Dakota recovers in rates, through a tracking mechanism, its allocated share of Montana property-related taxes assessed to electric operations on an after-tax
basis.

For more information on regulatory matters, see Item 8 - Note 20.

Environmental Matters Montana-Dakota's electric operations are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations providing for air, water and solid waste pollution control;
state facility-siting regulations; zoning and planning regulations of certain state and local authorities; federal and state health and safety regulations; and state hazard communication
standards. The electric operations strive to be in compliance with these regulations.

Montana-Dakota's electric generating facilities have Title V Operating Permits, under the federal Clean Air Act, issued by the states in which they operate. Each of these permits has
a five-year life. Near the expiration of these permits, renewal applications are submitted. Permits continue in force beyond the expiration date, provided the application for renewal is
submitted by the required date, usually six months prior to expiration. The WYDEQ determined all units at the Neil Simpson Complex, where Wygen lll is situated, are to be included
within a combined Title V Operating Permit which was submitted in June 2022. Wygen Il is currently allowed to operate under the facility's construction permit until the Title V
Operating Permit is issued. A permit issuance date is not specified at this time. The Title V Operating Permit renewal application for Big Stone Station was submitted timely in
October 2021 to the South Dakota Department of Agriculture & Natural Resources with the permit issuance date not specified at this time.
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State water discharge permits issued under the requirements of the federal Clean Water Act are maintained for power production facilities on the Missouri river. These permits also
have five-year lives. Montana-Dakota renews these permits as necessary prior to expiration. Other permits held by these facilities may include an initial siting permit, which is
typically a one-time, preconstruction permit issued by the state; state permits to dispose of combustion by-products; state authorizations to withdraw water for operations; and Army
Corps permits to construct water intake structures. Montana-Dakota's Army Corps permits grant one-time permission to construct and do not require renewal. Other permit terms
vary and the permits are renewed as necessary.

Montana-Dakota's electric operations are very small-quantity generators of hazardous waste and subject only to minimum regulation under the RCRA and when required notifies
federal and state agencies of episodic generation events. Montana-Dakota routinely handles PCBs from its electric operations in accordance with federal requirements. PCB storage
areas are registered with the EPA as required.

Montana-Dakota incurred approximately $2.6 million of capital expenditures in 2024 related to the closure of coal ash management units at Lewis & Clark Station and Heskett
Station and to maintain air emissions compliance at its co-owned electric generating facilities. Environmental related capital expenditures are estimated to be $1.2 million,

$1.9 million and $1.0 million in 2025, 2026 and 2027, respectively, for compliance requirements for coal ash management units at Lewis & Clark, Heskett, Coyote and Big Stone
Stations. Montana-Dakota will maintain air emissions compliance at its co-owned electric generating facilities and does not expect to incur any material capital expenditures in 2025,
2026 and 2027 for compliance with current environmental laws and regulations. Montana-Dakota's capital and operational expenditures could also be affected by future
environmental requirements, such as existing and proposed emissions reduction plans from the EPA. For more information, see ltem 1A - Risk Factors and Item 7 - MD&A -
Business Section Financial and Operating Data.

Natural Gas Distribution

General The Company's natural gas distribution segment is operated
through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, consisting of operations from
Montana-Dakota, Cascade and Intermountain. These companies sell
natural gas at retail, serving residential, commercial and industrial
customers in 339 communities and adjacent rural areas across eight
states. They also provide natural gas transportation services to
certain customers on the Company's systems.

Natural gas utility areas

® States of operations

v
Wi

These services are provided through distribution and transmission
systems aggregating approximately 21,800 miles and 540 miles,
respectively. The natural gas distribution operations have obtained
and hold, or are in the process of renewing, valid and existing
franchises authorizing them to conduct their natural gas operations in
all of the municipalities they serve where such franchises are
required. These operations intend to seek renewal of all expiring
franchises. At December 31, 2024, the natural gas distribution
operations' net natural gas distribution plant investment was

$2.6 billion and its rate base was $2.0 billion.

The natural gas distribution operations are subject to regulation by the IPUC, MNPUC, MTPSC, NDPSC, OPUC, SDPUC, WUTC and WYPSC regarding retail rates, service,
accounting and certain securities issuances.

The retail customers served and respective revenues by class for the natural gas distribution operations were as follows:

2024 2023 2022
Customers Customers Customers
Served Revenues Served Revenues Served Revenues

(Dollars in thousands)

Residential 950,094 $ 651,810 935,235 § 726,064 922,266 $ 715,494
Commercial 114,436 400,821 112,966 441,199 111,478 450,932
Industrial 1,063 42,687 1,074 45,009 1,077 41,466

1,065,593 $ 1,095,318 1,049,275 § 1,212,272 1,034,821 § 1,207,892

Transportation and other revenues for the natural gas distribution operations were $105.8 million, $75.3 million and $65.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and
2022, respectively. In 2024, other revenue includes revenues from the sale of allocated emissions allowances.
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The percentage of the natural gas distribution operations' retail sales revenues by jurisdiction was as follows:

2024 2023 2022
Washington 34 % 28 % 26 %
Idaho 29 % 33 % 28 %
North Dakota 12 % 12 % 16 %
Oregon 10 % 9% 8 %
Montana 7% 8 % 10 %
South Dakota 5% 5% 6 %
Minnesota 2% 3% 4%
Wyoming 1% 2% 2%

System Supply, System Demand and Competition The natural gas distribution operations serve retail natural gas markets, consisting principally of residential and commercial
space and water heating users, in portions of Idaho, Minnesota, Montana, North Dakota, Oregon, South Dakota, Washington and Wyoming. These markets are highly seasonal and
sales volumes depend largely on the weather, the effects of which are mitigated in certain jurisdictions by weather normalization mechanisms discussed later in Regulatory Matters.
Additionally, the average customer consumption has tended to decline as more efficient appliances and furnaces are installed and as the Company has implemented conservation
programs. In addition to the residential and commercial sales, the utilities transport natural gas for larger commercial and industrial customers who purchase their own supply of
natural gas.

Competition resulting from customer demands, technological advances and other factors exists between natural gas and other fuels and forms of energy. The natural gas distribution
operations have established various natural gas transportation service rates for their distribution businesses to retain interruptible commercial and industrial loads. These rates have
enhanced the natural gas distribution operations' competitive posture with alternative fuels, although certain customers have bypassed the distribution systems by directly accessing
transmission pipelines within close proximity. These bypasses do not have a material effect on results of operations.

The natural gas distribution operations and various distribution transportation customers obtain natural gas for their system requirements directly from producers, processors and
marketers. The Company's purchased natural gas is supplied by a portfolio of contracts specifying market-based pricing and is transported under transportation agreements with
WBI Energy Transmission, Northern Border Pipeline Company, Northwest Pipeline LLC, South Dakota Intrastate Pipeline, Northern Natural Gas, Gas Transmission Northwest LLC,
Northwestern Energy, Viking Gas Transmission Company, Enbridge Westcoast Energy, Inc., Ruby Pipeline LLC, Foothills Pipe Lines Ltd., NOVA Gas Transmission Ltd, TC Energy
Corporation, Northwest Natural, Black Hills Energy and TransCanada. The natural gas distribution operations have contracts for storage services to provide gas supply during the
winter heating season and to meet peak day demand with various storage providers, including WBI Energy Transmission, Dominion Energy Questar Pipeline, LLC, Northwest
Pipeline LLC and Northern Natural Gas. In addition, certain of the operations have entered into natural gas supply management agreements with various parties. Demand for natural
gas, which is a widely traded commodity, has historically been sensitive to seasonal heating and industrial load requirements, as well as changes in market price. The Company
believes supplies are adequate for the natural gas distribution operations to meet its system natural gas requirements for the next decade. This belief is based on current and
projected domestic and regional supplies of natural gas and the pipeline transmission network currently available through its suppliers and pipeline service providers.

Regulatory Matters The natural gas distribution operations' retail natural gas rate schedules contain clauses permitting adjustments in rates based upon changes in natural gas
commodity, transportation and storage costs. Current tariffs allow for recovery or refunds of under- or over-recovered gas costs through rate adjustments which are filed annually.

In North Dakota and South Dakota, Montana-Dakota's natural gas tariffs contain weather normalization mechanisms applicable to certain firm customers that adjust the distribution
delivery charges to reflect weather fluctuations during the November 1 through May 1 billing periods.

In Montana, Montana-Dakota recovers in rates, through a tracking mechanism, its allocated share of Montana property-related taxes assessed to natural gas operations on an after-
tax basis.

In Minnesota and Washington, Great Plains and Cascade recover qualifying capital investments related to the safety and integrity of the pipeline systems through cost recovery
tracking mechanisms. Washington's cost recovery tracking mechanism sunsets on March 1, 2025, with the multi-year natural gas rate case discussed in Item 8 - Note 20.

In Oregon, Cascade has a decoupling mechanism in place approved by the OPUC until January 1, 2025, with a review which was to be completed by September 30, 2024. On
December 23, 2024, a filing was made to extend the decoupling mechanism until January 1, 2030. Cascade also has an earnings sharing mechanism with respect to its Oregon
jurisdictional operations as required by the OPUC.
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On July 7, 2016, the WUTC approved a full decoupling mechanism where Cascade is allowed recovery of an average revenue per customer regardless of actual consumption. The
mechanism also includes an earnings sharing component if Cascade earns in excess of its authorized return. On September 15, 2021, the WUTC extended the effectiveness of the
decoupling mechanism until the earlier of the rate effective date resulting from Cascade's next full general rate case or August 31, 2025. Cascade filed its next general rate case on
March 29, 2024. The multi-party rate case settlement agreement filed with the WUTC includes extension of the decoupling mechanism.

In Idaho, Intermountain has the authority to facilitate access for RNG producers to the Company's distribution system for the purpose of moving RNG to the producer's end-use
customers.

For more information on regulatory matters, see Item 8 - Note 20.

Environmental Matters The natural gas distribution operations are subject to federal, state and local environmental, facility-siting, zoning and planning laws and regulations. The
natural gas distribution operations strive to be in compliance with these regulations.

The Company's natural gas distribution operations are very small-quantity generators of hazardous waste, and subject only to minimum regulation under the RCRA. A Washington
state rule defines Cascade as a small-quantity generator, but regulation under the rule is similar to RCRA. Certain locations of the natural gas distribution operations routinely handle
PCBs from their natural gas operations in accordance with federal requirements. PCB storage areas are registered with the EPA as required. Capital and operational expenditures
for natural gas distribution operations could be affected in a variety of ways by new GHG legislation or regulation. In particular, such legislation or regulation would likely increase
capital expenditures for energy efficiency and conservation programs and operational and gas supply costs associated with GHG emissions compliance. Natural gas distribution
operations expect to recover the operational and capital expenditures for GHG regulatory compliance in rates consistent with the recovery of other reasonable costs of complying
with environmental laws and regulations. For more information, see Item 7 - MD&A - Business Section Financial and Operating Data.

The natural gas distribution operations incurred $13.2 million of capital expenditures in 2024 to construct infrastructure supporting multiple RNG facilities, including the development
and construction of a RNG facility at the Deschutes County Landfill near Bend, Oregon, and the implementation of an advanced mobile natural gas leak detection system, related to
compliance with current environmental laws and regulations. Cascade and Montana-Dakota expect to incur environmental related capital expenditures of $13.1 million, $21.6 million
and $15.9 million, in 2025, 2026 and 2027, respectively. The capital expenditures are to continue construction of infrastructure supporting multiple RNG production facilities,
implement a thermal energy network pilot project, implement an additional advanced mobile natural gas leak detection system, and investigate a historic manufactured gas plant
site. Except as to what may be ultimately determined with regard to the issues described in the following paragraph and the items noted, the natural gas distribution operations do
not expect to incur any material capital expenditures related to compliance with current environmental laws and regulations through 2027.

Montana-Dakota has ties to six historic manufactured gas plants as a successor corporation or through direct ownership of the plant. Montana-Dakota is investigating possible soil
and groundwater impacts due to the operation of two of these former manufactured gas plant sites. To the extent not covered by insurance, Montana-Dakota may seek recovery in
its natural gas rates charged to customers for certain investigation and remediation costs incurred for these sites. Cascade has ties to eight historic manufactured gas plants as a
successor corporation or through direct ownership of the plant. Cascade is involved in the investigation and remediation of one of these manufactured gas plants in Washington. To
the extent not covered by insurance, Cascade will seek recovery of investigation and remediation costs through its natural gas rates charged to customers.

See ltem 8 - Note 21 for further discussion of certain manufactured gas plant sites.
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Pipeline

General WBI Energy owns and operates WBI Energy Transmission,
a FERC regulated pipeline, which consists of over 3,800 miles of
natural gas transmission and storage lines and comprised
approximately 94 percent of the segment's revenue in 2024. WBI
Energy also owns and operates a non-regulated energy-related
service business, specializing in cathodic protection, which
comprised the additional 6 percent of the segment's revenue.

WBI Energy Transmission's underground storage fields provide
natural gas storage services to local distribution companies, industrial
customers, natural gas marketers and others, and serve to enhance
system reliability. Its system is strategically located near four natural
gas producing basins, making natural gas supplies available to its Alm

transportation and storage customers. The system has

14 interconnecting points with other pipeline facilities allowing for the

receipt and/or delivery of natural gas to and from other regions of the States of operations @ Company storage field Pipeline systems = Interconnecting pipelines
country and from Canada. Under the Natural Gas Act, as amended,

WBI Energy Transmission is subject to the jurisdiction of the FERC

regarding certificate, rate, service and accounting matters, and at

December 31, 2024, its net plant investment was $984.2 million.

3%

A majority of the pipeline business is transacted in the Rocky Mountain and northern Great Plains regions of the United States.

System Supply, System Demand and Competition Natural gas supplies emanate from traditional and nontraditional production activities in the region from both on-system and
off-system supply sources. Incremental supply from nontraditional sources, such as the Bakken area in Montana and North Dakota, have helped offset declines in traditional regional
supply sources and supports WBI Energy Transmission's transportation and storage services. In addition, off-system supply sources are available through the Company's
interconnections with other pipeline systems. WBI Energy Transmission continues to look for opportunities, such as the identified growth projects discussed in ltem 7 - MD&A -
Pipeline Outlook, to increase transportation and storage services through system expansion and/or other pipeline interconnections or enhancements that could provide future
benefits.

WBI Energy Transmission's underground natural gas storage facilities have a certificated storage capacity of approximately 350 Bcf, including 193 Bcf of working gas capacity,
83 Bcf of cushion gas and 74 Bcf of native gas. These storage facilities enable customers to purchase natural gas throughout the year and meet winter peak requirements.

WBI Energy Transmission competes with several pipelines for its customers' transportation business and at times may discount rates in an effort to retain market share; however, the
strategic location of its system near four natural gas producing basins and the availability of underground storage services, along with interconnections with other pipelines,
enhances its competitive position.

Although certain of WBI Energy Transmission's firm customers, including its largest firm customer Montana-Dakota, serve relatively secure residential, commercial and industrial
end-users, they generally all have some price-sensitive end-users that could switch to alternate fuels.

WBI Energy Transmission transports substantially all of Montana-Dakota's natural gas, primarily utilizing firm transportation agreements, which for 2024 represented 19 percent of
WBI Energy Transmission's subscribed firm transportation contract demand. The majority of the firm transportation agreements with Montana-Dakota expire in June 2027. In
addition, Montana-Dakota has a contract, expiring in July 2035, with WBI Energy Transmission to provide firm storage services to facilitate meeting Montana-Dakota's winter peak
requirements.

The non-regulated business of this segment competes for existing customers in the areas in which it operates. Its focus on customer service and the variety of services it offers
serve to enhance its competitive position.

WBI Energy is not dependent on any single customer or group of customers for sales of its products and services, where the loss of which would have a material adverse effect on
its business. WBI Energy had one third-party customer that accounted for approximately 16 percent of its 2024 revenue.

Environmental Matters The pipeline operations are subject to federal, state and local environmental, facility-siting, zoning and planning laws and regulations.
Administration of certain provisions of federal environmental laws is delegated to the states where WBI Energy and its subsidiaries operate. Administering agencies may issue

permits with varying terms and operational compliance conditions. Permits are renewed and modified, as necessary, based on defined permit expiration dates, operational demand,
facility upgrades or modifications, and/or regulatory changes. The pipeline operations strive to be in compliance with these regulations.
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Detailed environmental assessments and/or environmental impact statements as required by the National Environmental Policy Act are included in the FERC's environmental review
process for both the construction and abandonment of WBI Energy Transmission's natural gas transmission pipelines, compressor stations and storage facilities.

In 2024, the EPA published several final rules related to GHG emissions from the oil and natural gas industry. These rules update, strengthen and expand standards to reduce GHG
emissions and other air pollutants from new and existing oil and gas facilities, revise the GHG reporting rules to improve the monitoring, measurement, calculation and reporting of
GHG data, and incorporate the Waste Emissions Charge provisions from the IRA. The Company continues to monitor and assess these rulemakings and the potential impacts they
may have on its business processes, current and future projects, results of operations and disclosures.

The pipeline operations did not incur any material capital expenditures related to compliance with current environmental laws and regulations in 2024 and have no planned capital
expenditures to meet compliance requirements of environmental laws and regulations in 2025. Capital expenditures to meet requirements of the EPA rules, as previously discussed,
are included in the capital expenditures for 2026 and 2027 with estimated expenditures of $4.0 million each year. For more information on the capital expenditures for this segment,
see ltem 7 - MD&A - Capital Expenditures.

Discontinued Operations

General Discontinued operations includes the historical operations of Knife River and Everus, as well as associated strategic initiative costs and interest on certain third party debt
facilities repaid in connection with the Knife River and Everus separations. The Company completed the separations of Knife River and Everus on May 31, 2023 and October 31,
2024, respectively. Discontinued operations also includes the supporting activities of Fidelity other than certain general and administrative costs and interest expense. For more
information on discontinued operations, see Item 8 - Note 3.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

The Company's business and financial results are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including those set forth below and in other documents filed with the SEC. The
factors and other matters discussed herein are important factors that could cause actual results or outcomes for the Company to differ materially from those discussed in the
forward-looking statements included elsewhere in this document. If any of the risks described below actually occur, the Company's business, prospects, financial condition or
financial results could be materially harmed. The following are the most material risk factors applicable to the Company and are not necessarily listed in order of importance or
probability of occurrence.

Economic Risks

The Company is subject to government regulations that may have a negative impact on its business and its results of operations and cash flows. Statutory and
regulatory requirements also may limit another party's ability to acquire the Company or impose conditions on an acquisition of or by the Company.

The Company's businesses are subject to comprehensive regulation by federal, state and local regulatory agencies with respect to, among other things, allowed rates of return and
recovery of investments and costs; financing; rate structures; customer service; health care coverage and costs; taxes; franchises; recovery of fuel, purchased power and purchased
natural gas costs; and construction and siting of generation and transmission facilities. These governmental regulations significantly influence the Company's operating environment
and may affect its ability to recover costs from its customers. The Company is unable to predict the impact on operating results from future regulatory activities of any of these
agencies. Changes in regulations or the imposition of additional regulations could have an adverse impact on the Company's results of operations and cash flows.

There can be no assurance that applicable regulatory commissions will determine that the Company's costs have been prudent, which could result in the disallowance of costs in
setting rates for customers. Also, the regulatory process of approving rates for these businesses may not allow for timely and full recovery of the costs of providing services or a
return on the Company's invested capital. Changes in regulatory requirements or operating conditions may require early retirement of certain assets. While regulation typically
provides rate recovery for these retirements, there is no assurance regulators will allow full recovery of all remaining costs, which could leave stranded asset costs. Rising fuel costs
could increase the risk that the utility businesses will not be able to fully recover those fuel costs from customers.

Approval from federal and state regulatory agencies would be needed for acquisition of the Company, as well as for certain acquisitions by the Company. The approval process
could be lengthy and the outcome uncertain, which may deter potential acquirers from approaching the Company or impact the Company's ability to pursue acquisitions.

Economic volatility affects the Company's operations, as well as the demand for its products and services.

Economic conditions and population growth affect the electric and natural gas distribution businesses' growth in service territory, customer base and usage demand. Economic
volatility in the markets served, along with economic conditions such as increased unemployment which could impact the ability of the Company's customers to make payments,
could adversely affect the Company's results of operations, cash flows and asset values. Further, any material decreases in customers' energy demand, for economic or other
reasons, could have an adverse impact on the Company's earnings and results of operations.
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The Company's operations involve risks that may result from catastrophic events.

The Company's operations include a variety of inherent hazards and operating risks, such as product leaks; explosions; mechanical failures; vandalism; fires; wildfires; pandemics;
social or civil unrest; protests and riots; natural disasters; cyberattacks; acts of terrorism; and acts of war. These hazards and operating risks may occur in the future, which could
result in loss of human life; personal injury; property damage; environmental impacts; impairment of operations; and substantial financial losses. The Company maintains insurance
against some, but not all, of these risks and losses. A significant incident could also increase regulatory scrutiny and result in penalties and higher amounts of capital expenditures
and operational costs. Losses not fully covered by insurance could have an adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

A disruption of the regional electric transmission grid, local distribution infrastructure or interstate natural gas infrastructure could negatively impact the Company's business and
reputation. There have been cyber and physical attacks within the energy industry on energy infrastructure, such as substations, and such attacks may occur in the future. Because
the Company's electric and natural gas utility and pipeline systems are part of larger interconnecting systems, any attacks on the interconnected systems or the Company's
infrastructure causing a disruption could result in a significant decrease in revenues and an increase in system repair costs negatively impacting the Company's financial position,
results of operations and cash flows.

The Company'’s insurance policies have limits and exclusions that may not fully mitigate losses, and an increase in cost, or the unavailability or cancellation of third-
party insurance coverages, would increase the Company'’s overall risk exposure.

The Company maintains insurance coverages from third party insurers as part of its overall risk management strategy and most of its customer contracts require the Company to
maintain specific insurance coverage limits. The Company maintains insurance policies with respect to workers’ compensation, auto liability, general liability, excess liability,
contractors pollution liability, legal liability, professional liability, directors and officers liability, employment practices liability, cyber policy, terrorism, property and other types of
coverages, but these policies are subject to deductibles and the Company is self-insured up to the amount of those deductibles. Insurance losses are accrued based upon the
Company's estimates of the ultimate liability for claims reported and an estimate of claims incurred but not yet reported. Insurance liabilities are difficult to assess and estimate due
to unknown factors, including the frequency and severity of injuries, the magnitude of damage to or loss of property or the environment, the determination of the Company's liability in
proportion to other parties, estimates of incidents not reported and the effectiveness of the Company's safety programs, and as a result, the Company's actual losses may exceed its
estimates. There can be no assurance that the Company's current or past insurance coverages will be sufficient or effective under all circumstances or against all claims and
liabilities, including claims resulting from wildfires or other natural disasters, to which the Company may be subject.

The Company generally renews its insurance policies on an annual basis; therefore, deductibles and levels of insurance coverages may change in future periods. There can be no
assurance that any of the Company's existing insurance coverages will be renewed upon the expiration of the coverage period or that future coverage will be available at reasonable
and competitive rates or at the required limits. The cost of the Company's insurance has significantly increased over time and may continue to increase in the future. In addition,
insurers may fail, cancel the Company's coverage, increase the cost of coverage, determine to exclude certain items from coverage, or otherwise be unable to provide the Company
with adequate insurance coverage. The Company may not be able to obtain certain types of insurance or incremental levels of insurance in scope or amount sufficient to cover
liabilities it may incur. For example, due to the increase in wildfire losses and related insurance claims, insurers have reduced coverage availability and increased the cost of
insurance coverage for such events in recent years, and the Company's current levels of coverage may not be sufficient to cover potential losses. If the Company's risk exposure
increases as a result of adverse changes in its insurance coverage, the Company could be subject to increased liabilities that could negatively affect its business, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.

In addition, the Company performs work in hazardous environments and its employees are exposed to a number of hazards. Incidents can occur, regardless of fault, that may be
catastrophic and adversely impact the Company's employees and third parties by causing serious personal injury, loss of life, damage to property or the environment, and
interruption of operations. In locations or environments where claims have become more frequent or severe in recent years, insurance may become difficult or impossible to obtain.
The Company's contracts may require it to indemnify its customers, project owners and other parties for injury, damage or loss arising out of the Company's presence at its
customers’ location, or in the performance of the Company's work, in both cases regardless of fault, and provide for warranties of materials and workmanship. The Company also
may be required to name the customer and others as an additional insured party under its insurance policies. The Company maintains limited insurance coverage against these and
other risks associated with its business. This insurance may not protect the Company against liability for certain events, and the Company cannot guarantee that its insurance will be
adequate in risk coverage or policy limits to cover all losses or liabilities that it may incur. Any future damages caused by the Company's services that are not covered by insurance
or are in excess of policy limits could negatively affect its business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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The Company is subject to capital market, debt and interest rate risks.

The Company's operations require significant capital investment. Consequently, the Company relies on financing sources and capital markets as sources of liquidity for capital
requirements not satisfied by cash flows from operations. If the Company is not able to access capital at competitive rates, the ability to implement business plans, make capital
expenditures or pursue acquisitions the Company would otherwise rely on for future growth may be adversely affected. Market disruptions may increase the cost of borrowing or
adversely affect the Company's ability to access one or more financial markets. Such disruptions could include items such as a significant economic downturn, the financial distress
of unrelated industry leaders in the same line of business, the deterioration of capital market conditions, turmoil in the financial services industry, volatility in commodity prices,
increased trade tariffs and trade disputes with other countries, supply chain weaknesses, pandemics, natural disasters, war, terrorist attacks and cyberattacks.

The Company’s inability to generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy or refinance its debt obligations could adversely affect its business, financial condition, results of operations, and
other corporate requirements. This could require the Company to direct a substantial portion of its future cash flow toward payments on its indebtedness, which would reduce the
amount of cash flow available to fund working capital, capital expenditures, and other corporate requirements, thereby limiting its ability to respond to business opportunities.

If the Company does not comply with its financial covenants and does not obtain a waiver or amendment from its lenders, the lenders may elect to cause any amounts then owed to
become immediately due and payable, not fund any new borrowing, or they may decline to renew the Company’s credit facility. In that event, the Company would seek to establish a
replacement credit facility with one or more other lenders, including lenders with which it has an existing relationship, potentially on less desirable terms. There can be no guarantee
that replacement financing would be available at commercially reasonable terms, if at all. Higher interest rates on borrowings have impacted and could further impact the Company's
future operating results.

The issuance of a substantial amount of the Company's common stock, whether issued in connection with an acquisition or otherwise, would have a dilutive effect on stockholders,
and such an issuance, or perception that such an issuance may occur, could adversely affect the market price of the Company's common stock.

The Company's stock price may be volatile and the value of its common stock may decline.

The market price of the Company’s common stock may be volatile and may fluctuate or decline as a result of a variety of factors, some of which are beyond its control, including
without limitation actual or anticipated fluctuations in its financial condition or results of operations; variance in its financial performance from the expectations of securities analysts
which may result in securities analysts issuing unfavorable research about the Company; changes in the Company’s projected operating and financial results; significant data
breaches; material litigation; future sales of the Company’s common stock by the Company or its stockholders, or the perception that such sales may occur; changes in senior
management or key personnel; the trading volume of the Company’s common stock; changes in the anticipated future size and growth rate of its service territories; and general
macroeconomic, geopolitical, and market conditions beyond the Company’s control.

Broad market and industry fluctuations, as well as general economic, political, regulatory, and market conditions, such as recessions, or interest rate changes, may also negatively
affect the market price of the Company’s common stock. In the past, companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their securities have been subject to securities
class action litigation. The Company may be the target of this type of litigation in the future, which could result in substantial expenses and divert management’s attention.

Significant changes in prices for commodities, labor or other production and delivery inputs and other environmental compliance costs could negatively affect the
Company's businesses.

The Company's operations are exposed to fluctuations in prices for labor, petroleum products, raw materials and services. Prices are generally subject to change in response to
fluctuations in supply and demand and other general economic and market conditions beyond the Company's control.

Fluctuations in oil and natural gas production, supplies and prices; fluctuations in commodity price basis differentials; political and economic conditions in oil-producing countries;
actions of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries; demand for oil due to economic conditions; war and other external factors impact the development of oil and natural
gas supplies and the expansion and operation of natural gas pipeline systems. The Company has benefited from associated natural gas production in the Bakken, which has
provided opportunities for organic growth projects. Depressed oil and natural gas prices; however, place pressure on the ability of oil exploration and production companies to meet
credit requirements and can be a challenge if prices remain depressed long-term. Prolonged depressed prices for oil and natural gas could negatively affect the growth, results of
operations, cash flows and asset values of the Company's electric, natural gas and pipeline businesses.

If oil and natural gas prices increase significantly, which has occurred and may reoccur, customer demand could decline for utility and pipeline services, which could impact the
Company's results of operations and cash flows. While the Company has fuel clause recovery mechanisms for its utility operations in all of the states where it operates, higher utility
fuel costs could also significantly impact results of operations if such costs are not recovered. Delays in the collection of utility fuel cost recoveries, as compared to expenditures for
fuel purchases, could also negatively impact the Company's cash flows.

Increased labor costs, due to labor shortages, competition from other industries, or other factors, could negatively affect the Company's results of operations.
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In 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company experienced elevated commodity and supply chain costs including the costs of labor, raw materials, energy-related products and other inputs
used in the production and distribution of its products and services.

If environmental compliance costs increase significantly, customer demand could decline for the natural gas distribution segment, which could impact the Company’s results of
operations and cash flows. While the Company has environmental compliance recovery mechanisms, higher costs could also significantly impact results of operations if such costs
are not recovered. Delays in the collection of environmental compliance costs, as compared to expenditures for environmental compliance costs, could also negatively impact the
Company’s cash flows.

The Company's operations could be negatively impacted by import tariffs and/or other government mandates.

The Company operates in or provides services to capital intensive industries in which federal trade policies could significantly impact the availability and cost of materials. Imposed
and proposed tariffs could significantly increase the prices and delivery lead times on raw materials and finished products that are critical to the Company and its customers.
Prolonged lead times on the delivery of raw materials and further tariff increases on raw materials and finished products could adversely affect the Company's business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Reductions in the Company's credit ratings could increase financing costs.

There is no assurance the Company's current credit ratings, or those of its subsidiaries, will remain in effect or that a rating will not be lowered or withdrawn by a rating agency.
Events affecting the Company's financial results may impact its cash flows and credit metrics, potentially resulting in a change in the Company's credit ratings. The Company's credit
ratings may also change as a result of the differing methodologies or changes in the methodologies used by the rating agencies.

Increasing costs associated with health care plans and changes in employment laws or regulations may adversely affect the Company's results of operations.

The Company's self-insured costs of health care benefits for eligible employees continues to increase. Increasing quantities of large individual health care claims and an overall
increase in total health care claims could have an adverse impact on operating results, financial position and liquidity. Complying with any new legislation and regulation at both the
federal and state level related to health care, unemployment tax rates and workers' compensation rates, among others, could adversely affect the Company's results of operations as
well change the Company's benefit program and costs.

The Company is exposed to risk of loss resulting from the nonpayment and/or nonperformance by the Company's customers and counterparties.

If the Company's customers or counterparties experience financial difficulties, which has occurred and may reoccur in the future, the Company could experience difficulty in
collecting receivables. Nonpayment and/or nonperformance by the Company's customers and counterparties, particularly customers and counterparties of the Company’s pipeline
business, could have a negative impact on the Company's results of operations and cash flows. The Company could also have indirect credit risk from participating in energy
markets such as MISO in which credit losses are socialized to all participants.

Changes in tax law and other regulations may negatively affect the Company's business.

Changes to federal, state and local tax laws have the ability to benefit or adversely affect the Company's earnings and customer costs. Significant changes to corporate tax rates
could result in the impairment of deferred tax assets that are established based on existing law at the time of deferral. The U.S. administration has introduced uncertainty regarding
the continuation of the IRA and a potential shift in federal energy policies regarding clean energy projects. Changes in regulations that impact the value of various tax credits,
including production tax credits could change the economics of resources and the resource selection could impact current and/or future projects for the electric generation business
and the development of other renewable energy projects, such as RNG. Such actions could adversely affect the Company's ability to secure tax credits and other incentives that
support the development of renewable energy projects. Regulation incorporates changes in tax law into the rate-setting process, which could create timing delays before the impact
of changes are realized.

Financial market changes could impact the Company’s pension and postretirement benefit plans and obligations.

The Company has pension and postretirement defined benefit plans for some of its current and former employees. Assumptions regarding future costs, returns on investments,
interest rates and other actuarial assumptions have a significant impact on the funding requirements and expense recorded relating to these plans. Adverse changes in economic
indicators, such as consumer spending, inflation data, interest rate changes, political developments and threats of terrorism, among other things, can create volatility in the financial
markets. These changes could impact the assumptions and negatively affect the value of assets held in the Company's pension and other postretirement benefit plans and may
increase the amount and accelerate the timing of required funding contributions for those plans.
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Operational Risks

Significant portions of the Company'’s natural gas pipelines and power generation and transmission facilities are aging. The aging infrastructure may require significant
additional maintenance or replacement that could adversely affect the Company’s results of operations.

Certain risks increase as the Company's energy delivery infrastructure ages, including breakdown or failure of equipment, pipeline leaks and fires developing from power lines, all of
which have occurred and may reoccur in the future resulting in material costs. Aging infrastructure is more prone to failure, which increases maintenance costs, unplanned outages
and the need to replace facilities. Even if properly maintained, reliability may ultimately deteriorate and negatively affect the Company’s ability to serve its customers, which could
result in increased costs associated with regulatory oversight. The costs associated with compliance with PHMSA rules related to pipeline integrity and other similar programs,
maintaining the aging infrastructure and capital expenditures for new or replacement infrastructure could cause rate volatility and/or regulatory lag in some jurisdictions. If, at the end
of its life, the investment costs of a facility have not been fully recovered, the Company may be adversely affected if commissions do not allow such costs to be recovered in rates.
Such impacts of aging infrastructure could adversely affect the Company’s results of operations and cash flows.

Additionally, hazards from aging infrastructure could result in serious injury, loss of human life, significant damage to property, environmental impacts and impairment of operations,
which in turn could lead to substantial financial losses. The location of facilities near populated areas, including residential areas, business centers, industrial sites and other public
gathering places, could increase the damages resulting from these risks. A major incident involving another natural gas system could lead to additional capital expenditures,
increased regulation, and fines and penalties on natural gas utilities and pipelines. The occurrence of any of these events could adversely affect the Company’s results of operations,
financial position and cash flows.

The Company's utility and pipeline operations are subject to planning risks.

Most electric and natural gas utility investments, including natural gas transmission pipeline investments, are made with the intent of being used for decades. In particular, electric
transmission and generation resources are planned well in advance of when they are placed into service based upon resource plans using assumptions over the planning horizon,
including sales growth, commodity prices, equipment and construction costs, regulatory treatment, available technology and public policy. Public policy changes and technology
advancements related to areas, such as energy efficient appliances and buildings, renewable and distributive electric generation and storage, carbon dioxide emissions, electric
vehicle penetration, restrictions on or disallowance of new or existing services, and natural gas availability and cost may significantly impact the planning assumptions. Changes in
critical planning assumptions may result in excess generation, transmission and distribution resources creating increased per customer costs and downward pressure on load
growth. These changes could also result in a stranded investment if the Company is unable to fully recover the costs of its investments.

The Company's inability to implement its long-term strategic plan may adversely affect future results.

The Company’s ability to successfully implement and execute its long-term strategic plan is dependent on many factors. The Company’s strategies may require significant capital
investment and management attention. If the Company cannot successfully execute its strategic growth initiatives or if the long-term plan does not adequately address the
challenges or opportunities the Company faces, its financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected. Additionally, failure to meet stockholder expectations,
particularly with respect to financials, cost-cutting programs, operating margins, and earnings per share, could result in volatility in the market value of the Company’s stock.

The regulatory approval, permitting, construction, startup and/or operation of pipelines, power generation and transmission facilities may involve unanticipated events,
delays and unrecoverable costs.

The construction, startup and operation of natural gas pipelines and electric power generation and transmission facilities involve many risks, which may include delays; breakdown or
failure of equipment; inability to obtain required governmental permits and approvals; inability to obtain or renew easements; public opposition; inability to complete financing;
inability to negotiate acceptable equipment acquisition, construction, fuel supply, off-take, transmission, transportation or other material agreements; contractor performance failures;
changes in markets and market prices for power; cost increases and overruns; the risk of performance below expected levels of output or efficiency; and the inability to obtain full
cost recovery in regulated rates. Such unanticipated events could negatively impact the Company's business, its results of operations and cash flows.

Operating or other costs required to comply with current or potential pipeline safety regulations and potential new regulations under various agencies could be significant. The
regulations require verification of pipeline infrastructure records by pipeline owners and operators to confirm the maximum allowable operating pressure of certain lines. Increased
emphasis on pipeline safety and increased regulatory scrutiny may result in penalties and higher costs of operations. If these costs are not fully recoverable from customers, they
could have an adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations and cash flows.

Supply chain disruptions may adversely affect Company operations.

The Company relies on third-party vendors and manufacturers to supply many of the materials necessary for its operations. Global logistic disruptions have impacted the flow of
materials and restricted global trade flows. Manufacturers are competing for a limited supply of key commodities and logistical capacity which has impacted lead times, pricing,
supply and demand. Disruptions or delays in receiving materials; price increases from suppliers or manufacturers; or inability to source needed materials, which have occurred and
could reoccur, could adversely affect the Company’s capital expenditure programs, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
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Joint ownership of coal-fired generation facilities could impact the Company’s ability to manage changing regulations and economic conditions.

The Company has an ownership interest in three coal-fired electric generating facilities jointly with other co-owners who have varying ownership interests in the facilities. The
Company’s ability to make determinations on changing environmental regulations and economic conditions may be impacted by its rights and obligations under the co-ownership
agreements and related agreements. Such a determination could impact the Company’s ability to effectively manage these changing conditions to meet its strategic objectives and
could adversely impact its financial condition, results of operations and liquidity.

Environmental and Regulatory Risks

The Company's operations could be adversely impacted by severe weather.

Severe weather events, such as tornadoes, fires, rain, drought, ice and snowstorms, and high and low temperature extremes, occur in regions in which the Company operates and
maintains infrastructure. Climate change could change the frequency and severity of these weather events, which may create physical and financial risks to the Company. Such risks
could have an adverse effect on the Company's financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Severe weather events may damage or disrupt the Company's electric and natural gas transmission and distribution facilities, which could result in disruption of service and ability to
meet customer demand and increase maintenance or capital costs to repair facilities and restore customer service. The cost of providing service could increase if the frequency of
severe weather events increases because of climate change or otherwise. The Company may not recover all costs related to mitigating these physical risks.

Utility customers’ energy needs vary with weather conditions, primarily temperature and humidity. For residential customers, heating and cooling represent the largest energy use. To
the extent weather conditions are affected by climate change, customers’ energy use could increase or decrease. Increased energy use by its utility customers due to weather may
require the Company to invest in additional generating assets, transmission and other infrastructure to serve increased load. Decreased energy use due to weather may result in
decreased revenues. Extreme weather conditions, such as uncommonly long periods of high or low ambient temperature in general require more system backup, adding to costs,
and can contribute to increased system stress, including service interruptions. Weather conditions outside of the Company's service territory could also have an impact on revenues.
The Company buys and sells electricity that might be generated outside its service territory, depending upon system needs and market opportunities. Extreme temperatures may
create high energy demand and raise electricity prices, which could increase the cost of energy provided to customers.

Climate change may impact a region’s economic health, which could impact revenues at all of the Company's businesses. The Company's financial performance is tied to the health
of the regional economies served. The Company provides natural gas and electric utility service for some states and communities that are economically affected by the agriculture
industry. Increases in severe weather events or significant changes in temperature and precipitation patterns could adversely affect the agriculture industry and, correspondingly, the
economies of the states and communities affected by that industry.

The insurance industry may be adversely affected by severe weather events, which may impact availability of insurance coverage, insurance premiums and insurance policy terms.

The Company may be subject to litigation related to climate change. Costs of such litigation could be significant, and an adverse outcome could require substantial capital
expenditures, changes in operations and possible payment of penalties or damages, which could affect the Company's results of operations and cash flows if the costs are not
recoverable in rates.

The price of energy also has an impact on the economic health of communities. The cost of additional regulatory requirements related to climate change, such as regulation of
carbon dioxide emissions under the federal Clean Air Act, requirements to replace fossil fuels with renewable energy or credits, or other environmental regulation or taxes, could
impact the availability of goods and the prices charged by suppliers, which would normally be borne by consumers through higher prices for energy and purchased goods, and could
adversely impact economic conditions of areas served by the Company. To the extent financial markets view climate change and emissions of GHGs as a financial risk, this could
negatively affect the Company's ability to access capital markets or result in less competitive terms and conditions.
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The Company's operations are subject to environmental laws and regulations that may increase costs of operations, impact or limit business plans, or expose the
Company to environmental liabilities.

The Company is subject to environmental laws and regulations affecting many aspects of its operations, including air and water quality, wastewater discharge, the generation,
transmission and disposal of solid waste and hazardous substances, and other environmental considerations. These laws and regulations can increase capital, operating and other
costs; cause delays as a result of litigation and administrative proceedings; and create compliance, remediation, containment, monitoring and reporting obligations. Environmental
laws and regulations can also require the Company to install pollution control equipment at its facilities, clean up spills and other contamination and correct environmental hazards,
including payment of all or part of the cost to remediate sites where the Company's past activities, or the activities of other parties, caused environmental contamination. These laws
and regulations generally require the Company to obtain and comply with a variety of environmental licenses, permits, inspections and other approvals and may cause the Company
to shut down existing facilities due to difficulties in assuring compliance or where the cost of compliance makes operation of the facilities uneconomical. Although the Company
strives to comply with all applicable environmental laws and regulations, public and private entities and private individuals may interpret the Company's legal or regulatory
requirements differently and seek injunctive relief or other remedies against the Company. The Company cannot predict the outcome, financial or operational, of any such litigation or
administrative proceedings.

Existing environmental laws and regulations may be revised and new laws and regulations seeking to protect the environment have been adopted such as the Climate Commitment
Act in Washington and the Climate Protection Program Rule in Oregon, requiring natural gas distribution companies to reduce overall GHG emissions, and the EPA's Coal
Combustion Residuals Rule, potentially requiring additional management and remediation of electric generation coal ash facilities, and other future rules may be adopted or become
applicable to the Company. These laws and other regulations could require the Company to limit the use or output of certain facilities; restrict the use of certain fuels; prohibit or
restrict new or existing services; replace certain fuels with renewable fuels; retire and replace certain facilities; install pollution controls; remediate environmental impacts; remove or
reduce environmental hazards; or forego or limit the development of resources. Revised or new laws and regulations that increase compliance and disclosure costs and/or restrict
operations, particularly if costs are not fully recoverable from customers, could adversely affect the Company's results of operations and cash flows.

Stakeholder actions and increased regulatory activity related to ESG matters, particularly climate change and reducing GHG emissions, could adversely impact the
Company's operations, costs of or access to capital and impact or limit business plans.

The Company has faced and may continue to face stakeholder scrutiny related to ESG matters. Certain stakeholders of the Company, such as investors, customers, employees and
lenders, have increased their scrutiny of the impacts and social cost associated with ESG matters, including climate change. Concern that GHG emissions contribute to global
climate change has led to international, federal, state and local legislative and regulatory proposals to reduce or mitigate the effects of GHG emissions. The Company may
experience significant future costs associated with compliance of such legislative actions. The Company’s primary GHG emission is carbon dioxide from fossil fuels combustion at
Montana-Dakota's electric generating facilities, particularly its jointly owned coal-fired facilities.

Treaties, legislation or regulations to reduce GHG emissions in response to climate change may be adopted and can affect the Company's operations by requiring additional energy
conservation efforts or renewable energy sources, limiting emissions, imposing carbon taxes or other compliance costs; as well as other mandates that could significantly increase
capital expenditures and operating costs or reduce demand for the Company's services. If the Company’s utility and pipeline operations do not receive timely and full recovery of
GHG emission compliance costs from customers, then such costs could adversely impact the results of operations and cash flows. Significant reductions in demand for the
Company's services as a result of increased costs or emissions limitations could also adversely impact the results of operations and cash flows.

Due to the uncertain availability of technologies to control GHG emissions and the unknown obligations that potential GHG emission legislation or regulations may create, the
Company cannot determine the potential financial impact on its operations. In addition, any increased focus on climate change and stricter regulatory requirements may result in the
Company facing adverse reputational risks associated with certain of its operations producing GHG emissions. There have also been efforts to discourage the investment community
from investing in equity and debt securities of companies engaged in fossil fuel related business and pressuring lenders to limit funding to such companies. Additionally, some
insurance carriers have indicated an unwillingness to insure assets and operations related to certain fossil fuels. If the Company is unable to satisfy the climate-related expectations
of certain stakeholders, the Company may suffer reputational harm, which may cause its stock price to decrease or difficulty in accessing the capital or insurance markets. Such
efforts, if successfully directed at the Company, could increase the costs of or access to capital or insurance and interfere with business operations and ability to make capital
expenditures.

Other Risks

The Company's businesses are seasonal and subject to weather conditions that could adversely affect the Company's operations, revenues and cash flows.

The Company's results of operations could be affected by changes in the weather. Weather conditions influence the demand for electricity and natural gas and affect the price of
energy commodities. Utility operations have historically generated lower revenues when weather conditions are cooler than normal in the summer and warmer than normal in the
winter, particularly in jurisdictions that do not have weather normalization mechanisms in place. Where weather normalization mechanisms are in place, there is no assurance the
Company will continue to receive such regulatory protection from adverse weather in future rates.
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Adverse weather conditions, which have occurred and may reoccur, such as heavy or sustained rainfall or snowfall, droughts, storms, wind and colder weather may affect ongoing
operation and maintenance and construction activities for the electric and natural gas transmission and distribution businesses. In addition, severe weather can be destructive,
causing outages and property damage, which could require additional remediation costs. As a result, unusual or adverse weather conditions could negatively affect the Company's
results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

Competition exists in all of the Company's businesses.

The Company's businesses are subject to competition. The electric utility and natural gas businesses also experience competitive pressures as a result of consumer demands,
technological advances and other factors. The pipeline business competes with several pipelines for access to natural gas supplies and for transportation and storage business.
New acquisition opportunities are subject to competitive bidding environments which impact prices the Company must pay to successfully acquire new properties and acquisition
opportunities to grow its business. The Company's failure to effectively compete could negatively affect the Company's results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

The Company's operations may be negatively affected if it is unable to obtain, develop and retain key personnel and skilled labor forces.
The Company must attract, develop and retain executive officers and other professional, technical and skilled labor forces with the skills and experience necessary to successfully
manage, operate and grow the Company's businesses.

Due to the changing workforce dynamics and an insufficient number of qualified applicants to replace skilled employees as they retire and remote work opportunities, among other
things, competition for these employees is high. In some cases competition for these employees is on a regional or national basis. At times of low unemployment, it can be difficult
for the Company to attract and retain qualified and affordable personnel. A shortage in the supply of personnel creates competitive hiring markets, increased labor expenses,
decreased productivity and potentially lost business opportunities to support the Company's operating and growth strategies. The Company is subject to risks associated with labor
disputes or prolonged negotiation processes, which could disrupt operations and increase costs. Additionally, if the Company is unable to hire employees with the requisite skills, the
Company may be forced to incur significant training expenses. As a result, the Company's ability to maintain productivity, relationships with customers, competitive costs, and quality
services is limited by the ability to employ, retain and train the necessary personnel and could negatively affect the Company's results of operations, financial position and cash
flows.

The Company is a holding company and relies on cash from its subsidiaries to pay dividends.

The Company depends on earnings, cash flows and dividends from its subsidiaries to pay dividends on its common stock. Regulatory, contractual and legal limitations, as well as
their capital requirements, affect the ability of the subsidiaries to pay dividends to the Company and thereby could restrict or influence the Company's ability or decision to pay
dividends on its common stock, which could adversely affect the Company's stock price.
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Costs related to obligations under a MEPP could have a material negative effect on the Company's results of operations and cash flows.

An operating subsidiary of the Company participates in a MEPP for employees represented by a union. The Company is required to make contributions to this plan in amounts
established under the collective bargaining agreement between the operating subsidiary and the union. The Company may be obligated to increase its contribution to the plan if it
becomes underfunded and is classified as being in endangered, seriously endangered or critical status as defined by the Pension Protection Act of 2006, or if other participating
employers withdraw from the plan and are unable to contribute sufficient amounts. The amount and timing of any increase in the Company's required contributions may depend upon
one or more factors, including the outcome of collective bargaining; actions taken by the trustee; actions taken by the plan's other participating employers; the industry; future
determinations of plan status; and laws and regulations. The Company could experience increased operating expenses as a result of required contributions to the MEPP, which
could have an adverse effect on the Company's results of operations, financial position or cash flows. In addition, pursuant to ERISA, as amended by MPPAA, the Company could
incur a partial or complete withdrawal liability upon withdrawing from the plan, exiting a market in which it does business with a union workforce or upon termination of a plan. The
Company could also incur an additional withdrawal liability if its withdrawal from the plan is determined by that plan to be part of a mass withdrawal.

The Company may face risks associated with stockholder activism.
Publicly-traded companies are subject to campaigns by stockholders advocating corporate actions related to matters, such as corporate governance, operational practices, and

strategic direction. The Company has, and may again in the future, become subject in the future to such stockholder activity and demands. Such activities could interfere with its
ability to execute its business plans, affect the allocation of capital, be costly and time-consuming, disrupt operations, and divert the attention of management, any of which could
have an adverse effect on the Company’s business or stock price.

Technology disruptions or cyberattacks could adversely impact the Company's operations.
The Company uses technology in substantially all aspects of its business operations and requires uninterrupted operation of information technology and operation technology

systems, including disaster recovery and backup systems and network infrastructure. These systems may be vulnerable to physical and cybersecurity failures or unauthorized
access, due to hacking, human error, theft, sabotage, malicious software, ransomware, third-party compromise, acts of terrorism, acts of war, acts of nature or other causes.

Should a compromise or system failure occur, interdependencies to technology may disrupt the Company's ability to fulfill critical business functions. This may include interruption of
electric generation, transmission and distribution facilities, natural gas storage and pipeline facilities, any of which could adversely affect the Company's reputation, business, cash
flows and results of operations or subject the Company to legal or regulatory liabilities and increased costs. Litigation expenses and damages for such an event can be significant.
Additionally, the Company's electric generation and transmission systems and natural gas pipelines are part of interconnected systems with other operators’ facilities; therefore, a
cyber-related disruption in another operator’s system could negatively impact the Company's business.

The Company’s accounting systems and its ability to collect information and invoice customers for products and services could be disrupted. If the Company’s operations are
disrupted, it could result in decreased revenues and remediation costs that could adversely affect the Company's results of operations and cash flows.

The Company is subject to cybersecurity and privacy laws, regulations and security directives of many government agencies, including TSA, FERC and NERC. NERC issues
comprehensive regulations and standards surrounding the security of bulk power systems and continually updates these requirements, as well as establishing new requirements
with which the utility industry must comply. As these regulations evolve, the Company may experience increased compliance costs and may be at higher risk for violating these
standards. Experiencing a cybersecurity incident could cause the Company to be non-compliant with applicable laws and regulations, causing the Company to incur costs related to
legal claims, proceedings and regulatory fines or penalties. The SEC has adopted rules that require the Company to provide disclosures around cybersecurity risk management,
strategy, and governance, as well as disclose the occurrence of material cybersecurity incidents. These rules may also require the Company to report a cybersecurity incident before
the Company has been able to fully assess its impact or remediate the underlying issue. Efforts to comply with such reporting requirements could divert management's attention from
the Company's incident response and could potentially reveal system vulnerabilities to threat actors. Failure to timely report incidents under these or other similar rules could also
result in monetary fines, sanctions or subject the Company to other forms of liability. This regulatory environment is increasingly challenging and may present material obligations
and risks to the Company's business, including significantly expanded compliance burdens, costs, and enforcement risks.

The Company, through the ordinary course of business, requires access to sensitive customer, supplier, employee and Company data. A breach of the Company's systems could
compromise sensitive data and could go unnoticed for some time. Such an event could result in negative publicity and reputational harm, remediation costs, legal claims and fines
that could have an adverse effect on the Company's financial results. Third-party service providers that perform critical business functions for the Company or have access to
sensitive information within the Company also may be vulnerable to security breaches and information technology risks that could adversely affect the Company.
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The Company’s information systems experience ongoing and often sophisticated cyberattacks by a variety of sources with the apparent aim to breach the Company's cyber-
defenses. The Company may face increased cyber risk due to the increased use of employee-owned devices, work from home arrangements, and the separation of Everus. Such
incidents could have a material adverse effect in the future as cyberattacks continue to increase in frequency and sophistication. The Company is continuously reevaluating the need
to upgrade and/or replace systems and network infrastructure. These upgrades and/or replacements could adversely impact operations by imposing substantial capital expenditures,
creating delays or outages, or experiencing difficulties transitioning to new systems. System disruptions, if not anticipated and appropriately mitigated, could adversely affect the
Company.

Artificial intelligence presents challenges that can impact the Company's business by posing security risks to confidential or proprietary information and personal data
The use of artificial intelligence, combined with an uncertain regulatory environment, may result in reputational harm, liability, or other adverse consequences to business operations.
The Company has, and may again in the future, adopt and integrate certain artificial intelligence tools into its systems for specific use cases. The Company’s vendors and third-party
partners may incorporate artificial intelligence tools into their offerings with or without disclosing this use to the Company. The providers of these artificial intelligence tools may not
meet existing or rapidly evolving regulatory or industry standards concerning privacy and data protection, which may result in a loss of intellectual property or confidential information
and/or cause harm to the Company’s reputation and the public perception of the effectiveness of its security measures. Further, bad actors around the world use increasingly
sophisticated methods, including artificial intelligence, to engage in illegal activities involving the theft and misuse of personal information, confidential information, and intellectual
property. Any of these outcomes could damage the Company’s reputation, result in the loss of valuable property and information and adversely impact its business.

Pandemics may have a negative impact on the Company's business operations, revenues, results of operations, liquidity and cash flows.

Pandemics have disrupted national, state and local economies in the past and may again in the future. To the extent pandemics adversely impact the Company's businesses,
operations, revenues, liquidity or cash flows, they could also have a heightened effect of other risks. The degree to which pandemics impact the Company depends on, among other
things, federal, state and local mandates, actions taken by governmental authorities, availability, timing and effectiveness of vaccines being administered, and the pace and extent to
which the economy recovers and operates under normal market conditions.

Separation Risks

If the completed separations of Knife River or Everus, together with certain related transactions, were to fail to qualify as transactions that are generally tax-free for U.S.
federal income tax purposes, the Company and its stockholders could be subject to significant tax liabilities.

The Company completed the separations of Knife River and Everus on May 31, 2023, and October 31, 2024, respectively. In connection with the completed separations, the
Company received private letter rulings from the IRS and opinion(s) of outside counsel regarding the qualification of certain elements of the separations and distributions under
Section 355(a) of the Code. Notwithstanding prior receipt of IRS private letter rulings and opinion(s) of tax advisors, the IRS could determine that the completed distributions and/or
certain related transactions should be treated as taxable transactions for U.S. federal income tax purposes if it determines that any of the representations, assumptions, or
undertakings upon which the IRS private letter rulings or the opinion(s) of tax advisors were based are false or have been violated. In addition, neither the IRS private letter rulings
nor opinion(s) of tax advisors will address all of the issues that are relevant to determining whether the distributions, together with certain related transactions, qualifies as
transactions that are generally tax-free for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Further, opinion(s) of tax advisors represent the judgment of such tax advisors and are not binding on
the IRS or any court, and the IRS or a court may disagree with the conclusions in the opinion(s) of tax advisors. Accordingly, notwithstanding receipt by the Company of the IRS
private letter rulings and the opinion(s) of tax advisors, there can be no assurance that the IRS will not assert that the distributions and/or certain related transactions do not qualify
for tax-free treatment for U.S. federal income tax purposes or that a court would not sustain such a challenge. In the event the IRS were to prevail in such challenge, the Company
and its stockholders could be subject to significant U.S. federal income tax liability.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

The Company has no unresolved comments with the SEC.
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Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Risk Management and Strategy

Overall Risk Management

The Company has implemented a cyber risk management program to help ensure that the Company's electronic information and information systems are protected from various
threats. The cyber risk management program is maintained as part of the Company's overall governance, ERM program and compliance program. The Company's information
systems experience ongoing and often sophisticated cyberattacks by a variety of sources with the apparent aim to breach the Company's cyber-defenses. The Company has and
may continue to face increased cyber risk due to the increased use of employee-owned devices and work from home arrangements. The Company is continuously reevaluating the
need to upgrade and/or replace systems and network infrastructure. These upgrades and/or replacements could adversely impact operations by imposing substantial capital
expenditures, creating delays or outages, or experiencing difficulties transitioning to new systems. System disruptions, if not anticipated and appropriately mitigated, could adversely
affect the Company. The Company continually assesses risks from cybersecurity threats and adapts and enhances its controls accordingly.

Risks from Cybersecurity Threats

Any risks from previous cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any previous cybersecurity incidents, have not materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect
the Company's business, financial condition, or results of operations. Such risks and incidents could have a material adverse effect in the future as cyberattacks continue to increase
in frequency and sophistication. The Company also has cyber event related insurance.

Employee Cybersecurity Training
The Company provides ongoing cybersecurity training and compliance programs to facilitate education for employees who may have access to the Company's data and critical
systems. Employee phishing tests are conducted on a monthly basis.

Engage Third-parties on Risk Management

Periodic external reviews, including penetration tests and security framework assessments, are conducted by auditors, external assessors, and/or consultants to assess and ensure
compliance with the Company’s information security programs and practices. Internal and external auditors assess the Company’s information technology general controls on an
annual basis.

Oversee Third-party Risk

The Company has implemented a third-party management risk program to help monitor and reduce risks associated with the Company's vendors, which includes processes such as
completing due diligence on third party service providers before engaging with them for their services; assessing the third party’s cybersecurity posture by reviewing audit reports of
the third party, completing cyber questionnaires, and reviewing applicable certification; including cybersecurity contractual language in contracts to limit risk; and monitoring and
reassessing third party’s to ensure ongoing compliance with their cybersecurity obligations.

Physical Security
The Company safeguards assets through a standard physical security design process, including access controls, surveillance and monitoring, perimeter security controls, data
center security, and incident response and reporting controls.

Operational Technology
The Company has operation technology, consisting of the hardware and software that monitors and controls devices, processes, and infrastructure related to the Company's
operational assets. Security protocols for the Company's operational technology follow applicable NERC, FERC and TSA regulations and security directives.

Other Risk Factors
Notwithstanding the breadth of the Company's information security program, the Company may be unsuccessful in preventing or mitigating a cybersecurity event that could have a
material adverse impact. See “Item 1A — Risk Factors — Other Risks — Technology disruptions or cyberattacks could adversely impact the Company's operations.”

Governance

Board of Directors Oversight

The Company's board of directors, as a whole and through its committees, has responsibility for oversight of risk management. In its risk oversight role, the board of directors has
the responsibility to satisfy itself that the risk management processes designed and implemented by management are adequate for identifying, assessing, and managing risk. The
audit committee of the board of directors of the Company is responsible for oversight of risks from cybersecurity threats.
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Management's Role Managing Risk

The Company's CIO plays a large role in informing the audit committee of the board of directors on cybersecurity risks. The audit committee of the board of directors receives
presentations and reports from the CIO on cybersecurity related issues which include information security, technology risks and risk mitigation programs regularly at the quarterly
board meetings. In addition to scheduled meetings, the CIO and audit committee of the board of directors maintain an ongoing dialogue regarding emerging or potential
cybersecurity risks.

Cybersecurity Incident Response

The Company has an incident response plan to identify, protect, detect, respond to, and recover from cybersecurity threats and incidents that is also tested on an annual basis. The
incident response plan is updated based on results of the test or as new cyber related developments occur. The CIO, executive leadership which includes the chief executive officer,
chief financial officer, chief accounting officer, chief legal officer, and SEC financial reporting department employees, and the board of directors are notified of any material
cybersecurity incidents through a defined escalation process. The defined escalation process is a risk-based process that specifies who is to be contacted and when at each risk
level.

Monitor, Manage, and Safeguard Against Cybersecurity Incidents and Risks

The Company's CIO, along with its director of cybersecurity and a designated security team of professionals, are responsible for assessing and managing risks as well as developing
and implementing policies, procedures, and practices based on the range of threats faced by the Company. There are processes around access management, data security,
encryption, asset management, secure system development, security operations, network and device security to provide safeguards from a cybersecurity incident along with
continual monitoring of various threat intelligence feeds.

Cyber Risk Management Personnel

The Company's director of cybersecurity reports to the CIO and the CIO reports directly to the Company's chief executive officer. The Company's CIO who served as the first CIO of
the Company since 2016, oversaw the information technology and cybersecurity portfolios until her retirement on January 10, 2025. A new CIO from within the Company was named
to succeed the retiring ClO and holds both a bachelor's and master's degree in business administration with over 25 years of information technology experience in the energy and
utilities business. The director of cybersecurity has a bachelor’s degree in computer information systems, over 25 years of information security experience, and holds certified
information systems security professional and certified risk and information systems control certifications. The other members of information technology director level leadership also
responsible for managing cybersecurity risks have degrees including Bachelor of Computer Information Systems, information systems management, electronics, electrical
engineering, business administration, and accounting, along with certified information systems auditor certification and a cybersecurity fundamentals certificate.

Cyber Risk Oversight Committee

Additionally, in 2014 the board of directors established CyROC to provide executive management and the audit committee of the board of directors with analyses, appraisals,
recommendations and pertinent information concerning cyber defense of the Company's electronic information, information technology and operation technology systems. The
CyROC is responsible for guiding the Company's comprehensive cybersecurity policies and oversight of cybersecurity risks. The CyROC is chaired by the Company's CIO and is
comprised of members such as the chief financial officer, information technology leaders, internal auditors, and other leaders from across the Company.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

SEC regulations require the Company to disclose certain information about proceedings arising under federal, state or local environmental provisions if the Company reasonably
believes that such proceedings may result in monetary sanctions above a stated threshold. Pursuant to SEC regulations, the Company has adopted a threshold of $1.0 million for
purposes of determining whether disclosure of any such proceedings is required.

For information regarding legal proceedings required by this item, see Item 8 - Note 21, which is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 5. Market for the Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

The Company's common stock is listed on the NYSE under the symbol "MDU."

As of February 13, 2025, the Company's common stock was held by approximately 8,700 stockholders of record.

Based on the Company becoming a pure-play regulated energy delivery business, the Company's board of directors established a long-term dividend payout ratio target of 60
percent to 70 percent of regulated energy delivery earnings. The Company has an 87-year history of uninterrupted dividend payments to stockholders and remains committed to
paying a competitive dividend. The Company depends on earnings and dividends from its subsidiaries to pay dividends on common stock. The declaration and payment of dividends
is at the sole discretion of the board of directors, subject to limitations imposed by agreements governing the Company's indebtedness, federal and state laws, and applicable

regulatory limitations. For more information on factors that may limit the Company's ability to pay dividends, see Item 8 - Note 12.

The following table includes information with respect to the Company's purchase of equity securities:

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Maximum Number (or

Total Number of Shares Approximate Dollar

Total Number (or Units) Purchased Value) of Shares (or

of Shares  Average Price Paid as Part of Publicly Units) that May Yet Be

(or Units) per Share Announced Plans Purchased Under the

Period Purchased (1) (or Unit) or Programs (2) Plans or Programs (2)

October 1 through October 31, 2024 — — — —

November 1 through November 30, 2024 46,341 $18.34 — —
December 1 through December 31, 2024 — — = —
Total 46,341 $18.34 — —

(1) Represents MDU original issue shares of common stock in connection with annual stock grants made to the Company's non-employee directors.
(2) Not applicable. The Company does not currently have in place any publicly announced plans or programs to repurchase equity securities.

Item 6.

Reserved.
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Iltem 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations |

The Company provides essential services, delivering reliable energy that powers lives. Through its infrastructure investments and operations the Company drives economic growth,
supports communities, and energizes businesses that keep America moving.

Strategic Initiatives On May 31, 2023, the Company completed the separation of Knife River, its construction materials and contracting business, resulting in Knife River becoming
an independent, publicly-traded company. The Company's board of directors approved the distribution of approximately 90 percent of the issued and outstanding shares of Knife
River to the Company's stockholders. Stockholders of the Company received one share of Knife River common stock for every four shares of the Company's common stock held on
May 22, 2023, the record date for the distribution. The Company retained approximately 10 percent or 5.7 million shares of Knife River common stock immediately following the
separation, which were disposed of in a tax-free exchange in November 2023. The separation of Knife River was a tax-free spinoff transaction to the Company's stockholders for
U.S. federal income tax purposes.

On October 31, 2024, the Company completed the separation of Everus, its construction services business, resulting in Everus becoming an independent, publicly-traded company.
The Company's board of directors approved the distribution of all the outstanding shares of Everus common stock to the Company's stockholders. Stockholders of the Company
received one share of Everus common stock for every four shares of the Company's common stock held as of the close of business on October 21, 2024, the record date for the
distribution. The separation of Everus was a tax-free spinoff transaction to the Company's stockholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes, except for cash received in lieu of
fractional shares.

The Company incurred costs in connection with the strategic initiatives in 2022, 2023 and 2024, as noted in the Business Segment Financial and Operating Data section, and
expects the majority of the separation costs have already been incurred.

Based on the Company becoming a pure-play regulated energy delivery business, the Company's board of directors established a long-term dividend payout ratio target of 60
percent to 70 percent of regulated energy delivery earnings. The Company has an 87-year history of uninterrupted dividend payments to stockholders and remains committed to
paying a competitive dividend.

Market Trends The Company continues to manage the inflationary pressures experienced throughout the United States, including the impact that inflation, higher interest rates,
commodity price volatility and supply chain disruptions may have on its business and customers and proactively looks for ways to lessen the impact to its business. The Company
has observed supply chain improvements in lead times for certain commodities. Although the Company has started to see some reduction to interest rates, they remain elevated and
have resulted in and may continue to result in increased borrowing costs on new debt, impacts to the Company's asset valuations and negatively impacting the purchasing power of
its customers. For more information on possible impacts to the Company's businesses, see the Outlook for each segment below and Item 1A - Risk Factors.
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Consolidated Earnings Overview
The following table summarizes the contribution to the consolidated income by each of the Company's business segments.

Years ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022
(In millions, except per share amounts)

Electric $ 748 $ 716 $ 571
Natural gas distribution 46.9 48.5 452
Pipeline 68.0 47.4 36.2
Other (8.6) 162.6 (21.2)
Income from continuing operations 181.1 330.1 117.3
Discontinued operations, net of tax 100.0 84.6 250.2
Net income $ 2811 $ 4147 $ 367.5
Earnings per share - basic:

Income from continuing operations $ 89 § 162 $ .58

Discontinued operations, net of tax .49 42 1.23
Earnings per share - basic $ 1.38 $ 204 $ 1.81
Earnings per share - diluted:

Income from continuing operations $ .88 $ 162 $ .58

Discontinued operations, net of tax .49 41 1.23
Earnings per share - diluted $ 137 $ 203 $ 1.81

The Company completed the separations of Knife River on May 31, 2023, its former construction materials and contracting segment, and of Everus on October 31, 2024, its former

construction services segment, into new independent publicly-traded companies. As a result of these separations, the historical results of operations for Knife River and Everus are

shown in discontinued operations, net of tax, except for allocated general corporate overhead costs of the Company, which did not meet the criteria for discontinued operations and
are reflected in Other. Also included in discontinued operations are certain strategic initiative costs associated with the separations of Knife River and Everus. Other includes activity
for Everus for ten months in 2024 compared to the full year in 2023 and Knife River activity for five months in 2023 compared to the full year in 2022.

2024 compared to 2023 The Company's consolidated earnings decreased $133.6 million primarily due to the absence of the Company's 2023 gain of $186.6 million related to the
tax-free exchange of its retained shares in Knife River, partially offset by increased earnings at the pipeline and electric businesses.

The electric business experienced higher retail sales revenue due to rate relief in North Dakota, South Dakota and Montana. Lower volumes from the majority of
customers, primarily due to cooler weather in the second quarter, and higher operation and maintenance expense, primarily contract services costs, partially offset the
increases.

Decreased earnings at the natural gas distribution business was largely the result of higher operation and maintenance expense, primarily higher contract services costs,
higher payroll-related costs, and higher software expenses. Also decreasing net income was higher depreciation and amortization expense, primarily due to increased
asset additions. These decreases were partially offset by higher retail sales revenue, primarily due to rate relief in North Dakota and South Dakota.

The pipeline's earnings increase was driven by higher transportation volumes, primarily from growth projects placed in service in November 2023 and throughout 2024 and
increased contracted volume commitments beginning February 2023. Higher storage-related revenue and a full year of new transportation and storage service rates in
2024 further drove the increase. The business also benefited from proceeds received from a customer settlement that was recorded in other income and a decrease in the
Company's effective state income tax rate. The increase was offset in part by higher operation and maintenance expense primarily attributable to payroll-related costs and
higher materials, contract services and pipeline safety fees. The business incurred higher depreciation and amortization expense due to growth projects placed in service
as discussed earlier, which was partially offset by fully depreciated assets. The business also incurred higher interest expense largely as a result of higher debt balances
and higher property taxes.

Other was impacted by the absence of the Company's 2023 gain of $186.6 million related to the tax-free exchange of its retained shares in Knife River. Partially offsetting
the decrease in net income was lower operation and maintenance expense, largely a result of corporate overhead costs classified as continuing operations allocated to the
construction materials business in 2023, which are not included in Other in 2024, and lower strategic initiative costs. Other also benefited from lower interest expense due
to lower borrowings associated with funding strategic initiatives.
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2023 compared to 2022 The Company's consolidated earnings increased $47.2 million. The Company experienced increased earnings at each of its continuing businesses.

»  The electric business experienced higher retail sales due to rate relief in North Dakota and Montana, an electric service agreement to provide power to a data center near
Ellendale, North Dakota, and higher transmission interconnect upgrades. Electric earnings were partially offset by lower residential volumes, primarily due to cooler
weather in the third quarter of the year.

. Natural gas distribution experienced higher retail sales revenue due to rate relief in Idaho and Washington, higher basic service charges, and recovery of short-term debt
interest expense in Idaho related to increased gas costs. These increases were largely offset by higher operation and maintenance expense, primarily higher payroll-
related costs. The natural gas distribution business also experienced a 6.6 percent decrease in retail sales volumes to all customer classes, largely due to warmer
weather, which was partially offset by weather normalization and decoupling mechanisms.

»  The pipeline's earnings increase was driven by higher transportation volumes, primarily from increased contracted volume commitments from the North Bakken Expansion
project and a full year of benefit from this project; as well as organic growth projects placed in service in November 2023 and August 2022. In addition, revenues increased
from new transportation and storage rates effective August 1, 2023 and higher storage-related activity. The pipeline also benefited from higher allowance for funds used
during construction on organic growth projects, lower property taxes and higher non-regulated project margin. The increase was offset in part by higher operation and
maintenance expense primarily attributable to payroll-related costs and contract services. The pipeline business also incurred higher interest expense as a result of higher
interest rates and higher debt balances.

«  Other experienced a realized gain of $186.6 million related to the tax-free exchange of its retained interest in Knife River and higher interest income. Partially offsetting
these items were higher interest expense, primarily related to debt issued in connection with the Knife River separation. Other also benefited from improved claims
experience at the captive insurer in 2023 compared to 2022.

+  The Company's earnings from continuing operations were further impacted by $18.6 million in higher returns on the Company's nonqualified benefit plan investments, as
discussed in Note 9, partially offset by higher costs incurred in connection with other strategic initiatives of $6.1 million, after tax.

A discussion of key financial data from the Company's business segments follows.

Business Segment Financial and Operating Data

Following are key financial and operating data for each of the Company's business segments. Also included are highlights on key growth strategies, projections and certain
assumptions for the Company and its subsidiaries and other matters of the Company's business segments. Many of these highlighted points are "forward-looking statements." For
more information, see Part | - Forward-Looking Statements. There is no assurance that the Company's projections, including estimates for growth and changes in earnings, will in
fact be achieved. Please refer to assumptions contained in this section, as well as the various important factors listed in Item 1A - Risk Factors. Changes in such assumptions and
factors could cause actual future results to differ materially from the Company's projections.

The Company’s CODM, the chief executive officer of MDU Resources Group, Inc., regularly reviews discrete financial information of each reportable segment and uses net income
to assess performance of each reportable segment. The CODM uses this information to assess performance and make decisions about resources to be allocated to each reportable
segment, including capital and personnel. The information provided to the CODM is prepared at the reportable segment level in quarterly financial packages and on a more
summarized basis monthly. Budget and forecast information is also provided to the CODM at the reportable segment level.

For information pertinent to various commitments and contingencies, see ltem 8 - Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. For a summary of the Company's business
segments, see Item 8 - Note 17.

Electric and Natural Gas Distribution

Strategy and challenges The electric and natural gas distribution segments provide electric and natural gas distribution services to customers, as discussed in ltems 1 and 2 -
Business Properties. Both segments strive to be top performing utility companies with a commitment to customers and communities, operational excellence, returns focused
initiatives and an employee driven culture. The segments provide safe, reliable, competitively priced and environmentally responsible energy service to customers while focusing on
growth and expansion opportunities within and beyond its existing territories. The Company is focused on cultivating organic growth while managing operating costs and monitoring
opportunities for these segments to retain, grow and expand their customer base through extensions of existing operations, including building and upgrading electric generation,
transmission and distribution, and natural gas systems, and through selected acquisitions of companies and properties with similar operating and growth objectives at prices that will
provide stable cash flows and an opportunity to earn a competitive return on investment. The continued efforts to create operational improvements and efficiencies across both
segments promotes the Company's business integration strategy. The primary factors that impact the results of these segments are the ability to earn authorized rates of return;
weather; climate change laws, regulations and initiatives; competitive factors in the energy industry; population growth; and economic conditions in the segments' service areas.
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The electric and natural gas distribution segments are subject to extensive regulation in the jurisdictions where they conduct operations with respect to costs, timely recovery of
investments and permitted returns on investment. The Company is focused on modernizing utility infrastructure to meet the varied energy needs of both its customers and
communities while ensuring the delivery of safe, reliable, affordable and environmentally responsible energy. The segments continue to invest in facility upgrades to be in compliance
with existing and known future regulations. To assist in the reduction of regulatory lag in obtaining revenue increases to align with increased investments, tracking mechanisms have
been implemented in certain jurisdictions. The Company also seeks rate adjustments for operating costs and capital investments, as well as reasonable returns on investments not
covered by tracking mechanisms. For more information on the Company's tracking mechanisms and recent rate cases, see Iltems 1 and 2 - Business Properties and Item 8 - Note
20.

These segments are also subject to extensive regulation related to certain operational and environmental compliance, cybersecurity, permit terms and system integrity. Both
segments are faced with the ongoing need to actively evaluate cybersecurity processes and procedures related to its transmission and distribution systems for opportunities to
further strengthen its cybersecurity protections. There have been cyber and physical attacks within the energy industry on infrastructure, such as substations, and the Company
continues to evaluate the safeguards implemented to protect its electric and natural gas utility systems. Implementation of enhancements and additional requirements to protect the
Company's infrastructure is ongoing.

To date, many states have enacted, and others are considering, mandatory clean energy standards requiring utilities to meet certain thresholds of renewable and/or carbon-free
energy supply. Over the long-term, the Company expects overall electric demand to be positively impacted by increased electrification trends, including electric vehicle adoption, as
a means to address economy-wide carbon emission concerns, data center growth and changing customer conservation patterns. Recently, MISO and NERC announced concerns
with reliability of the electric grid due to rapid expansion of renewables and retirement of baseload resources such as coal and the uncertainty of adequate energy production during
certain periods of time, while load growth has increased faster than expected. Montana-Dakota filed its 2024 IRP with the NDPSC on July 12, 2024. With MISO's filed changes in
resources adequacy at FERC and the adoption of direct loss of load accreditation for generation resources around riskiest hours on the system versus peak load hours, Montana-
Dakota is seeing the need to add additional capacity resources to its system in 2028 versus 2034 as identified in its previous IRP. The Company will continue to monitor the progress
of these changes and assess the potential impacts they may have on its stakeholders, business processes, results of operations, cash flows and disclosures.

Revenues are impacted by both customer growth and usage, the latter of which is primarily impacted by weather, as well as impacts associated with commercial and industrial slow-
downs, including economic recessions, and energy efficiencies. Very cold winters increase demand for natural gas and to a lesser extent, electricity, while warmer than normal
summers increase demand for electricity, especially among residential and commercial customers. Average consumption among both electric and natural gas customers has tended
to decline as more efficient appliances and furnaces are installed, and as the Company has implemented conservation programs. Natural gas weather normalization and decoupling
mechanisms in certain jurisdictions have been implemented to largely mitigate the effect that would otherwise be caused by variations in volumes sold to these customers due to
weather and changing consumption patterns on the Company's distribution margins, as further discussed in Items 1 and 2 - Business Properties.

In December 2022 and January 2023, natural gas prices significantly increased across the Pacific Northwest from multiple price-pressuring events including wide-spread below-
normal temperatures and higher natural gas consumption; reduced natural gas flows due to pipeline constraints, including maintenance in West Texas; and historically low regional
natural gas storage levels. Natural gas prices stabilized by March 2023. The higher natural gas prices in December 2022 and January 2023 impacted both Intermountain and
Cascade, both of which borrowed short-term debt of $125.0 million and $150.0 million, respectively, in January 2023 to finance the increased natural gas costs. To assist in the
recovery of higher natural gas costs, Intermountain filed an out-of-cycle purchased gas adjustment with the IPUC that was effective February 1, 2023, and collected interest costs
associated with short-term borrowing. Effective November 1, 2023, as approved by the WUTC, Cascade started recovery in Washington of these increased gas costs over a period
of two years rather than the normal one year period. In January 2024, Cascade and Intermountain made the final repayment on short-term debt of $50.0 million and $45.0 million,
respectively. For a discussion of the Company's most recent cases by jurisdiction, see Item 8 - Note 20.
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In late summer and fall of 2023, electric fuel and purchased power prices increased across Montana-Dakota's integrated system. This was caused by transmission congestion in
northwest North Dakota due to delays in additional SPP transmission line build-out, as well as additional load growth in the Bakken region. Electric fuel and purchased power prices
remained elevated through January 2024. To assist in the recovery of the higher electric fuel and purchased power costs, Montana-Dakota filed waiver requests with the NDPSC and
SDPUC, which were approved deferring the increased costs to the annual fuel clause adjustment. In Montana, the waiver request is filed monthly and was unopposed by the
MTPSC. Montana-Dakota filed a complaint with FERC related to this issue on January 23, 2024. MISO also filed its own complaint with FERC against SPP on March 8, 2024. On
September 10, 2024, FERC issued an order denying both Montana-Dakota and MISO's complaint regarding the issue. On October 10, 2024, Montana-Dakota and MISO filed with
FERC for rehearing on FERC's decision to deny these complaints. Both rehearing requests were denied by operation of law on November 11, 2024. On January 2, 2025, Montana-
Dakota filed a petition for review of the FERC decision with the United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit. MISO filed a petition for review of the FERC decision on
January 8, 2025. On December 26, 2024, Montana-Dakota filed a request with the NDPSC for authorization to defer external legal expenses related to this congestion litigation and
record those deferred expenses into a regulatory asset. Effective April 1, 2024, as approved by the NDPSC, Montana-Dakota started recovery in North Dakota of these increased
costs over a period of two years rather than one year, which will lessen the impact to customers and allow more time for Montana-Dakota's FERC complaint to mature and have
greater certainty of the outcome. In South Dakota and Montana, Montana-Dakota started recovery of these costs over a one-year period effective July 1, 2024.

The Company continues to proactively monitor and work with its manufacturers to reduce the effects of increased pricing and lead times on delivery of certain raw materials and
equipment used in electric generation, transmission and distribution system and natural gas pipeline projects. Long lead times are attributable to increased demand for steel
products from pipeline companies as they continue pipeline system safety and integrity replacement projects driven by PHMSA regulations, as well as delays in the manufacturing
and shipping of electrical equipment and increased demand for electrical equipment due to regulatory activity and grid expansion. The Company has been able to minimize the
effects by working closely with suppliers or obtaining additional suppliers, as well as modifying project plans to accommodate extended lead times and increased costs. The
Company expects these delays and inflationary pressures to continue.

The ability to grow through acquisitions is subject to significant competition and acquisition premiums. In addition, the ability of the segments to grow their service territory and
customer base is affected by regulatory constraints, the economic environment of the markets served, population changes and competition from other energy providers and fuel. The
construction of new electric generating facilities, transmission lines and other service facilities is subject to increasing costs and lead times, extensive permitting procedures, and
federal and state legislative and regulatory initiatives, which may necessitate increases in electric energy prices. As the industry continues to expand the use of renewable energy
sources, the need for additional transmission infrastructure is growing. As part of MISO's long range transmission plan, in August 2022, the Company announced its intent to
develop, construct and co-own JETx with Otter Tail Power Company in central North Dakota. On October 6, 2023, the FERC issued an order approving the Company's request for
CWIP Incentive Rate and Abandoned Plant Incentive treatment on this project.
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Earnings overview - The following information summarizes the performance of the electric segment.

2024 vs. 2023 2023 vs. 2022

Years ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022 Variance Variance
(In millions)
Operating revenues $ 4145 $ 4012 $ 3771 3% 6 %
Operating expenses:
Electric fuel and purchased power 141.2 134.8 119.4 5% 13 %
Operation and maintenance 95.0 92.7 93.3 2% 1%
Depreciation and amortization 66.5 64.2 67.8 4% (5)%
Taxes, other than income 17.6 16.7 16.9 5% (1%
Total operating expenses 320.3 308.4 297.4 4% 4%
Operating income 94.2 92.8 79.7 2% 16 %
Other income 8.2 5.8 55 41 % NM
Interest expense 30.0 28.0 28.5 7% 2)%
Income before income taxes 72.4 70.6 51.7 3% 37 %
Income tax benefit (2.4) (1.0) (5.4) 140 % (81)%
Net income $ 748 $ 716 $ 57.1 4% 25 %

Operating statistics

2024 2023 2022
Revenues (millions)

Retail sales:
Residential $ 1399 § 1341 § 135.4
Commercial 165.8 164.1 142.7
Industrial 42.3 42.3 43.0
Other 7.8 71 7.3
355.8 347.6 328.4
Other 58.7 53.6 48.7

$ 4145 § 4012 § 3771

Volumes (million kWh)

Retail sales:
Residential 1,159.5 1,180.2 1,226.4
Commercial 2,474.5 2,350.5 1,437.7
Industrial 528.9 583.7 596.1
Other 81.6 81.8 83.7
4,244.5 4,196.2 3,343.9
Average cost of electric fuel and purchased power per
kWh 025 §$ .024 $ .026
Cooling degree days (% warmer (colder) than prior
year)!
Montana (0.7)% (1.0)% (16.1)%
North Dakota (2.2)% (5.4)% (26.8)%
South Dakota (27.0)% (9.8)% (15.0)%
Wyoming 46.1 % (26.4)% (9.3)%

Cooling degree days are a measure of the energy demand for cooling.

2024 compared to 2023 Electric earnings increased $3.2 million as a result of:
* Revenue increased $13.3 million.
o Largely attributable to:
= Rate relief of $7.1 million in North Dakota, South Dakota and Montana.
= Higher fuel and purchased power costs of $6.4 million recovered in customer rates and offset in expense, as described below.
= Higher miscellaneous revenue of $2.4 million, including higher transmission interconnect upgrades.
> Partially offset by lower retail sales volumes of $2.6 million, driven primarily by lower residential volumes due to 37.0 percent cooler weather in the second quarter of 2024.
There was a 1.2 percent increase in volumes, which includes an increase in commercial volumes from the data center as further discussed in the Outlook section.
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Electric fuel and purchased power increased $6.4 million, largely the result of higher commaodity prices.

Operation and maintenance increased $2.3 million, largely the result of increased contract services and higher payroll-related costs.

Depreciation and amortization increased $2.3 million.
o Largely due to:
= Increased depreciation of $2.2 million associated with higher property, plant and equipment balances, as a result of transmission projects placed in service to improve
reliability and update aging infrastructure.
= Higher depreciation rates, which are recovered in operating revenues.

Taxes, other than income increased $900,000, largely as a result of higher payroll tax and higher property tax, primarily in Montana.

Other income increased $2.4 million, primarily from:
> Higher interest income of $2.7 million, largely related to a data center project of $1.6 million.
> Higher short term investment balances.
> Amounts related to higher deferred fuel and purchased power balances.

Interest expense increased $2.0 million, largely the result of higher long-term interest expense due to incremental debt issuances.

Income tax benefit increased $1.4 million, primarily due to higher production tax credits due to higher wind production.

2023 compared to 2022 Electric earnings increased $14.5 million as a result of:
 Revenue increased $24.1 million.
o Largely attributable to:
= Higher fuel and purchased power costs of $15.4 million recovered in customer rates and offset in expense, as described below.
= Rate relief of $4.4 million in North Dakota and Montana.
= Higher data center revenue of $3.4 million, including net transmission.
= Higher transmission interconnect upgrades of $2.9 million.
o Partially offset by lower retail sales volumes of $2.4 million, driven primarily by lower residential volumes, largely due to cooler weather in the third quarter of the year. Although
residential volumes were lower, there was a 25.5 percent increase in volumes overall, which was largely driven by the data center as previously discussed and further
discussed in the outlook section.

Electric fuel and purchased power increased $15.4 million, largely due to higher retail sales volumes, partially offset by lower commodity prices.

Operation and maintenance expense decreased $600,000.
o Largely the result of:
> Decreased Coyote Station costs of $1.7 million due to the absence of the planned outage in 2022.
> Lower materials expense of $500,000, partially due to the closure of Units 1 and 2 at Heskett Station.
o Partially offset by increased payroll-related costs, which include higher employee incentive accruals.

Depreciation and amortization decreased $3.6 million.
> Primarily due to decreased amortization of plant retirement and closure costs of $5.3 million resulting from an extension to the recovery period for these costs, which are
recovered in operating revenues, as discussed in Note 12.
> Partially offset by increased depreciation of $1.2 million associated with higher property, plant and equipment balances, the result of transmission projects placed in service to
improve reliability and update aging infrastructure.

Taxes, other than income were comparable to the same period in the prior year.

Other income increased $5.3 million.
o Largely due to:
= Higher returns on the Company's nonqualified benefit plan investments of $4.7 million, as discussed in Note 9.
= Higher interest income of $1.3 million, largely related to contributions in aid of construction.
o Offset in part by lower AFUDC equity due to higher average debt balance.

Interest expense decreased $500,000, as a result of higher AFUDC debt, largely due to higher rates, partially offset by higher average interest rates.

Income tax benefit decreased $4.4 million.
o Largely due to:
= Higher income taxes of $4.7 million related to higher taxable income.
= Decreased excess deferred income tax amortization.
o Partially offset by lower permanent tax adjustments.
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Earnings overview - The following information summarizes the performance of the natural gas distribution segment.

2024 vs. 2023

2023 vs. 2022

Years ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022 Variance Variance
(In millions)
Operating revenues $ 12011 $ 12875 $ 1,2738 (7)% 1%
Operating expenses:
Purchased natural gas sold 699.3 805.1 816.1 (13)% 1%
Operation and maintenance 231.2 219.7 205.3 5% 7%
Depreciation and amortization 102.0 95.3 89.4 7% 7 %
Taxes, other than income 76.0 75.2 711 1% 6 %
Total operating expenses 1,108.5 1,195.3 1,181.9 (M) % 1%
Operating income 92.6 92.2 91.9 — % — %
Other income 25,5 20.8 33 23 % NM
Interest expense 63.2 57.6 422 10 % 36 %
Income before income taxes 54.9 55.4 53.0 1% 5%
Income tax expense 8.0 6.9 7.8 16 % (12)%
Net income $ 469 $ 485 $ 452 (3)% 7%
Operating statistics
2024 2023 2022
Revenues (millions)
Retail sales:
Residential $ 651.8 7261 $ 715.5
Commercial 400.8 441.2 450.9
Industrial 42.7 45.0 415
1,095.3 1,212.3 1,207.9
Transportation and other 105.8 75.2 65.9
$ 1,201.1 12875 $ 1,273.8
Volumes (MMdk)
Retail sales:
Residential 67.2 69.3 74.8
Commercial 46.9 47.9 51.0
Industrial 5.4 54 54
119.5 122.6 131.2
Transportation sales:
Commercial 1.9 1.9 2.0
Industrial 192.6 188.4 165.7
194.5 190.3 167.7
Total throughput 314.0 312.9 298.9
Average cost of natural gas per dk $ 5.85 657 $ 6.22
Heating degree days (% colder (warmer) than prior
year)'
Idaho (7.3)% (9.0)% 16.1 %
Minnesota (12.6)% (11.9)% 18.0 %
Montana (4.6)% (2.8)% 0.8 %
North Dakota? (9.9)% 0.3% 9.5%
Oregon? (4.3)% (5.5)% 10.1 %
South Dakota? (10.0)% (0.2)% 0.4 %
Washington? (0.2)% (8.5)% 11.9 %
Wyoming (9.8)% 14 % 1.6 %

1Heating degree days are a measure of the daily temperature demand for energy for heating.
2Weather normalization or decoupling mechanisms are in place that minimize the weather impact.
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2024 compared to 2023: Natural gas distribution earnings decreased $1.6 million as a result of:
+ Revenue decreased $86.4 million.
o Largely from:
= Lower purchased natural gas sold and net environmental compliance of $105.8 million offset in expense, as described below.
= Absence of 2023 approved rate recovery of short-term debt interest expense of $3.2 million in Idaho related to increased gas costs in 2023.
= Absence of Washington excess deferred income tax settlement of $1.1 million.
= A 2.4 percent decrease in retail sales volumes to residential and commercial customer classes, offset in part by weather normalization and decoupling mechanisms of $4.2
million in certain jurisdictions.
o Partially offset by:
= Rate relief of $14.1 million primarily in North Dakota and South Dakota.
= Higher conservation revenues of $4.1 million that were offset in expense, as described below.
= Higher transportation volumes of $3.1 million due to 2.2 percent higher volumes, largely higher industrial customers, offset by lower electric generation.
= Decrease in Oregon natural gas cost sharing of $1.7 million.

Purchased natural gas sold decreased $105.8 million, largely due to lower commodity costs of $130.2 million and lower volumes of natural gas purchased of $23.6 million. These
decreases were partially offset by net environmental compliance costs and emission allowance sales revenue of $48.0 million.

Operation and maintenance increased $11.5 million.
o Primarily due to:
= Higher conservation-related costs of $4.1 million which are recovered in rates, as discussed above.
= Higher contract services of $3.5 million, primarily due to consulting and legal fees largely related to rate case filings, and higher subcontractor payments.
= Higher payroll and benefit-related costs of $3.2 million.
= Higher software related expenses of $1.8 million.

Depreciation and amortization increased $6.7 million, primarily resulting from growth and replacement projects placed in service.

Taxes, other than income increased $800,000, primarily from higher payroll taxes of $1.0 million and higher property taxes of $500,000, partially offset by lower revenue-based
taxes of $700,000, which are recovered in rates.

Other income increased $4.7 million.
> Due to higher interest income of $5.4 million, largely due to:
= Higher interest on regulatory deferral balances.
= Higher interest income associated with RNG projects of $2.2 million.
o Partially offset by higher pension expense of $1.1 million.

Interest expense increased $5.6 million, primarily from higher long-term debt balances from debt issued in 2023 and 2024 and higher commercial paper and revolving credit
agreement balances, partially offset by lower short-term debt due to short term debt repayments.

Income tax expense increased $1.1 million largely the result of permanent tax adjustments.

2023 compared to 2022 Natural gas distribution earnings increased $3.3 million as a result of:
* Revenue increased $13.7 million.
o Largely from:
= Rate relief of $7.9 million in Idaho and Washington, including the excess deferred income tax tariff settlement of $1.1 million in Washington.
= Increased revenue-based taxes recovered in rates of $6.1 million that were offset in expense, as described below.
= Higher basic service charges of $4.7 million.
= Higher transportation revenue of $3.8 million due to 13.5 percent higher volumes, largely higher electric generation.
= Approved rate recovery of short-term debt interest expense related to increased gas costs in Idaho of $3.2 million.
= Higher nonregulated revenue of $1.7 million, largely higher liquefied natural gas sales.
= Recovery of COVID-19 response costs, including bill assistance programs and waived late payment fees, in Oregon of
$700,000.
« Partially offset by:
> Lower purchased gas sold of $10.8 million, recovered in customer rates that was offset in expense, as described below.
> A 6.6 percent decrease in retail sales volumes to all customer classes, offset in part by weather normalization and decoupling mechanisms in certain jurisdictions.

+ Purchased natural gas sold decreased $11.0 million, primarily due to lower volumes of natural gas purchased of $59.8 million, largely offset by higher natural gas costs of $48.7
million as a result of higher market prices. Purchased natural gas sold includes the absence of the prior year disallowance of $845,000 ordered by the MNPUC.
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+ Operation and maintenance increased $14.4 million.
o Primarily due to:
= Higher payroll-related costs of $12.6 million, primarily higher employee incentive accruals and straight-time payroll.
= Increased uncollectible accounts expense of $1.6 million, largely due to higher revenue.
= Higher insurance expense of $1.0 million.
= Higher software related expenses of $3900,000.
o Partially offset by:
= Lower contract services of $1.2 million, largely lower subcontract labor and consulting fees.
= Decreased other expenses, including regulatory deferrals, miscellaneous employee expenses, and gain on sale of the Company's customer service center.

Depreciation and amortization increased $5.9 million, primarily resulting from growth and replacement projects placed in service.

Taxes, other than income increased $4.1 million, largely from higher revenue-based taxes of $6.1 million which are recovered in rates, partially offset by lower property taxes due
to lower assessed values of $2.3 million.

Other income increased $17.5 million.
o Driven by:
= Higher interest income of $11.3 million, largely related to purchased gas costs.
= Higher returns on the Company's nonqualified benefit plans of $6.9 million, as discussed in Note 9.
o Offset in part by higher pension and postretirement expense.

Interest expense increased $15.4 million, primarily from higher short-term and long-term debt balances from debt issued in 2023 and 2022 and higher interest rates, partially offset
by higher AFUDC debt of $2.6 million, due to higher rates.

Income tax expense decreased $900,000 largely the result of higher permanent tax adjustments, partially offset by higher income before income taxes.

Outlook In 2024, the utility business experienced rate base growth of 6.8 percent and expects these segments will grow rate base by approximately 7 percent to 8 percent annually
over the next five years on a compound basis. Operations are spread across eight states where the Company expects customer growth to be higher than the national average. In
2024 and 2023, these segments experienced retail customer growth of approximately 1.4 percent and 1.3 percent, respectively, and the Company expects customer growth to
continue to average 1 percent to 2 percent per year. This customer growth, along with system upgrades and replacements needed to supply safe and reliable service, will require
investments in new and replacement electric and natural gas systems.

These segments are exposed to energy price volatility and may be impacted by changes in oil and natural gas exploration and production activity. Rate schedules in the jurisdictions
in which the Company's natural gas distribution segment operates contain clauses that permit the Company to file for rate adjustments for changes in the cost of purchased natural
gas. Although changes in the price of natural gas are passed through to customers and have minimal impact on the Company's earnings, the natural gas distribution segment's
customers benefit from lower natural gas prices through the Company's utilization of storage and fixed price contracts.

In May 2022, the Company began construction of Heskett Unit 4, an 88-MW simple-cycle natural gas-fired combustion turbine peaking unit at the existing Heskett Station near
Mandan, North Dakota. Heskett Unit 4 was in service and fully operational in July 2024.

Existing and proposed emissions reduction plans from the EPA could require the owners of Coyote Station to incur significant new costs. The EPA's GHG and mercury emissions
standards finalized in May 2024 would require additional pollution controls to operate beyond 2031 and 2027, respectively, with a potential extension to add pollution controls that
may be granted. If the owners decide to incur such costs, the costs could, dependent on determination by state regulatory commissions on approval to recover such costs from
customers, negatively impact the Company's results of operations, financial position and cash flows. On December 2, 2024, the EPA issued a final decision on the NDDEQ's state
implementation plan, maintaining the proposed disapproval of the state's conclusion that no additional controls are warranted during this implementation period. The EPA did not
issue a federal implementation plan in place of the state plan and would have two years from state plan disapproval to either propose a federal plan or approve a new state plan.
Coyote Station co-owners filed a petition for review with the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals on January 31, 2025, challenging EPA's NDDEQ state plan disapproval, and filed a
petition for reconsideration with the EPA on February 6, 2025. The Company is one of four owners of Coyote Station and cannot make a unilateral decision on the plant's future;
therefore, the Company could be negatively impacted by decisions of the other owners. The joint owners continue to collaborate in analyzing data and weighing decisions that
impact the plant and its employees as well as each company's customers and communities served.
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On March 4, 2023, the Company began to provide power for Applied Digital's data center near Ellendale, North Dakota under an interim electric service agreement approved by the
NDPSC, and on June 6, 2023, the NDPSC unanimously approved the Company's electric service agreement request. At full capacity, the data center requires 180 megawatts of
electricity, which is the equivalent of about 28 percent of the Company's generation portfolio. Applied Digital's load is purchased from the MISO market and does not impact other
customers' power supply. On October 2, 2023, the Company filed with the NDPSC an electric service agreement request to serve an additional 225 megawatt data center load with
Applied Digital in its service territory, which was approved on May 23, 2024. On September 5, 2024, the Company filed an amendment to the electric service agreement previously
approved by the NDPSC, increasing the service provided from 225 megawatts to 350 megawatts, which was approved on February 5, 2025. A portion of the additional data center
load is expected to be online in 2025.

On August 5, 2024, the Company filed a request with the SDPUC seeking approval on an electric service agreement to provide up to 50 megawatts of electricity to a data center
near Leola, South Dakota. Construction on the data center is scheduled to begin in the spring of 2025, pending delays due to the development of new local siting requirements for
the data center.

The Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act, commonly known as the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law, was enacted in the fourth quarter of 2021 and is providing long-term opportunities
by designating funds for investments such as upgrades to electric and grid infrastructure, transportation systems, and electric vehicle infrastructure. In addition, the IRA provides
$369 billion in new funding for clean energy programs. These programs include new tax incentives for solar, battery storage and hydrogen development along with funding to expand
the production of electric vehicles and the build out of infrastructure to support electric vehicles. The Company is pursuing various opportunities under the Grid Resilience and
Innovative Partnerships Program, which is a part of the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act, and is also pursuing a biogas property at the Knott Landfill site in Bend, Oregon
which may qualify for an investment tax credit and clean fuel production credits as part of the IRA. The Company will continue to monitor additional opportunities from these
legislative items.

Legislation and rulemaking The Company continues to monitor legislation and rulemaking related to clean energy standards that may impact its segments. Below are some of the
specific legislative actions the Company is monitoring.

» In May 2024, the EPA published four final rules, three of which will impose stricter standards on GHG emissions from existing coal-fired and new natural gas-fired generation
units, require a further reduction of mercury emissions from coal-fired generation units, and impose additional regulations around the storage and management of coal ash.

The Electric Generation and Greenhouse Gas Rule establishes GHG emissions standards for new natural gas-fired electric generating units and existing coal units. It is
anticipated this rule could affect Montana-Dakota’s jointly owned coal-fired units. The joint owners continue to evaluate compliance options. This rule is currently being
challenged before the DC Circuit Court. Montana-Dakota is participating in this challenge. Though the case has been fully briefed and oral argument has taken place, the EPA
has requested the court hold the case in abeyance in order to allow new leadership to review the underlying rule, which was granted by the court on February 19, 2025.

The Mercury and Air Toxics Standards Rule tightens mercury emissions and non-mercury metals emissions standards for coal-fired generation facilities. The stricter mercury
emissions limit for lignite-fired units will require Coyote Station to increase existing emission controls. In addition, Big Stone Station and Coyote Station must install particulate
matter continuous emissions monitoring systems to monitor compliance with the revised non-mercury metals emission standard. Compliance with the revised emission
standards and monitoring requirements must be demonstrated by May 7, 2027. This rule is likewise being challenged in the DC Circuit Court.

The Legacy Coal Combustion Residuals Rule requires utilities to evaluate older coal ash disposal units at certain inactive and active electric generating facilities. Montana-
Dakota must complete facility evaluations by February 8, 2027, to determine if legacy ash is present and assess the extent of ash on site. If legacy ash is present, Montana-
Dakota must monitor and evaluate for potential impacts and may need to conduct additional closure and remediation. The cost of additional remediation or closure activities
may be material. This rule also faces challenge in the DC Circuit Court.

The fourth rule, the Effluent Limitations Guidelines Rule is not expected to have impacts on any owned or co-owned Montana-Dakota facilities.

If the costs to comply with these rules are not fully recoverable from customers, they could have a material adverse effect on the Company's results of operations and cash
flows.

On January 20, 2025, President Trump released an Executive Order "Unleashing American Energy" that may impact these rules as it requires federal agencies within 30 days
to review rules that potentially burden the development of domestic energy resources, and develop and implement action plans to suspend, revise or rescind the rules.

» In Oregon, the Climate Protection Program Rule was approved in December 2021, which required natural gas companies to significantly reduce GHG emissions from
customer use of natural gas starting in 2022. This rule was ultimately invalidated due to a procedural issue by the Oregon Court of Appeals, with final judgement issued in
February 28, 2024.
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On July 30, 2024, the ODEQ released the proposed new Climate Protection Program Rule. On November 21, 2024, the Oregon Environmental Quality Commission adopted
the new Climate Protection Program Rule. Like the prior rule, natural gas companies are required to significantly reduce GHG emissions 50 percent below the baseline by
2035 and 90 percent below the baseline by 2050. Each year, ODEQ will distribute compliance instruments to the Company at no cost and will decline annually in step with the
reduction from baseline. The first compliance period is three years, from 2025 to 2027, with compliance demonstrations required by December 9 of the year following the end
of a compliance period. Compliance periods are two years in length thereafter. The Company intends to meet its obligations through surrendering no cost emissions
allowances and will fill remaining compliance obligations by investing in additional customer conservation and energy efficiency programs, purchasing community climate
investment credits, and purchasing low carbon fuels such as RNG. Cascade is evaluating customer bill impacts from the new rule.

Cascade began incurring expenses in 2022 to comply with the prior Climate Protection Program Rule. The OPUC has authorized Cascade, through a deferred accounting
order, to collect $4.2 million in actual 2022 and 2023 costs related to the prior Climate Protection Program Rule. The average residential customer will experience a monthly
bill increase of $1.75 or 2.4 percent. Cascade also expects the compliance costs for the new Climate Protection Program Rule to be recovered through customer rates. On
August 30, 2024, the Company filed a request for reauthorization of the use of deferred accounting for costs related to the decarbonization programs in Oregon. Due to the
timing of regulatory recovery, future compliance obligation purchases could impact the Company's operating cash flow. For more information about this rule and associated
compliance costs, see Items 1 and 2 - Business Properties.

» In Washington, the Climate Commitment Act requires natural gas distribution companies to reduce overall GHG emissions 45 percent below 1990 levels by 2030, 70 percent
below 1990 levels by 2040 and 95 percent below 1990 levels by 2050. The Company must demonstrate that it has met GHG emissions reduction goals through a combination
of on-site emissions reductions and the use of approved allowances and offsets. Some emissions allowances are allocated by the Washington DOE to the Company at no
cost and a portion of these are required to be sold at auction to generate revenue for the benefit of customers.

The Company expects compliance costs for these regulations will be recovered through customer rates. It is projected customer bills could increase substantially as a result of
the legislation. The WUTC has approved Cascade’s request for a deferred accounting order, which will allow Cascade to collect $20.6 million in compliance costs within a ten
month recovery period from June 1, 2024 through March 31, 2025. Due to the timing of regulatory recovery, the purchase of allowances could impact the Company's operating
cash flow. For more information about this rule and associated compliance costs, see ltems 1 and 2 - Business Properties.

* The Washington SBCC on November 28, 2023 and December 12, 2023, adopted residential and commercial building code amendments that will significantly limit the use of
natural gas for space and water heating in new and retrofitted commercial and multifamily buildings and proposed the review of similar restrictions in the future for residential
buildings. These amendments came after previous, similar state building code amendments were stayed by the SBCC after legal challenge by Cascade, along with two other
local natural gas distribution companies in Washington and a coalition of homeowners, builders, and suppliers. Cascade did not believe such revisions addressed the issues
which existed in the initial amendments. On May 15, 2024, the Company filed a joint complaint seeking declaratory and injunctive relief under federal law against the
Washington SBCC's adoption of the Washington State Energy Code.

Initiative Measure No. 2066, which was approved by voters, prohibits the Washington State Energy Code from "in any way prohibit, penalize, or discourage the use of gas for
any form of heating, or for uses related to any appliance or equipment, in any building." It is being challenged in the King County Superior Court. The Building Association of
Washington is concurrently litigating to enforce SBCC compliance with the initiative and is also active in the legal defense of Initiative Measure No. 2066 from activist litigation.

* On March 6, 2024, the SEC issued Final Rule 33-11275 - The Enhancement and Standardization of Climate-Related Disclosures for Investors. This rule requires registrants to
provide standardized disclosures in Form 10-K related to climate-related risks, Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions, as well as to include in a footnote to the consolidated financial
statements the financial impact of severe weather events and other natural conditions. The rule requires implementation in phases between 2025 and 2033. In April 2024, the
SEC announced that it would voluntarily stay its final climate disclosure rules pending judicial review. The Company is evaluating the rule.
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Pipeline

Strategy and challenges The pipeline segment provides natural gas transportation, underground storage and energy-related services, including cathodic protection, as
discussed in Items 1 and 2 - Business Properties. The segment focuses on utilizing its extensive expertise in the design, construction and operation of energy infrastructure and
related services to increase market share and profitability through optimization of existing operations, organic growth and investments in energy-related assets within or in close
proximity to its current operating areas. The segment focuses on the continual safety and reliability of its systems, which entails building, operating and maintaining safe natural gas
pipelines and facilities. The segment continues to evaluate growth opportunities including the expansion of natural gas facilities; incremental pipeline projects; and expansion of
energy-related services leveraging on its core competencies. In support of this strategy, the Company completed the following growth projects in 2023 and 2024:

* In November 2023, the Grasslands South Expansion project was placed in service. The project increased system capacity by 94 MMcf of natural gas per day.
» In November 2023, the Line Section 15 Expansion project was placed in service and increased system capacity by 25 MMcf of natural gas per day.

In March 2024, the 2023 Line Section 27 Expansion project was placed in service and increased system capacity by 175 MMcf of natural gas per day.

In July 2024, the Line Section 28 Expansion project was placed in service and increased system capacity by 137 MMcf of natural gas per day.

* In November 2024, the Company closed on the purchase of a 28-mile natural gas pipeline lateral in northwestern North Dakota.

» In December 2024, the Wahpeton Expansion project was placed in service and increased system capacity by approximately 20 MMcf of natural gas per day.

The segment is exposed to natural gas and oil price volatility including fluctuations in basis differentials. Legislative and regulatory initiatives on increased pipeline safety regulations
and environmental matters such as the reduction of methane emissions could also impact the price and demand for natural gas.

The pipeline segment is subject to extensive regulation related to certain operational and environmental compliance, cybersecurity, permit terms and system integrity. The Company
continues to actively evaluate cybersecurity processes and procedures, including changes in the industry's cybersecurity regulations, for opportunities to further strengthen its
cybersecurity protections. Implementation of enhancements and additional requirements is ongoing. The segment reviews and secures existing permits and easements, as well as
new permits and easements as necessary, to meet current demand and future growth opportunities on an ongoing basis.

The Company continues to actively manage the national supply chain challenges by working with its manufacturers and suppliers to help mitigate some of these risks on its
business. The segment regularly experiences extended lead times on raw materials that are critical to the segment's construction and maintenance work which could delay
maintenance work and construction projects potentially causing lost revenues and/or increased costs. The Company is partially mitigating these challenges by planning for extended
lead times further in advance. The segment is currently experiencing inflationary pressures with increased raw material and contract services costs. The Company expects supply
chain challenges and inflationary pressures to continue.

The segment focuses on the recruitment and retention of a skilled workforce to remain competitive and provide services to its customers. The industry in which it operates relies on a
skilled workforce to construct energy infrastructure and operate existing infrastructure in a safe manner. A shortage of skilled personnel can create a competitive labor market which
could increase costs incurred by the segment. Competition from other pipeline companies can also have a negative impact on the segment.
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Earnings overview - The following information summarizes the performance of the pipeline segment.

2024 vs. 2023

2023 vs. 2022

Years ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022 Variance Variance
(In millions)

Operating revenues $ 2118 $ 1776 $ 155.6 19 % 14 %
Operating expenses:

Operation and maintenance 75.7 70.8 60.9 7% 16 %

Depreciation and amortization 29.4 26.8 26.9 10 % — %

Taxes, other than income 12.2 10.8 12.3 13 % (12)%
Total operating expenses 17.3 108.4 100.1 8% 8 %
Operating income 94.5 69.2 55.5 37 % 25 %
Other income 6.5 3.9 1.3 67 % 200 %
Interest expense 15.5 13.3 10.1 17 % 32 %
Income before income taxes 85.5 59.8 46.7 43 % 28 %
Income tax expense 17.5 124 10.5 41 % 18 %
Income from continuing operations 68.0 474 36.2 43 % 31 %
Discontinued operations, net of tax* — (.5) (.9) (100)% (44)%
Net income $ 68.0 $ 469 $ 35.3 45 % 33 %

*Discontinued operations includes interest on debt facilities repaid in connection with the Knife River separation.

Operating statistics

2024 2023 2022
Transportation volumes (MMdk) 613.2 567.2 482.9
Customer natural gas storage balance (MMdk):
Beginning of period 37.7 21.2 23.0
Net injection (withdrawal) 6.4 16.5 (1.8)
End of period 441 37.7 21.2

2024 compared to 2023 Pipeline earnings increased $21.1 million as a result of:

Revenues increased $34.2 million.
o Driven by increased transportation volumes, largely due to:
= Increased transportation volumes and demand revenue from growth projects placed in service in November 2023 and throughout 2024 of $19.8 million.
> Higher storage-related revenues of $7.1 million.
> New transportation and storage rates effective August 1, 2023 of $6.7 million.
o Partially offsetting these increases was an expired negotiated contract converted to tariff rate.

Operation and maintenance increased $4.9 million.
o Primarily due to:
= Higher payroll-related costs of $3.9 million.
= Higher materials, contract services and pipeline safety fees.
o Partially offset by lower legal and consulting costs, due to absence of rate case related expenses.

Depreciation and amortization increased $2.6 million due to higher plant balances associated with growth projects placed in-service, as previously discussed, partially offset by
fully depreciated assets.

Taxes, other than income increased $1.4 million, largely resulting from higher property taxes in Montana and North Dakota.

Other income increased $2.6 million, primarily due to:
> Proceeds received from a customer settlement of $2.0 million.
> Higher interest income of $700,000.

Interest expense in continuing operations increased $2.2 million, resulting from higher debt balances to fund capital expenditures, as previously discussed, partially offset by lower
average debt rates.

Income tax expense in continuing operations increased $5.1 million, largely due to higher income before income taxes, partially offset by a decrease in the state effective rate
largely due to growth in North Dakota.
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2023 compared to 2022 Pipeline earnings increased $11.6 million as a result of:
 Revenues increased $22.0 million.
> Driven by increased transportation volume revenues, largely due to:
= Increased contracted volume commitments and a full year of benefit from the North Bakken Expansion project of $9.9 million.
= Increased transportation volumes and demand revenue from other organic growth projects placed in service in November 2023 and August 2022.
> New rates effective August 1, 2023, of $5.0 million.
o Higher storage-related revenues
> Higher non-regulated project revenues of $2.6 million.
o Partially offsetting these increases was the non-renewal of certain contracts.

Operation and maintenance increased $9.9 million.
o Primarily due to:
= Higher payroll-related costs of $6.9 million, largely related to lower incentive accruals and benefit-related costs.
= Higher non-regulated project costs of $1.2 million directly associated with higher non-regulated project revenues, as previously discussed.
= Higher contract services and insurance costs.

Depreciation and amortization decreased $100,000 due to fully depreciated plant, largely offset by higher plant balances associated with growth projects placed in-service, as
previously discussed.

Taxes, other than income decreased $1.5 million, largely resulting from lower property taxes in Montana.

Other income increased $2.6 million, primarily due to:
o Higher returns on the Company's nonqualified benefit plan investments, as discussed in Note 9.
> Higher AFUDC of $800,000 for the construction of the company's growth projects.

Interest expense in continuing operations increased $3.2 million, resulting from higher average interest rates and higher debt balances to fund capital expenditures, partially offset
by higher AFUDC, as previously discussed.

Income tax expense in continuing operations increased $1.9 million, largely due to higher income before income taxes, partially offset by permanent tax adjustments.

Outlook The Company has continued to experience the effect of associated natural gas production in the Bakken, which has provided opportunities for organic growth projects and
increased transportation demand. The completion of organic growth projects has contributed to higher volumes of natural gas the Company transports through its system. Bakken
natural gas production is currently at or near record levels and the outlook remains positive with continued growth expected due to new oil wells and increasing gas to oil ratios.

Increases in national and global natural gas supply have moderated pressure on natural gas prices and price volatility. While the Company believes there will continue to be varying
pressures on natural gas production levels and prices, the long-term outlook for natural gas prices continues to provide growth opportunity for industrial supply and demand related
projects and seasonal pricing differentials provide opportunities for natural gas storage services.

The Company continues to monitor, evaluate and implement additional GHG emissions reduction strategies, including increased monitoring frequency and emission source control
technologies to minimize potential risk.

In 2024, the EPA published several final rules related to GHG emissions from the oil and natural gas industry. These rules update, strengthen and expand standards to reduce GHG
emissions and other air pollutants from new and existing oil and gas facilities, revise the GHG reporting rules to improve the monitoring, measurement, calculation and reporting of
GHG data, and incorporate the Waste Emissions Charge provisions from the IRA. The Company continues to monitor and assess these rulemakings and the potential impacts they
may have on its business processes, current and future projects, results of operations and disclosures.

The Company continues to focus on improving existing operations and growth opportunities through organic projects in all areas in which it operates, which includes additional
projects with local distribution companies, Bakken area producers, electric generation customers and industrial customers in various stages of development, including:

»  Signed agreements for an expansion project, to serve a new electric generation facility in northwest North Dakota, with a targeted in-service date of late 2028.

. Potential Bakken East Pipeline project, which could consist of 375 miles of pipeline construction from western North Dakota to the eastern part of the state. A non-binding
open season for the project concluded on January 31, 2025. The Company is currently evaluating the results.

See Capital Expenditures within this section for information on the expenditures related to these growth projects.
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2024 vs. 2023 2023 vs. 2022
Years ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022 Variance Variance
(In millions)

Operating revenues $ 23 2% A — % 100 %
Operating expenses:

Operation and maintenance 13.3 24.9 21.6 47)% 15 %

Depreciation and amortization 2.2 4.1 4.4 (46)% (7%

Taxes, other than income 4 4 .3 — % 33 %
Total operating expenses 15.9 29.4 26.3 (46)% 12 %
Operating loss (15.7) (29.2) (26.2) (46)% 1 %
Gain on tax-free exchange of retained shares in Knife
River — 186.6 — (100)% 100 %
Other income (expense) 16.6 16.4 (1.3) 1% NM
Interest expense 15.0 19.3 5 (22)% NM
Income (loss) before income taxes (14.1) 154.5 (28.0) (109)% NM
Income tax benefit (5.5) (8.1) (6.8) (32)% 19 %
Income (loss) from continuing operations (8.6) 162.6 (21.2) (105)% NM
Discontinued operations, net of tax 100.0 85.1 2511 18 % (66)%
Net income $ 914 $ 2477 $ 229.9 (63)% 8 %

NM - not meaningful

The Company completed the separations of Knife River, its former construction materials and contracting segment, on May 31, 2023 and Everus, its former construction services
segment, on October 31, 2024, into new independent publicly-traded companies. As a result of these separations, the historical results of operations for Knife River and Everus are
shown in discontinued operations, net of tax, except for allocated general corporate overhead costs of the company, which did not meet the criteria for discontinued operations and
are reflected in Other. Also included in discontinued operations are certain strategic initiative costs associated with the separations of Knife River and Everus.

Also included in Other is insurance activity at the Company's captive insurer and general and administrative costs and interest expense previously allocated to the exploration and
production and refining businesses that did not meet the criteria for discontinued operations.

Other earnings decreased by $156.3 million from 2023, primarily due to the absence of the Company's 2023 gain of $186.6 million related to the tax-free exchange of its retained
shares in Knife River. Partially offsetting the decrease in net income was lower operation and maintenance expense, largely a result of corporate overhead costs classified as
continuing operations allocated to the construction materials business in 2023, which are not included in Other in 2024, and lower strategic initiative costs which did not meet the
criteria for discontinued operations. Other also benefited from higher income from discontinued operations, as well as lower interest expense due to lower borrowings associated
with funding strategic initiatives.

Intersegment Transactions

Amounts presented in the preceding tables will not agree with the Consolidated Statements of Income due to the Company's elimination of intersegment transactions. The amounts
related to these items were as follows:

Years ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022

(In millions)

Intersegment transactions:

Operating revenues $ 69.6 $ 63.1 $ 59.3
Operation and maintenance $ 0.7 $ 10 $ 1.1
Purchased natural gas sold $ 689 $ 621 $ 58.2
Other income $ 154 $ 136 $ 0.6
Interest expense $ 154 $ 136 $ 0.6

For more information on intersegment eliminations, see Item 8 - Note 17.
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Liquidity and Capital Commitments

At December 31, 2024, the Company had cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of $66.9 million and available borrowing capacity of $484.6 million under the outstanding credit
facilities of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Company expects to meet its obligations for debt maturing within one year and its other operating and capital requirements from
various sources, including internally generated funds; credit facilities and commercial paper of the Company and its subsidiaries, as described in Capital resources; and issuance of

debt and equity securities if necessary.

Cash flows
Years ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022
(In millions)

Net cash provided by (used in)

Operating activities $ 502.3 $ 3326 $ 510.0

Investing activities (552.7) (540.7) (638.9)

Financing activities 40.3 204.6 155.2
(Decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted
cash (10.1) (3.5) 26.3
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash -- beginning of year 77.0 80.5 54.2
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash -- end of year $ 669 $ 770 $ 80.5
Operating activities

2024 vs. 2023 2023 vs. 2022
Years ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022 Variance Variance
(In millions)

Income from continuing operations $ 1811 $ 330.1 $ 117.3 $ (149.0) $ 212.8
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities 190.2 3.3 225.8 186.9 (222.5)
Changes in current assets and current liabilities, net of acquisitions:

Receivables (30.3) 791 91.2) (109.4) 170.3

Inventories 2 (21.7) 2 21.9 (21.9)

Other current assets 81.0 (48.5) 14.5 129.5 (63.0)

Accounts payable (.4) (87.2) 84.6 86.8 (171.8)

Other current liabilities (5.3) 73.4 (26.9) (78.7) 100.3
Pension and postretirement benefit plan contributions (3.0) (7.6) (.1) 4.6 (7.5)
Other noncurrent changes (1.7) (15.6) (2.6) 13.9 (13.0)
Net cash provided by continuing operations 411.8 305.3 321.6 106.5 (16.3)
Net cash provided by discontinued operations 90.5 27.3 188.4 63.2 (161.1)
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 502.3 $ 3326 $ 510.0 $ 169.7 $ (177.4)

The changes in cash flows from operating activities generally follow the results of operations as discussed in Business Segment Financial and Operating Data and are affected by

changes in working capital.

The increase in cash flows provided by operating activities in 2024 from 2023 was largely driven by an increase in cash from other current assets, primarily the collection of
purchased gas cost and fuel cost adjustment balances at the natural gas distribution and electric businesses. Also contributing was lower cash used in accounts payable, primarily
related to the payment of natural gas costs at the natural gas distribution business, and higher cash provided by discontinued operations in 2024. Partially offsetting these items was
a decrease of cash from accounts receivable, largely due to lower gas costs in 2024 compared to 2023 at the natural gas distribution business.

The decrease in cash flows provided by operating activities in 2023 from 2022 was largely driven by the payment of increased natural gas costs and the purchase/sale of
environmental allowances in 2023, as discussed in Note 7, all at the natural gas distribution business. Also contributing were lower cash provided by discontinued operations,
primarily cash used at Knife River in the five months of 2023 compared to cash provided by Knife River in the twelve months of 2022 and higher costs incurred in 2023 associated
with the Knife River separation. Partially offsetting these items was higher cash from receivables due to the timing of collection of accounts receivable from customers at the natural

gas distribution business.
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Investing activities
2024 vs. 2023 2023 vs. 2022

Years ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022 Variance Variance
(In millions)

Capital expenditures $ (522.8) $ (484.1) $ (442.5) $ (38.7) $ (41.6)
Net proceeds from sale or disposition of property 0.7 0.2 — 5 2
Cost of removal, net of salvage value (5.5) 1.2 (11.8) (6.7) 13.0
Investments (5.2) (2.4) (2.6) (2.8) 2
Proceeds from investment cost basis withdrawal 9.0 20.0 — (11.0) 20.0
Net cash used in continuing operations (523.8) (465.1) (456.9) (58.7) (8.2)
Net cash used in discontinued operations (28.9) (75.6) (182.0) 46.7 106.4
Net cash used in investing activities $ (552.7) $ (540.7) $ (638.9) $ (12.0) $ 98.2

The increase in cash used in investing activities in 2024 from 2023 was primarily due to higher capital expenditures at the natural gas distribution business, increased capital
expenditures at the pipeline businesses for its expansion projects and lower receipt of proceeds from the withdrawal of cost basis from insurance policies in 2024 than in 2023. This
was largely offset by lower cash used in discontinued operations due to activity for Everus for ten months in 2024 compared to the full year in 2023 and Knife River activity for five
months in 2023.

The decrease in cash used in investing activities in 2023 from 2022 was primarily the result of lower cash used in discontinued operations due to Knife River activity in the five
months of 2023 versus twelve months of 2022, the receipt of proceeds from the withdrawal of cost basis from insurance policies in 2023, and the absence of 2022 plant removal
costs at the electric business. This was partially offset by higher capital expenditures at the pipeline business for its expansion projects and increased capital expenditures at the
natural gas distribution business, primarily higher natural gas distribution system improvements related to increased capacity, largely offset by lower capital expenditures for electric
production and transmission projects.

Financing activities
2024 vs. 2023 2023 vs. 2022

Years ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022 Variance Variance
(In millions)

Issuance of short-term borrowings $ — 3 810.0 $ 11.5 $ (810.0) $ 798.5
Repayment of short-term borrowings (95.0) (433.9) — 338.9 (433.9)
Issuance of long-term debt 308.6 594.7 215.0 (286.1) 379.7
Repayment of long-term debt (182.1) (568.9) (38.8) 386.8 (5630.1)
Debt issuance costs (2.5) (2.5) (1.1) — (1.4)
Costs of issuance of common stock (1) — (.2) (.1) 2
Dividends paid (102.9) (161.3) (176.9) 58.4 15.6
Repurchase of common stock — (4.8) (7.4) 4.8 2.6
Tax withholding on stock-based compensation (2.6) (3.1) (4.9) 15 1.8
Net cash (used in) provided by continuing operations (76.6) 230.2 (2.8) (306.8) 233.0
Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations 116.9 (25.6) 158.0 142.5 (183.6)
Net cash provided by financing activities $ 40.3 $ 2046 $ 155.2 $ (164.3) $ 494

The decrease in cash provided by financing activities in 2024 from 2023 was primarily due to the absence of the 2023 issuance of short-term borrowings associated with the debt for
equity exchange of the Knife River retained shares, as well as the absence of the 2023 issuance of short-term borrowings at the natural gas distribution business used to fund higher
natural gas costs. Further driving the decrease was lower issuance of long-term debt, primarily the absence of the 2023 issuances by the Company, largely used to replace the
Centennial debt. Partially offsetting these items was the absence of higher repayments in 2023 of long-term and short-term borrowings, as Centennial repaid all of its outstanding
debt in the second quarter of 2023 due to the Knife River separation, and increased cash provided by discontinued operations. In addition, lower dividends were paid in 2024 due to
a change in the targeted dividend payout ratio after the Knife River separation.

The increase in cash provided by financing activities in 2023 from 2022 was primarily due to higher issuance of short-term borrowings associated with the debt for equity exchange
of the Knife River retained shares, as well as the issuance of short-term borrowings at the natural gas distribution business to fund higher natural gas costs. Also contributing was
higher issuance of long-term debt at the Company to replace the Centennial debt repayment and to fund capital expenditures. Partially offsetting the increase was higher
repayments of short-term and long-term debt at the natural gas distribution businesses. In addition, due to the Knife River separation, Centennial repaid all of its outstanding debt in
the second quarter of 2023, which was facilitated by the Knife River repayment and the Company entering into various new debt instruments. Refer to Note 3 for additional
information related to the repayment of debt associated with the Knife River separation. The variance of cash used in discontinued operations in 2023 compared to cash provided by
discontinued operations in 2022 also contributed to the increase offset.
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Defined benefit pension plans

The Company has noncontributory qualified defined benefit pension plans for certain employees. Plan assets consist of investments in equity and fixed-income securities. Various
actuarial assumptions are used in calculating the benefit expense (income) and liability (asset) related to the pension plans. Actuarial assumptions include assumptions about the
discount rate and expected return on plan assets. For 2024, the Company assumed a long-term rate of return on its qualified defined pension plan assets of 6.5 percent. Due to a
difference between the actual and assumed long-term rate of return the Company experienced a decrease in the qualified defined pension plan assets. Differences between
actuarial assumptions and actual plan results are deferred and amortized into expense when the accumulated differences exceed 10 percent of the greater of the projected benefit
obligation or the market-related value of plan assets. Therefore, this change in asset values will be reflected in future expenses of the plans beginning in 2025. The funded status of
the plans improved $2.3 million from prior year, primarily from liability gains due to a higher discount rate.

At December 31, 2024, the pension plans' accumulated benefit obligations exceeded these plans' assets by approximately $24.7 million. Pretax pension expense reflected in the
Consolidated Statements of Income for the year ended December 31, 2024 was $835,000. Pretax pension income reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, was $580,000 and $2.3 million, respectively. The Company's pension expense is currently projected to be approximately $3.4 million in 2025.
Funding for the pension plans is actuarially determined. The Company expects to contribute the minimum funding requirement of $1.7 million in 2025. For the year ended December
31, 2024, the Company contributed the minimum funding requirement of $2.9 million. There were no minimum required contributions for the years ended December 31, 2023, or
2022 due to an additional contribution of $20.0 million in 2019, which created prefunding credits that were used in future periods. For more information on the Company's pension
plans, see Item 8 - Note 18.

Capital expenditures
The Company's capital expenditures, excluding discontinued operations, for 2022 through 2024 and as anticipated for 2025 through 2027 are summarized in the following table.

Actual (b) Estimated
2022 2023 2024 (c) 2025 2026 2027
(In millions)

Capital expenditures:

Electric $ 134 % 110 $ 116 $ 154§ 494 § 205

Natural gas distribution 240 275 285 310 258 293

Pipeline 62 116 127 69 59 95
Total capital expenditures (a)(d) $ 436 $ 501 $ 528 $ 533 % 811 $ 593

(a)Capital expenditures for 2022 and 2023 are reported as gross capital expenditures. Capital expenditures for 2024, and estimated expenditures for 2025
through 2027 are reported on a net basis.

(b)Capital expenditures for 2024, 2023 and 2022 include noncash transactions such as capital expenditure-related accounts payable and AFUDC totaling
$7.1 million, $(13.6) million and $4.4 million, respectively.

(c)2024 capital expenditures were funded by cash provided from operating activities, long-term debt issuances and borrowings under credit facilities and
issuance of commercial paper of the Company and its subsidiaries.

(d)Excludes Other category.

Planned utility investments in the Company's estimated capital expenditures for 2025 through 2027 include construction of electric transmission lines and substations, as well as
natural gas delivery infrastructure, to serve a customer base that is expected to continue growing at 1 percent to 2 percent annually over the next five years, construction of JETx,
power generation projects, and replace and modernize existing electric and natural gas utility infrastructure to ensure continued safe and reliable service to customers. At the
pipeline business, the Company will focus on system growth to expand natural gas transmission capacity. A number of projects are included in the planned investments. For more
information on the Company's growth projects, see Business Segment Financial and Operating Data.

Other estimated capital expenditures for the years 2025 through 2027 include those for:

System upgrades

Routine replacements

Service extensions

RNG infrastructure projects

Routine equipment maintenance and replacements

Buildings, land and building improvements

Pipeline and natural gas storage projects

Transmission opportunities

Environmental upgrades

Other growth opportunities
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The Company continues to evaluate potential future acquisitions and other growth opportunities that would be incremental to the outlined capital program; however, they are
dependent upon the availability of economic opportunities and, as a result, capital expenditures may vary significantly from the estimates in the preceding table. The Company
continuously monitors its capital expenditures for project delays and changes in economic viability and adjusts as necessary. It is anticipated that all of the funds required for capital
expenditures for the years 2025 through 2027 will be funded by various sources, including internally generated funds; credit facilities and commercial paper of the Company and its
subsidiaries, as described later; and issuance of debt and equity securities if necessary.

Capital resources
The Company requires significant cash to support and grow its businesses. The primary sources of cash other than cash generated from operating activities are cash from revolving
credit facilities, the issuance of long-term debt and the sale of equity securities.

Debt resources

Certain debt instruments of the Company and its subsidiaries contain restrictive and financial covenants and cross-default provisions. In order to borrow under the respective debt
agreements, the Company and its subsidiaries must be in compliance with the applicable covenants and certain other conditions, all of which the Company and its subsidiaries, as
applicable, were in compliance with at December 31, 2024. In the event the Company or its subsidiaries do not comply with the applicable covenants and other conditions,
alternative sources of funding may need to be pursued. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had investment grade credit ratings at all entities issuing debt which carried public
ratings. For more information on the covenants, certain other conditions and cross-default provisions, see Item 8 - Note 10.

Total equity as a percent of total capitalization was 54 percent at December 31, 2024 and 55 percent at December 31, 2023. This ratio is calculated as the Company's total equity,
divided by the Company's total capital. Total capital is the Company's total debt, including debt in discontinued operations and including short-term borrowings and long-term debt

due within 12 months, plus total equity. Management believes this ratio is an indicator of how the Company is financing its operations, as well as its financial strength.

The following table summarizes the outstanding revolving credit facilities of the Company's subsidiaries at December 31, 2024:

Facility Amount Letters Expiration

Company Facility Limit Outstanding of Credit Date
(In millions)
Commercial paper/Revolving credit agreement

Montana-Dakota Utilities Co. (a) $ 200.0 $ 814 $ — 10/18/28
Cascade Natural Gas Corporation Revolving credit agreement $ 175.0 (b) $ 646 $ 2.2 (c) 6/20/29
Intermountain Gas Company Revolving credit agreement $ 175.0 (b) $ 105.1 $ — 6/20/29
MDU Resources Group, Inc. Revolving credit agreement $ 2000 (d) $ — 12.1 (c) 5/31/28

(a) The commercial paper program is supported by a revolving credit agreement with various banks (provisions allow for increased borrowings, at the option of Montana-Dakota on stated conditions, up to a
maximum of $250.0 million). At December 31, 2024, there were no amounts outstanding under the revolving credit agreement.

Certain provisions allow for increased borrowings, up to a maximum of $225.0 million.

Outstanding letter(s) of credit reduce the amount available under the credit agreement.

Certain provisions allow for increased borrowings, up to a maximum of $250.0 million.

b

(
(c
d

Montana-Dakota On October 18, 2023, Montana-Dakota amended and restated its revolving credit agreement to increase the borrowing capacity to $200.0 million and extend the
maturity date to October 18, 2028. Montana-Dakota's revolving credit agreement supports its commercial paper program. While the amount of commercial paper outstanding does
not reduce available capacity under the revolving credit agreement, Montana-Dakota does not issue commercial paper in an aggregate amount exceeding the available capacity
under the credit agreement. The commercial paper and revolving credit agreement borrowings may vary during the period, largely the result of fluctuations in working capital
requirements due to the seasonality of certain operations of Montana-Dakota. Commercial paper borrowings under this agreement are classified as long-term debt as they are
intended to be refinanced on a long-term basis through continued commercial paper borrowings. The credit agreement contains customary covenants and provisions, including
covenants of Montana-Dakota not to permit, as of the end of any fiscal quarter, the ratio of funded debt to total capitalization (determined on a consolidated basis) to be greater than
65 percent. Other covenants include limitations on the sale of certain assets and on the making of certain loans and investments.

On July 11, 2024, Montana-Dakota issued $125.0 million of senior notes under a note purchase agreement with maturity dates ranging from July 11, 2039 to July 11, 2054, at a
weighted average interest rate of 5.96 percent. The agreement contains customary covenants and provisions, including a covenant of Montana-Dakota not to permit, at any time, the
ratio of total debt to capitalization to be greater than 65 percent. The covenants also include certain restrictions on the sale of certain assets, loans and investments.

Cascade On June 20, 2024, Cascade amended and restated its revolving credit agreement to increase the borrowing capacity from $100.0 million to $175.0 million and extend the
maturity date to June 20, 2029. Any borrowings under the revolving credit agreement are classified as long-term debt as they are intended to be refinanced on a long-term basis
through continued borrowings. The credit agreement contains customary covenants and provisions, including a covenant of Cascade not to permit, at any time, the ratio of total debt
to total capitalization to be greater than 65 percent. Other covenants include restrictions on the sale of certain assets, limitations on indebtedness and the making of certain
investments.
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On January 20, 2023, Cascade entered into a $150.0 million term loan agreement with a SOFR-based variable interest rate and a maturity date of January 19, 2024. On December
5, 2023, Cascade paid down $100.0 million of the outstanding balance, with the final $50.0 million repayment made on January 19, 2024.

Intermountain On June 20, 2024, Intermountain amended and restated its revolving credit agreement to increase the borrowing capacity from $100.0 million to $175.0 million and
extend the maturity date to June 20, 2029. Any borrowings under the revolving credit agreement are classified as long-term debt as they are intended to be refinanced on a long-
term basis through continued borrowings. The credit agreement contains customary covenants and provisions, including a covenant of Intermountain not to permit, at any time, the
ratio of total debt to total capitalization to be greater than 65 percent. Other covenants include restrictions on the sale of certain assets, limitations on indebtedness and the making of
certain investments.

On January 20, 2023, Intermountain entered into a $125.0 million term loan agreement with a SOFR-based variable interest rate and a maturity date of January 19, 2024. In March,
April and May 2023, Intermountain paid down $20.0 million, $30.0 million and $30.0 million, respectively, of the outstanding balance, with the final $45.0 million repayment made on
January 19, 2024.

MDU Resources Group, Inc. On May 31, 2023, the Company entered into a $200.0 million revolving credit agreement with a SOFR-based variable interest rate and a maturity date
of May 31, 2028. Any borrowings under the revolving credit agreement are classified as long-term debt as they are intended to be refinanced on a long-term basis through continued
borrowings. The credit agreement contains customary covenants and provisions, including a covenant of the Company not to permit, at any time, the ratio of total debt to total
capitalization to be greater than 65 percent. The covenants also include certain restrictions on the sale of certain assets, loans and investments.

On May 31, 2023, the Company entered into a $375.0 million term loan agreement with a SOFR-based variable interest rate and a maturity date of May 31, 2025. On November 15,
2023, the Company paid down $185.0 million of this term loan. On November 1, 2024, the Company repaid its remaining outstanding balance of $190.0 million and the term loan
agreement subsequently terminated. The Company's repayment was funded by the Everus repayment of debt in connection with the separation.

On May 31, 2023, the Company entered into a $150.0 million revolving credit agreement with a SOFR-based variable interest rate and a maturity date of May 29, 2024. At
December 31, 2023, the Company had no amount outstanding, which remained that way until this agreement matured and subsequently terminated in May 2024.

WBI Energy Transmission \WWBI Energy Transmission has a $350.0 million uncommitted note purchase and private shelf agreement with an expiration date of December 22, 2025.
WBI Energy Transmission had $235.0 million of notes outstanding at December 31, 2024, which reduced the remaining capacity under this uncommitted private shelf agreement to

$115.0 million. This agreement contains customary covenants and provisions, including a covenant of WBI Energy Transmission not to permit, as of the end of any fiscal quarter, the
ratio of total debt to total capitalization to be greater than 55 percent. Other covenants include a limitation on priority debt, restrictions on the sale of certain assets and the making of
certain investments.

On April 1, 2024, WBI Energy Transmission entered into a $60.0 million term loan agreement with an interest rate of 4.52 percent and a maturity date of April 1, 2039, with the
principal to be repaid in equal annual installments of $4.0 million each, beginning March 2025 and continuing through the maturity date. The agreement contains customary
covenants and provisions, including a covenant of WBI Energy Transmission not to permit, at any time, the ratio of total debt to total capitalization to be greater than 65 percent. The
covenants also include certain restrictions on the sale of certain assets, loans and investments.

Dividend restrictions
For information on the Company's dividends and dividend restrictions, see Item 8 - Note 12.
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Material cash requirements
For more information on the Company's contractual obligations on long-term debt, operating leases and purchase commitments, see
Item 8 - Notes 10 and 21. At December 31, 2024, the Company's material cash requirements under these obligations were as follows:

Less than 1 More than 5
year 1-3 years 3-5 years years Total
(In millions)

Long-term debt maturities* $ 161.7 $ 1694 § 4055 $ 1,562.4 $ 2,299.0
Estimated interest payments** 107.8 194.8 167.5 901.3 1,371.4
Operating leases 3.0 4.7 3.1 20.8 31.6
Purchase commitments 658.0 521.1 324.7 1,221.1 2,724.9
$ 930.5 $ 890.0 $ 900.8 $ 3,705.6 $ 6,426.9

*

Unamortized debt issuance costs and discount are excluded from the table.
**  Represents the estimated interest payments associated with the Company's long-term debt outstanding at December 31, 2024, assuming current interest
rates and consistent amounts outstanding until their respective maturity dates over the periods indicated in the table above.

Material short-term cash requirements of the Company include repayment of outstanding borrowings and interest payments on those agreements, payments on operating lease
agreements, payment of obligations on purchase commitments and asset retirement obligations. At December 31, 2024, the current portion of asset retirement obligations was
$296,000 and was included in Other accrued liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Material long-term cash requirements of the Company include repayment of outstanding borrowings and interest payments on those agreements, payments on operating lease
agreements, payment of obligations on purchase commitments and asset retirement obligations. At December 31, 2024, the Company had total liabilities of $406.6 million related to
asset retirement obligations that are excluded from the table above. Due to the nature of these obligations, the Company cannot determine precisely when the payments will be
made to settle these obligations. For more information, see Item 8 - Note 11.

Not reflected in the previous table are $1.4 million in uncertain tax positions at December 31, 2024.

The Company's minimum funding requirements for its defined benefit pension plans for 2025, which are not reflected in the previous table, is $1.7 million. For information on
potential contributions above the funding minimum requirements, see item 8 - Note 18.

The Company's MEPP contributions are based on union employee payroll, which cannot be determined in advance for future periods. The Company may also be required to make
additional contributions to its MEPP as a result of its funded status. For more information, see Item 1A - Risk Factors and Item 8 - Note 18.

New Accounting Standards
For information regarding new accounting standards, see Item 8 - Note 2, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The Company has prepared its financial statements in conformity with GAAP. The preparation of its financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, at the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Management reviews these estimates and assumptions based on historical experience, changes in business conditions and
other relevant factors believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Critical accounting estimates are defined as estimates that require management to make assumptions about matters that are uncertain at the time the estimate was made and
changes in the estimates could have a material impact on the Company's financial position or results of operations. The Company's critical accounting estimates are subject to
judgments and uncertainties that affect the application of its significant accounting policies discussed in ltem 8 - Note 2. As additional information becomes available, or actual
amounts are determinable, the recorded estimates are revised. Consequently, the Company's financial position or results of operations may be materially different when reported
under different conditions or when using different assumptions in the application of the following critical accounting estimates.
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Goodwill

The Company performs its goodwill impairment testing annually in the fourth quarter. In addition, the test is performed on an interim basis whenever events or circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of goodwill may not be recoverable. Examples of such events or circumstances may include a significant adverse change in business climate, weakness in
an industry in which the Company's reporting units operate or recent significant cash or operating losses with expectations that those losses will continue.

The Company has determined that the reporting units for its goodwill impairment test are its operating segments, or components of an operating segment, that constitute a business
for which discrete financial information is available and for which segment management regularly reviews the operating results. As of December 31, 2024, the only operating
segment with goodwill was the natural gas distribution segment. For more information on the Company's operating segments, see Item 8 - Note 17.

Goodwill impairment, if any, is measured by comparing the fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying value. If the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, the
goodwill of the reporting unit is not impaired. If the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the Company must record an impairment loss for the amount that the
carrying value of the reporting unit, including goodwill, exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, there were no
impairment losses recorded.

At October 31, 2024, the Company's annual impairment testing indicated there was no impairment at its natural gas distribution reporting unit or Everus, its former construction
services reporting unit. The estimated fair value of the natural gas distribution reporting unit substantially exceeded its carrying value ("cushion"), which includes $345.7 million of
goodwill, by approximately 31 percent. The increase in the natural gas distribution reporting unit's cushion from the prior year was primarily attributable to the risk adjusted cost of
capital decreasing from 6.7 percent in 2023 to 5.9 percent in 2024, which directly correlates with the treasury rates at the date of the test.

Determining the fair value of a reporting unit requires judgment and the use of significant estimates which include assumptions about the Company's future revenue, profitability and
cash flows, long-term growth rates, amount and timing of estimated capital expenditures, inflation rates, risk adjusted cost of capital, operational plans, and current and future
economic conditions, among others. The fair value of each reporting unit is determined using a weighted combination of income and market approaches. The Company believes that
the estimates and assumptions used in its impairment assessments are reasonable and based on available market information.

The Company uses a discounted cash flow methodology for its income approach. Under the income approach, the discounted cash flow model determines fair value based on the
present value of projected cash flows over a specified period and a residual value related to future cash flows beyond the projection period. Both values are discounted using a rate
which reflects the best estimate of the risk adjusted cost of capital at each reporting unit. The risk adjusted cost of capital was 5.9 percent, 6.7 percent and 6.4 percent for 2024,
2023 and 2022, respectively for its natural gas distribution reporting unit.

Under the market approach, the Company estimates fair value using various multiples derived from enterprise value to EBITDA for comparative peer companies. These multiples are
applied to operating data to arrive at an indication of fair value. In addition, the Company also uses a rate base multiple, based on recent comparable industry transactions. With the
exception of the rate base trading multiple, the Company adds a reasonable control premium when calculating the fair value utilizing the peer multiples, which is estimated as the
premium that would be received in a sale in an orderly transaction between market participants. The Company used a 20 percent control premium in 2024, 2023 and 2022.

The Company uses significant judgment in estimating its five-year forecast. The assumptions underlying cash flow projections are in sync as applicable with the Company's strategy
and assumptions. Future projections are heavily correlated with the current year results of operations. Future results of operations may vary due to economic and financial impacts.
The long-term growth rates are developed by management based on industry data, management's knowledge of the industry and management's strategic plans, which was 3.0
percent in 2024 and 2023 and 2.85 percent in 2022.

Regulatory accounting

The Company is subject to rate regulation by state public service commissions and/or the FERC. Regulatory assets generally represent incurred or accrued costs that have been
deferred and are expected to be recovered in rates charged to customers. Regulatory liabilities generally represent amounts that are expected to be refunded to customers in future
rates or amounts collected in current rates for future costs.

Management continually assesses the likelihood of recovery in future rates of incurred costs and refunds to customers associated with regulatory assets and liabilities. Decisions
made by the various regulatory agencies can directly impact the amount and timing of these items. Therefore, expected recovery or refund of these deferred items generally is based
on specific ratemaking decisions or precedent for each item. If future recovery of costs is no longer probable, the Company would be required to include those costs in the statement
of income or accumulated other comprehensive loss in the period in which it is no longer deemed probable. The Company believes that the accounting subject to rate regulation
remains appropriate and its regulatory assets are probable of recovery in current rates or in future rate proceedings. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company's regulatory
assets were $537.8 million and $619.6 million, respectively, and regulatory liabilities were $596.3 million and $591.8 million, respectively. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, regulatory
assets in recovery were $478.5 million and $496.1 million, respectively, and regulatory assets not in recovery were $59.3 million and $123.5 million, respectively.
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Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. The recognition of revenue requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenue. The
accuracy of revenues reported on the Consolidated Financial Statements depends on, among other things, management's estimates of total costs to complete projects because the
Company used the cost-to-cost measure of progress on construction contracts for revenue recognition. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company's
total construction contract revenue, was $2.3 billion, $2.8 billion and $2.6 billion, respectively, which is reflected is discontinued operations due to the separations of Knife River and
Everus.

To determine the proper revenue recognition method for contracts, the Company evaluates whether two or more contracts should be combined and accounted for as one single
contract and whether the combined or single contract should be accounted for as more than one performance obligation. This evaluation requires significant judgment and the
decision to combine a group of contracts or separate the combined or single contract into multiple performance obligations could change the amount of revenue and profit recorded
in a given period. For most contracts, the customer contracts with the Company to provide a significant service of integrating a complex set of tasks and components into a single
project. Hence, the Company's contracts are generally accounted for as one performance obligation.

The Company recognized construction contract revenue over time using an input method based on the cost-to-cost measure of progress for contracts because it best depicts the
transfer of assets to the customer which occurs as the Company incurs costs on the contract. Under the cost-to-cost measure of progress, the costs incurred are compared with total
estimated costs of a performance obligation. Revenues are recorded proportionately to the costs incurred. This method depends largely on the ability to make reasonably
dependable estimates related to the extent of progress toward completion of the contract, contract revenues and contract costs. Since contract prices are generally set before the
work is performed, the estimates pertaining to every project could contain significant unknown risks such as volatile labor, material and fuel costs, weather delays, adverse project
site conditions, unforeseen actions by regulatory agencies, performance by subcontractors, job management and relations with project owners. Changes in estimates could have a
material effect on the Company's results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

Several factors were evaluated in determining the bid price for contract work. These include, but are not limited to, the complexities of the job, past history performing similar types of
work, seasonal weather patterns, competition and market conditions, job site conditions, work force safety, reputation of the project owner, availability of labor, materials and fuel,
project location and project completion dates. As a project commences, estimates were continually monitored and revised as information became available and actual costs and
conditions surrounding the job became known. If a loss was anticipated on a contract, the loss was immediately recognized.

Contracts are often modified to account for changes in contract specifications and requirements. The Company considered contract modifications to exist when the modification
either created new or changes the existing enforceable rights and obligations. Generally, contract modifications were for goods or services that are not distinct from the existing
contract due to the significant integration of services provided in the context of the contract and were accounted for as if they were part of that existing contract. The effect of a
contract modification on the transaction price and the measure of progress for the performance obligation to which it relates, was recognized as an adjustment to revenue on a
cumulative catch-up basis.

The Company's construction contracts generally contained variable consideration including liquidated damages, performance bonuses or incentives, claims, unpriced change orders
and penalties or index pricing. The variable amounts usually arose upon achievement of certain performance metrics or change in project scope. The Company estimated the
amount of revenue to be recognized on variable consideration using one of the two prescribed estimation methods, the expected value method or the most likely amount method,
depending on which method best predicted the most likely amount of consideration the Company expected to be entitled to or expected to incur. Assumptions as to the occurrence of
future events and the likelihood and amount of variable consideration were made during the contract performance period. Estimates of variable consideration and assessment of
anticipated performance and all information (historical, current and forecasted) that was reasonably available to management. The Company only included variable consideration in
the estimated transaction price to the extent it was probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized would not occur or when the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration was resolved. Changes in circumstances could have impacted management's estimates made in determining the value of variable consideration recorded.
When determining if the variable consideration was constrained, the Company considered if factors existed that could increase the likelihood of the magnitude of a potential reversal
of revenue. The Company updated its estimate of the transaction price each reporting period and the effect of variable consideration on the transaction price was recognized as an
adjustment to revenue on a cumulative catch-up basis.

The Company believes its estimates surrounding the cost-to-cost method are reasonable based on the information that is known when the estimates are made. The Company has
contract administration, accounting and management control systems in place that allow its estimates to be updated and monitored on a regular basis. Because of the many factors
that are evaluated in determining bid prices, it is inherent that the Company's estimates have changed in the past as new information became available for each job.

Pension and other postretirement benefits

The Company has noncontributory defined benefit pension plans and other postretirement benefit plans for certain eligible employees. Various actuarial assumptions are used in
calculating the benefit expense (income) and liability (asset) related to these plans. Costs of providing pension and other postretirement benefits bear the risk of change, as they are
dependent upon numerous factors based on assumptions of future conditions.
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The Company makes various assumptions when determining plan costs, including the current discount rates and the expected long-term return on plan assets, actuarially
determined mortality data and health care cost trend rates. In selecting the expected long-term return on plan assets, which is considered to be one of the key variables in
determining benefit expense or income, the Company considers historical returns, current market conditions, the mix of investments and expected future market trends, including
changes in interest rates and equity and bond market performance. Another key variable in determining benefit expense or income is the discount rate. In selecting the discount rate,
the Company matches forecasted future cash flows of the pension and postretirement plans to a yield curve which consists of a hypothetical portfolio of high-quality corporate bonds
with varying maturity dates, as well as other factors, as a basis. The Company's pension and other postretirement benefit plan assets are primarily made up of equity and fixed-
income investments. Fluctuations in actual equity and bond market returns, as well as changes in general interest rates, may result in increased or decreased pension and other
postretirement benefit costs in the future. Health care cost trend rates are determined by historical and future trends.

The Company believes the estimates made for its pension and other postretirement benefits are reasonable based on the information that is known when the estimates are made.
These estimates and assumptions are subject to a number of variables and are expected to change in the future. Estimates and assumptions will be affected by changes in the
discount rate, the expected long-term return on plan assets and health care cost trend rates. A 50 basis point change in the assumed discount rate and the expected long-term return
on plan assets would have had the following effects at December 31, 2024:

Pension Benefits Other Postretirement Benefits
50 Basis Point 50 Basis Point 50 Basis Point 50 Basis Point
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
Discount rate (In millions)
Projected benefit obligation as of December 31, 2024 $ (10.5) $ 1.3 $ (1.5) $ 1.6
Net periodic benefit cost (credit) for 2025 $ 1% (1) $ (2) % 2
Expected long-term return on plan assets
Net periodic benefit cost (credit) for 2025 $ 1.3) $ 13 $ (4) % 4

A 100 basis point change in the assumed health care cost trend rates would have had the following effects at December 31, 2024:

100 Basis 100 Basis
Point Increase  Point Decrease
(In millions)
Service and interest cost components for 2025 $ — 3 —
Postretirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 2024 $ 03 $ (0.3)

The Company plans to continue to use its current methodologies to determine plan costs. For more information on the assumptions used in determining plan costs, see ltem 8 -
Note 18.

Income taxes

The Company is required to make judgments regarding the potential tax effects of various financial transactions and ongoing operations to estimate the Company's obligation to
taxing authorities. These tax obligations include income, property, franchise and sales/use taxes. Judgments related to income taxes require the recognition in the Company's
financial statements that a tax position is more-likely-than-not to be sustained on audit.

Judgment and estimation is required in developing the provision for income taxes and the reporting of tax-related assets and liabilities and, if necessary, any valuation allowances.
The interpretation of tax laws can involve uncertainty, since tax authorities may interpret such laws differently. Actual income tax could vary from estimated amounts and may result
in favorable or unfavorable impacts to net income, cash flows and tax-related assets and liabilities. In addition, the effective tax rate may be affected by other changes including the
allocation of property, payroll and revenues between states.

The Company assesses the deferred tax assets for recoverability taking into consideration historical and anticipated earnings levels; the reversal of other existing temporary
differences; available net operating losses and tax carryforwards; and available tax planning strategies that could be implemented to realize the deferred tax assets. Based on this
assessment, management must evaluate the need for, and amount of, a valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets. As facts and circumstances change, adjustment to the
valuation allowance may be required.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company is exposed to the impact of market fluctuations associated with commaodity prices and interest rates. The Company has policies and procedures to assist in controlling

these market risks and from time to time has utilized derivatives to manage a portion of its risk.

Interest rate risk

The Company uses fixed and variable rate long-term debt to partially finance capital expenditures, including acquisitions, and mandatory debt retirements. These debt agreements
expose the Company to market risk related to changes in interest rates. The Company manages this risk by attempting to take advantage of favorable market conditions when timing
the placement of long-term financing. As of December 31, 2024, approximately 10.9 percent of the outstanding debt recorded on the balance sheet consisted of variable interest rate

facilities (which uses SOFR as the benchmark rate). An increase of 1 percent in the interest rate on the Company's outstanding variable interest rate facilities over the next 12

months, based on the balances outstanding for these borrowings as of December 31, 2024, would result in an estimated $2.5 million pre-tax annual increase in interest expense. For

additional information on the Company's long-term debt, see ltem 8 - Notes 9 and 10. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had no outstanding interest rate hedges.

The following table shows the amount of long-term debt, which excludes unamortized debt issuance costs and discount, and related weighted average interest rates, both by
expected maturity dates, as of December 31, 2024.

2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Thereafter Total Vz!\zlﬁg
(Dollars in millions)
Long-term debt:
Fixed rate $ 1617 § 1447  § 247 § 797 $ 747 $ 15624 $ 20479 $ 17187
Weighted average interest
rate 4.0 % 5.7 % 6.9 % 4.4 % 4.5 % 4.5 % 4.6 %
Variable rate $ — 3 — $ —  $ 814 § 169.7 § —  $ 2511 § 2511
Weighted average interest
rate — % — % — % 4.8 % 5.8 % — % 5.5 %

Commodity price risk
The Company enters into commodity price derivative contracts to minimize the price volatility associated with natural gas costs for its customers at its natural gas distribution
segment. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, these contracts were not material. For more information on the Company's derivatives, see Iltem 8 - Note 2.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The management of MDU Resources Group, Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company's internal control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of the Company's financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of
America.

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable
assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024. In making this assessment, management used the
criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013).

Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013), management concluded that the Company's internal control over financial reporting
was effective as of December 31, 2024.

The effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public
accounting firm, as stated in their report.

/sl Nicole A. Kivisto /s/ Jason L. Vollmer
Nicole A. Kivisto Jason L. Vollmer
President and Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of MDU Resources Group, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of MDU Resources Group, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes and the
schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended

December 31, 2024, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission and our report dated February 20, 2025, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our
audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities
laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated
to the audit committee and that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex
judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the
critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Regulatory Matters—Impact of Rate Regulation on the Financial Statements—Refer to Notes 2, 6 and 20 to the financial statements
Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company is subject to rate regulation by federal and state utility regulatory agencies (collectively, the “Commissions”), which have jurisdiction with respect to the rates of electric,
natural gas distribution and pipeline companies. The Company’s regulated businesses account for certain income and expense items under the provisions of regulatory accounting,
which requires these businesses to defer as regulatory assets or liabilities certain items that would have otherwise been reflected as expense or income, respectively, based on the
expected regulatory treatment in future rates. The expected recovery, refund or future rate reduction of these deferred items generally is based on specific ratemaking decisions or
precedent for each item. Accounting for the economics of rate regulation impacts multiple financial statement line items and disclosures, such as property, plant, and equipment;
regulatory assets and liabilities; operating revenues; operation and maintenance expense; depreciation expense; and income taxes.

Rates are determined and approved in regulatory proceedings based on an analysis of the Company’s costs to provide utility service and a return on the Company’s investment in
the regulated businesses. Regulatory decisions can have an impact on the recovery of costs, the rate of return earned on investment, and the timing and amount of assets to be
recovered by rates. The regulation of rates is premised on the full recovery of prudently incurred costs and a reasonable rate of return on invested capital. Decisions to be made by
the Commissions in the future will impact the accounting for regulated operations.

We identified the impact of rate regulation as a critical audit matter due to the significant judgments made by management to support its assertions about impacted account balances
and disclosures and the degree of subjectivity involved in assessing the impact of future regulatory orders on the
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financial statements. Management judgments include assessing the likelihood of (1) recovery in future rates of incurred costs and (2) refunds or future rate reduction to customers.
Given management’s accounting judgments are based on assumptions about the outcome of future decisions by the Commissions, auditing these judgments requires specialized
knowledge of accounting for rate regulation due to its inherent complexities.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit
Our audit procedures related to the uncertainty of future decisions by the Commissions included the following, among others:

*  We tested the effectiveness of management'’s controls over the evaluation of the likelihood of (1) the recovery in future rates of costs incurred as property, plant, and
equipment and deferred as regulatory assets; and (2) a refund or a future reduction in rates that should be reported as regulatory liabilities. We tested the effectiveness of
management’s controls over the initial recognition of amounts as regulatory assets or liabilities; and the monitoring and evaluation of regulatory developments that may
affect the likelihood of recovering costs in future rates or of a future reduction in rates.

*  We evaluated the Company’s disclosures related to the impacts of rate regulation, including the balances recorded and regulatory developments.

*  We read relevant regulatory orders issued by the Commissions for the Company and other public utilities in the Company’s significant jurisdictions, and other publicly
available information to assess the likelihood of recovery in future rates or of a future reduction in rates based on precedents of the treatment of similar costs under similar
circumstances. We evaluated the external information and compared to management’s recorded regulatory asset and liability balances for completeness, and for any
evidence that might contradict management’s assertions.

*  We obtained an analysis from management regarding probability of recovery for regulatory assets or refund or future reduction in rates for regulatory liabilities not yet
addressed in a regulatory order to assess management’s assertion that amounts are probable of recovery, or a future reduction in rates.

*  We inspected minutes of the board of directors to identify any evidence that may contradict management’s assertions regarding probability of recovery or refunds. We also
inquired of management regarding current year rate filings and new regulatory assets or liabilities.

Operating Revenues of Discontinued Operations - Construction Contracts with Customers—Refer to Note 3 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company recognized certain construction contract revenue over time using an input method based on the ratio of incurred costs to total estimated costs of the performance
obligation (the cost-to-cost method) when this method was determined to best depict the transfer of the related performance obligation to the customer. This method depends largely
on the ability of management to make reasonably dependable estimates related to the extent of progress toward completion of the contract and the contract’s transaction price,
which estimates involve management’s judgment. Assumptions as to the occurrence of future events and the likelihood and amount of variable consideration, including liquidated
damages, performance bonuses or incentives, claims, unpriced change orders and penalties or index pricing are made during the contract performance period. The Company
estimated variable consideration at the most likely amount it expects to be entitled and included those estimated amounts in the transaction price to the extent it was probable that a
significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration was resolved.

Given the judgments necessary to account for the Company’s construction contracts including the use of estimates to determine the transaction price and total costs for the
performance obligations which are used to recognize revenue for construction contracts, auditing such estimates required extensive audit effort due to the volume and complexity of
construction contracts and a high degree of auditor judgment when performing audit procedures and evaluating the results of those procedures.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to management’s estimates of the transaction price and total costs for the performance obligations used to recognize revenue for construction contracts
included the following, among others:

*  We developed an expectation of the amount of construction contract revenues for certain performance obligations based on prior year markups, and taking into account
current year events, applied to the construction contract costs in the current year and compared our expectation to the amount of construction contract revenues recorded
by management.
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We selected a sample of construction contracts and performed the following:

Evaluated whether the contracts were properly included in management’s calculation of construction contract revenue based on the terms and conditions of
each contract, including whether continuous transfer of control to the customer occurred as progress was made toward fulfilling the performance obligation.

Observed the work sites and inspected the progress toward completion for certain construction contracts.

Compared the transaction prices, including estimated variable consideration, to the consideration expected to be received based on current rights and
obligations under the contracts and any modifications that were agreed upon with the customers.

Confirmed the transaction prices with the customer.

Evaluated management’s identification of distinct performance obligations by evaluating whether the underlying goods and services were highly interdependent

and interrelated.

Tested the accuracy and occurrence of the costs incurred to date for the performance obligation.

We evaluated the reasonableness of the estimated variable consideration in the contract revenue by evaluating the information supporting management’s
judgement as to their estimate of the most likely amount it expects to receive without a significant reversal of cumulative revenue occurring when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is resolved.

Evaluated the estimates of total cost for the performance obligation by:
- Evaluating management’s ability to achieve the estimates of total cost and profit by performing corroborating inquiries with the Company’s project
managers and engineers, and comparing the estimates to management’s work plans, engineering specifications, and/or supplier contracts for certain
selected contracts.

- Comparing management'’s estimates for the selected contracts to costs and profits of similar performance obligations, when applicable.

Tested the mathematical accuracy of management’s calculation of construction contract revenue for the performance obligation for certain selected contracts.

We evaluated management’s ability to estimate total costs and profits accurately by comparing actual costs and profits to management'’s historical estimates for
performance obligations that have been fulfilled.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota

February 20, 2025

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2002.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of MDU Resources Group, Inc.
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of MDU Resources Group, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2024, of the Company and our report dated February 20, 2025, expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
February 20, 2025
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Consolidated Statements of Income

Years ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Operating revenues $ 1,757,978 $ 1,803,352 $ 1,747,298
Operating expenses:

Purchased natural gas sold 630,403 742,965 757,883

Electric fuel and purchased power 141,148 134,779 119,405

Operation and maintenance 414,491 407,081 379,951

Depreciation and amortization 200,078 190,450 188,560

Taxes, other than income 106,216 103,133 100,629
Total operating expenses 1,492,336 1,578,408 1,546,428
Operating income 265,642 224,944 200,870
Realized gain on tax-free exchange of the retained shares in Knife River — 186,556 —
Other income 41,367 33,454 3,260
Interest expense 108,347 104,624 80,683
Income before income taxes 198,662 340,330 123,447
Income taxes 17,589 10,213 6,195
Income from continuing operations 181,073 330,117 117,252
Discontinued operations, net of tax 100,035 84,590 250,237
Net income $ 281,108 $ 414,707 $ 367,489
Earnings per share - basic:

Income from continuing operations $ .89 $ 162 $ .58

Discontinued operations, net of tax .49 42 1.23
Earnings per share - basic $ 138 § 2.04 $ 1.81
Earnings per share - diluted:

Income from continuing operations $ .88 § 162 $ .58

Discontinued operations, net of tax .49 41 1.23
Earnings per share - diluted $ 1.37 § 203 § 1.81
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic 203,867 203,640 203,358
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted 204,653 203,938 203,462

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

Years ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022
(In thousands)
Net income $ 281,108 $ 414,707 $ 367,489

Other comprehensive income (loss):

Reclassification adjustment for loss on derivative instruments included in net
income, net of tax of $0, $15 and $177 in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively — 81 413

Postretirement liability adjustment:

Postretirement liability gains (losses) arising during the period, net of tax of
$360, $(201) and $3,965 in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively 1,049 (646) 12,007

Amortization of postretirement liability losses included in net periodic benefit
credit, net of tax of $145, $78 and $597 in 2024, 2023 and 2022,

respectively 432 242 1,819
Reclassification of postretirement liability adjustment from regulatory asset,
net of tax of $0, $0 and $(1,086) in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively — — (3,265)
Postretirement liability adjustment 1.481 (404) 10.561

Net unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale investments:

Net unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale investments arising during the
period, net of tax of $23, $46 and $(177) in 2024, 2023 and 2022,
respectively 85 173 (667)

Reclassification adjustment for loss on available-for-sale investments
included in net income, net of tax of $5, $11 and $31 in 2024, 2023 and

2022, respectively 20 43 114
Net unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale investments 105 216 (553)
Other comprehensive income (loss) 1,586 (107) 10,421
Comprehensive income attributable to common stockholders $ 282,694 $ 414,600 $ 377,910

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31,

2024 2023

Assets
Current assets:

(In thousands, except shares and per share amounts)

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 66,904 $ 60,473
Receivables, net 274,303 250,153
Current regulatory assets 215,436 172,492
Inventories 44,940 44,684
Prepayments and other current assets 64,676 66,431
Current assets of discontinued operations — 769,490
Total current assets 666,259 1,363,723
Noncurrent assets:
Property, plant and equipment 7,554,063 7,081,267
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 2,209,771 2,076,375
Net property, plant and equipment 5,344,292 5,004,892
Goodwill 345,736 345,736
Regulatory assets 322,350 447,099
Investments 115,459 112,475
Other 244,722 211,369
Noncurrent assets of discontinued operations — 347,865
Total noncurrent assets 6,372,559 6,469,436
Total assets $ 7,038,818 $ 7,833,159
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Short-term borrowings $ — $ 95,000
Long-term debt due within one year 161,700 61,319
Accounts payable 150,070 159,975
Regulatory liabilities due within one year 137,167 70,761
Taxes payable 43,372 49,553
Dividends payable 26,511 25,461
Accrued compensation 35,264 40,792
Other accrued liabilities 124,514 129,592
Current liabilities of discontinued operations — 443,280
Total current liabilities 678,598 1,075,733
Noncurrent liabilities:
Long-term debt 2,130,910 2,104,904
Deferred income taxes 441,320 452,336
Regulatory liabilities 459,170 521,050
Asset retirement obligations 406,351 384,371
Other 231,895 209,882
Noncurrent liabilities of discontinued operations — 179,650
Total noncurrent liabilities 3,669,646 3,852,193
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity:
Common stock
Authorized - 500,000,000 shares, $1.00 par value
Shares issued - 203,934,578 at December 31, 2024 and 203,689,090 at December 31, 2023 203,935 203,689
Other paid-in capital 1,473,738 1,466,235
Retained earnings 1,029,699 1,253,693
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (16,798) (18,384)
Total stockholders' equity 2,690,574 2,905,233
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 7,038,818 $ 7,833,159

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Equity

Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022

Accumu-
lated
Other
Common Stock Compre- Treasury Stock
Other Retained hensive
Shares Amount  Paid-in Capital Earnings Loss Shares Amount Total
(In thousands, except shares)

At December 31, 2021 203,889,661 $ 203,889 $§ 1,461,205 $ 1,762,410 $ (41,004) (538,921) $ (3,626) $ 3,382,874
Net income — — — 367,489 — — — 367,489
Other comprehensive income — — — — 10,421 — — 10,421
Dividends declared on common

stock — — — (178,761) — — — (178,761)
Employee stock-based

compensation — — 10,254 — — — — 10,254
Repurchase of common stock — — — — —  (266,821) (7,399) (7,399)
Issuance of common stock upon

vesting of stock-based

compensation, net of shares

used for tax withholdings — — (12,303) — — 266,821 7,399 (4,904)
Issuance of common stock 273,153 274 6,881 — — — — 7,155

At December 31, 2022 204,162,814 204,163 1,466,037 1,951,138 (30,583) (538,921) (3,626) 3,587,129
Net Income — — — 414,707 — — — 414,707
Other comprehensive loss — — — — (107) — — (107)
Dividends declared on common

stock — — — (142,033) — — — (142,033)
Employee stock-based

compensation — — 6,781 — — — — 6,781
Repurchase of common stock — — — — — (153,622) (4,811) (4,811)
Issuance of common stock upon

vesting of stock-based

compensation, net of shares

used for tax withholdings — — (7,851) — — 153,622 4,811 (3,040)
Separation of Knife River (538,921) (539) — (970,119) 12,306 538,921 3,626 (954,726)
Issuance of common stock 65,197 65 1,268 — — — — 1,333

At December 31, 2023 203,689,090 203,689 1,466,235 1,253,693 (18,384) — — 2,905,233
Net income — — — 281,108 — — — 281,108
Other comprehensive income — — — — 1,586 — — 1,586
Dividends declared on common

stock — — — (104,786) — — — (104,786)
Employee stock-based

compensation — — 9,572 — — — — 9,572
Issuance of common stock upon

vesting of stock-based

compensation, net of shares

used for tax withholdings 199,147 199 (2,822) — — — — (2,623)
Separation of Everus — — — (400,316) — — — (400,316)
Issuance of common stock 46,341 47 753 — — — — 800

At December 31, 2024 203,934,578 $ 203,935 $ 1,473,738 $ 1,029,699 $ (16,798) — $ — $ 2,690,574

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022

(In thousands)

Operating activities:

Net income $ 281,108 $ 414,707 $ 367,489
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 100,035 84,590 250,237
Income from continuing operations 181,073 330,117 117,252
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 200,078 190,450 188,560
Deferred income taxes (16,078) (1,309) 20,187
Provision for credit losses 6,558 7,422 5,409
Amortization of debt issuance costs 1,828 1,013 885
Employee stock-based compensation costs 8,423 5,505 7,913
Pension and postretirement benefit plan net periodic benefit credit (3,837) (5,380) (7,323)
Unrealized (gains) losses on investments (5,942) (7,431) 10,119
(Gains) losses on sales of assets (857) (347) 15
Gain on tax-free exchange of the retained shares in Knife River — (186,556) —
Changes in current assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Receivables (30,310) 79,111 (91,193)
Inventories 246 (21,729) 243
Other current assets 80,977 (48,492) 14,522
Accounts payable (443) (87,209) 84,547
Other current liabilities (5,252) 73,365 (26,873)
Pension and postretirement benefit plan contributions (3,000) (7,643) (81)
Other noncurrent changes (1,651) (15,554) (2,567)
Net cash provided by continuing operations 411,813 305,333 321,615
Net cash provided by discontinued operations 90,505 27,294 188,449
Net cash provided by operating activities 502,318 332,627 510,064
Investing activities:
Capital expenditures (522,824) (484,136) (442,582)
Net proceeds from sale or disposition of property 691 260 3
Cost of removal, net of salvage value (5,539) 1,170 (11,779)
Investments (5,155) (2,423) (2,571)
Proceeds from investment cost basis withdrawal 9,000 20,000 —
Net cash used in continuing operations (523,827) (465,129) (456,929)
Net cash used in discontinued operations (28,858) (75,662) (181,952)
Net cash used in investing activities (552,685) (540,791) (638,881)
Financing activities:
Issuance of short-term borrowings — 810,000 11,500
Repayment of short-term borrowings (95,000) (433,901) —
Issuance of long-term debt 308,600 594,700 214,969
Repayment of long-term debt (182,135) (568,883) (38,764)
Debt issuance costs (2,456) (2,521) (1,129)
Costs of issuance of common stock (50) — (150)
Dividends paid (102,939) (161,316) (176,915)
Repurchase of common stock — (4,811) (7,399)
Tax withholding on stock-based compensation (2,623) (3,040) (4,904)
Net cash (used in) provided by continuing operations (76,603) 230,228 (2,792)
Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations 116,899 (25,606) 157,965
Net cash provided by financing activities 40,296 204,622 155,173
(Decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (10,071) (3,542) 26,356
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash - beginning of year 76,975 80,517 54,161
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash - end of year * $ 66,904 $ 76,975 $ 80,517

*Includes cash of discontinued operations of $16.5 million and $9.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1 - Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the accounts of the following businesses: electric, natural gas distribution, pipeline and other. For further descriptions
of the Company's businesses, see Note 17.

On May 31, 2023, the Company completed the separation of Knife River, formerly the construction materials and contracting segment, resulting in Knife River becoming an
independent, publicly-traded company. The Company's board of directors approved the distribution of approximately 90 percent of the issued and outstanding shares of Knife River
to the Company's stockholders. Stockholders of the Company received one share of Knife River common stock for every four shares of the Company's common stock held on May
22, 2023, the record date for the distribution. The Company retained approximately 10 percent or 5.7 million shares of Knife River common stock immediately following the
separation, which were disposed of in a tax-free exchange in November 2023. The separation of Knife River was a tax-free spinoff transaction to the Company's stockholders for
U.S. federal income tax purposes, except for cash received in lieu of fractional shares.

On October 31, 2024, the Company completed the separation of Everus, its construction services business, resulting in Everus becoming an independent, publicly-traded company.
The Company's board of directors approved the distribution of all the outstanding shares of Everus common stock to the Company's stockholders. Stockholders of the Company
received one share of Everus common stock for every four shares of the Company's common stock held as of the close of business on October 21, 2024, the record date for the
distribution. The separation of Everus was a tax-free spinoff transaction to the Company's stockholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes, except for cash received in lieu of
fractional shares.

The Company's consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes for the current and prior periods have been restated to present the results of operations and the assets
and liabilities of Knife River and Everus as discontinued operations, other than certain corporate overhead costs of the Company historically allocated to Knife River and Everus,
which are reflected in Other. Also included in discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of Income are the supporting activities of Fidelity and certain interest expense
related to financing activity associated with the Knife River and Everus separations. The assets and liabilities of the Company's discontinued operations are included in current
assets of discontinued operations, noncurrent assets of discontinued operations, current liabilities of discontinued operations and noncurrent liabilities of discontinued operations on
the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Unless otherwise indicated, the amounts presented in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements relate to the Company's
continuing operations. For more information on discontinued operations, see Note 3.

Additionally, certain amounts recorded in prior year financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. The Company has reclassified

$26.9 million and $27.4 million of transmission-related expenses from operation and maintenance to electric fuel and purchased power for the years ended December 31, 2023 and
2022, respectively, in the Consolidated Statements of Income. These transmission-related expenses are an integral component of the cost of electricity sold to customers and
therefore, more appropriately reflected in electric fuel and purchased power than operation and maintenance expense. These reclassifications had no effect on previously reported
results of operations or cash flows.

Management has also evaluated the impact of events occurring after December 31, 2024, up to the date of issuance of these consolidated financial statements on February 20,
2025, that would require recognition or disclosure in the financial statements.

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with GAAP and include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation, except for certain transactions related to regulated operations in accordance with GAAP. For more information on
intercompany revenues, see Note 17.

The statements also include the Company's ownership interests in the assets, liabilities and expenses of jointly owned electric transmission and generating facilities. See Note 19 for
additional information.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, at the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Estimates are used for items such as long-lived assets and goodwill; property depreciable lives; tax provisions; revenue recognized using the cost-to-cost measure of progress for
contracts; expected credit losses; environmental and other loss contingencies; regulatory assets expected to be recovered in rates charged to customers; costs on construction
contracts; unbilled revenues; actuarially determined benefit costs; asset retirement obligations; lease classification; present value of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities; and the
valuation of stock-based compensation. As additional information becomes available, or actual amounts are determinable, the recorded estimates are revised. Consequently,
operating results can be affected by revisions to prior accounting estimates.
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Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies
New accounting standards

The following table provides a brief description of the accounting pronouncements applicable to the Company and the potential impact on its financial statements and/or disclosures:

Standard

Description Effective date

Impact on financial
statements/disclosures

Recently adopted accounting standards

ASU 2022-06 -
Reference Rate
Reform: Deferral of
Sunset Date

In December 2022, the FASB included a sunset provision within  December 31, 2024
ASC 848 based on expectations of when LIBOR would cease
being published. At the time ASU 2020-04 was issued, the UK
Financial Conduct Authority had established its intent to cease
overnight tenors of LIBOR after December 31, 2021. In March
2021, the UK Financial Conduct Authority announced that the
intended cessation date of the overnight tenors of LIBOR would
be June 30, 2023 which is beyond the current sunset date of ASC
848. The amendments in this Update defer the sunset date of
ASC 848 from December 31, 2022 to December 31, 2024, after
which entities will no longer be permitted to apply the relief in
ASC 848.

The Company has updated its
credit agreements to include
language regarding the
successor or alternate rate to
LIBOR. The Company did not
have a material impact on its
results of operations, financial
position, cash flows or
disclosures.

ASU 2023-07
Segment Reporting
- Improvements to
Reportable
Segment
Disclosures

In November 2023, the FASB issued guidance on improving December 31, 2024
financial reporting by requiring disclosure of incremental segment

information, primarily through enhanced disclosures about

significant segment expenses, on an annual and interim basis for

all public entities to enable investors to develop more decision-

useful financial analyses.

The Company identified and
updated disclosures to ensure
compliance with the new
guidance. See Note 17.

Recently issued accounting standards not yet adopted

ASU 2023-09
Income Taxes -
Improvements to

Effective for annual
reporting periods

In December 2023, the FASB issued guidance to address
investors requests for more transparency about income tax
information through improvements to income tax disclosures

beginning after 2024 on

The Company is currently
evaluating the impact the
guidance will have on its

Income Tax primarily related to the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid a prospective basis. disclosures for the year ended

Disclosures an information and effectiveness of income tax disclosures. December 31, 2025.

Amendment,

December 2023

ASU 2024-01 In March 2024, the FASB issued Improvements to GAAP through Effective for fiscal year The Company is currently

Compensation - an example to demonstrate application of the scope of paragraph beginning after evaluating the impact the

Stock 718-10-15-3 to determine whether profits interest and similar December 15, 2024. guidance will have on its

Compensation awards should be accounted in Compensation - Stock disclosures for the year ended
Compensation. December 31, 2025.

ASU 2024-03 In November 2024, the FASB issued guidance to improve the Effective for annual The Company is currently

Disaggregation of
Income Statement
Expenses

disclosures about a public business entity's expenses and
address requests from investors for more detailed information
about the types of expenses (including purchases of inventory,
employee compensation, depreciation, amortization, and
depletion) in commonly presented expense captions (such as
cost of sales, selling, general, and administrative; and research
and development).

reporting periods
beginning after
December 15, 2026,
and interim reporting

December 15, 2027.

periods beginning after

evaluating the impact the
guidance will have on its
disclosures for the year ended
December 31, 2027.

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Restricted cash represents deposits held by
the Company’s captive insurance company that is required by state insurance regulations to remain in the captive insurance company. The Company had restricted cash of $16.7
million and $13.2 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized when a performance obligation is satisfied by transferring control over a product or service to a customer. Revenue is measured based on consideration
specified in a contract with a customer and excludes any sales incentives and amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Company is considered an agent for certain taxes
collected from customers. As such, the Company presents revenues net of these taxes at the time of sale to be remitted to governmental authorities, including sales and use taxes.

The electric and natural gas distribution segments generate revenue from the sales of electric and natural gas products and services, which includes retail and transportation
services. These segments establish a customer's retail or transportation service account based on the customer's application/contract for service, which indicates approval of a
contract for service. The contract identifies an obligation to provide service in exchange for delivering or standing ready to deliver the identified commodity; and the customer is
obligated to pay for the service as provided in the applicable tariff. The product sales are based on a fixed rate that includes a base and per-unit rate, which are included in approved
tariffs as determined by state or federal regulatory agencies. The quantity of the commodity consumed or transported determines the total per-unit revenue. The service provided,
along with the product consumed or transported, are a single performance obligation because both are required in combination to successfully transfer the contracted product or
service to the customer. Revenues are recognized over time as customers receive and consume the products and services. The method of measuring progress toward the
completion of the single performance obligation is on a per-unit output method basis, with revenue recognized based on the direct measurement of the value to the customer of the
goods or services transferred to date. For contracts governed by the Company’s utility tariffs, amounts are billed monthly with the amount due between 15 and 22 days of receipt of
the invoice depending on the applicable state’s tariff. For other contracts not governed by tariff, payment terms are net 30 days. At this time, the segment has no material obligations
for returns, refunds or other similar obligations.

The pipeline segment generates revenue from providing natural gas transportation and underground storage services, as well as other energy-related services to both third parties
and internal customers, largely the natural gas distribution segment. The pipeline segment establishes a contract with a customer based upon the customer’s request for firm or
interruptible natural gas transportation or storage service(s). The contract identifies an obligation for the segment to provide the requested service(s) in exchange for consideration
from the customer over a specified term. Depending on the type of service(s) requested and contracted, the service provided may include transporting or storing an identified
quantity of natural gas and/or standing ready to deliver or store an identified quantity of natural gas. Natural gas transportation and storage revenues are based on fixed rates, which
may include reservation fees and/or per-unit commodity rates. The services provided by the segment are generally treated as single performance obligations satisfied over time
simultaneous to when the service is provided and revenue is recognized. Rates for the segment’s regulated services are based on its FERC approved tariff or customer negotiated
rates, and rates for its non-regulated services are negotiated with its customers and set forth in the contract. For contracts governed by the company’s tariff, amounts are billed on or
before the ninth business day of the following month and the amount is due within 12 days of receipt of the invoice. For other contracts not governed by the tariff, payment terms are
net 30 days. At this time, the segment has no material obligations for returns, refunds or other similar obligations.

The Company recognizes all other revenues when services are rendered or goods are delivered.

Legal costs
The Company generally expenses external legal fees as they are incurred unless it has specific circumstances to defer, such as probable recovery in a rate proceeding.

Receivables and allowance for expected credit losses
Receivables consist primarily of trade receivables from the sale of goods and services net of expected credit losses. The Company's trade receivables are all due in 12 months or
less. The total balance of receivables past due 90 days or more was $3.6 million and $3.7 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The Company's expected credit losses are determined through a review using historical credit loss experience, changes in asset specific characteristics, current conditions and
reasonable and supportable future forecasts, among other specific account data, and is performed at least quarterly. The Company develops and documents its methodology to
determine its allowance for expected credit losses at each of its reportable business segments. Risk characteristics used by the business segments may include customer mix,
knowledge of customers and general economic conditions of the various local economies, among others. Specific account balances are written off when management determines
the amounts to be uncollectible. Management has reviewed the balance reserved through the allowance for expected credit losses and believes it is reasonable.
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Details of the Company's expected credit losses were as follows:

Natural gas
Electric distribution Pipeline Total

(In thousands)

At December 31, 2022 $ 375 $ 1,615 $ 23 1,992
Current expected credit loss provision 1,645 5777 — 7,422
Less write-offs charged against the allowance 1,994 7,355 2 9,351
Credit loss recoveries collected 388 1,152 — 1,540
At December 31, 2023 414 1,189 — 1,603
Current expected credit loss provision 1,891 4,667 — 6,558
Less write-offs charged against the allowance 2,218 5,709 — 7,927
Credit loss recoveries collected 386 1,219 — 1,605
At December 31, 2024 $ 473 $ 1,366 $ — $ 1,839

Receivables also consist of accrued unbilled revenue representing revenues recognized in excess of amounts billed. Accrued unbilled revenue at MDU Energy Capital was $143.2
million and $132.0 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Inventories and natural gas in storage

Natural gas in storage is generally valued at lower of cost or market using the last-in, first-out method or lower of cost or net realizable value using the average cost or first-in, first-
out method. The majority of all other inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value using the average cost method. The portion of the cost of natural gas in
storage expected to be used within 12 months was included in inventories. Inventories at December 31 consisted of:

2024 2023
(In thousands)
Natural gas in storage (current) $ 40,073 $ 39,377
Fuel stock 4,867 5,307
Total $ 44,940 $ 44,684

The remainder of natural gas in storage, which largely represents the cost of gas required to maintain pressure levels for normal operating purposes, was included in noncurrent
assets - other and was $48.5 million at both December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Additions to property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. When regulated assets are retired, or otherwise disposed of in the ordinary course of business, the original cost of
the asset is charged to accumulated depreciation. With respect to the retirement or disposal of all other assets, the resulting gains or losses are recognized as a component of
income.

The Company is permitted to capitalize AFUDC on regulated construction projects and to include such amounts in rate base when the related facilities are placed in service. In
addition, the Company capitalizes interest, when applicable, on certain contracting services projects associated with its other operations. The amount of AFUDC for the years ended
December 31 was as follows:

2024 2023 2022

(In thousands)
AFUDC - borrowed $ 10,964 $ 10,035 § 2,236
AFUDC - equity $ 2,251 § 1,894 § 2,165

Generally, property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the average useful lives of the assets.

The Company collects removal costs for certain plant assets in regulated utility rates. These amounts are recorded as regulatory liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Impairment of long-lived assets, excluding goodwill

The Company reviews the carrying values of its long-lived assets, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that such carrying values may not be recoverable. The
Company tests long-lived assets for impairment at a level significantly lower than that of goodwill impairment testing. Long-lived assets or groups of assets that are evaluated for
impairment at the lowest level of largely independent identifiable cash flows at an individual operation or group of operations collectively serving a local market. The determination of
whether an impairment has occurred is based on an estimate of undiscounted future cash flows attributable to the assets, compared to the carrying value of the assets. If impairment
has occurred, the amount of the impairment recognized is determined by estimating the fair value of the assets and recording a loss if the carrying value is greater than the fair
value. The impairments are recorded in operation and maintenance expense on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

No impairment losses were recorded in 2024, 2023 or 2022. Unforeseen events and changes in circumstances could require the recognition of impairment losses at some future
date.

Regulatory assets and liabilities

The Company is subject to various state and federal agency regulations. The accounting policies followed by the Company are generally subject to the Uniform System of Accounts
of the FERC as well as the provisions of ASC 980 - Regulated Operations. These accounting policies differ in some respects from those used by the Company's non-regulated
businesses.

The Company accounts for certain income and expense items under the provisions of regulatory accounting, which requires the Company to defer as regulatory assets or liabilities
certain items that would have otherwise been reflected as expense or income, respectively. The Company records regulatory assets or liabilities at the time the Company determines
the amounts to be recoverable in current or future rates. Regulatory assets and liabilities are being amortized consistently with the regulatory treatment established by the FERC and
the applicable state public service commission. See Note 6 for more information regarding the nature and amounts of these regulatory deferrals.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net tangible and intangible assets acquired in a business combination. Goodwill is required to
be tested for impairment annually, which the Company completes in the fourth quarter, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that goodwill may be
impaired.

The Company has determined that the reporting units for its goodwill impairment test are its operating segments, or components of an operating segment, that constitute a business
for which discrete financial information is available and for which segment management regularly reviews the operating results. As of December 31, 2024, the only operating
segment with goodwill was the natural gas distribution segment. For more information on the Company's operating segments, see Note 17.

Goodwill impairment, if any, is measured by comparing the fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying value. If the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, the
goodwill of the reporting unit is not impaired. If the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the Company must record an impairment loss for the amount that the
carrying value of the reporting unit, including goodwill, exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, there were no
impairment losses recorded.

Investments

The Company's investments include the cash surrender value of life insurance policies, insurance contracts, mortgage-backed securities and U.S. Treasury securities. The Company
measures its investment in the insurance contracts at fair value with any unrealized gains and losses recorded on the Consolidated Statements of Income. The Company has not
elected the fair value option for its mortgage-backed securities and U.S. Treasury securities and, as a result, the unrealized gains and losses on these investments are recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive loss. For more information, see Notes 9 and 18.

Variable interest entities

The Company evaluates its arrangements and contracts with other entities to determine if they are VIEs and if so, if the Company is the primary beneficiary. GAAP provides a
framework for identifying VIEs and determining when a company should include the assets, liabilities, noncontrolling interest and results of activities of a VIE in its consolidated
financial statements.

A VIE should be consolidated if a party with an ownership, contractual or other financial interest in the VIE (a variable interest holder) has the power to direct the VIE's most
significant activities and the obligation to absorb losses or right to receive benefits of the VIE that could be significant to the VIE. A variable interest holder that consolidates the VIE is
called the primary beneficiary. Upon consolidation, the primary beneficiary generally must initially record all of the VIE's assets, liabilities and noncontrolling interests at fair value and
subsequently account for the VIE as if it were consolidated.

The Company's evaluation of whether it qualifies as the primary beneficiary of a VIE involves significant judgments, estimates and assumptions and includes a qualitative analysis of
the activities that most significantly impact the VIE's economic performance and whether the Company has the power to direct those activities, the design of the entity, the rights of
the parties and the purpose of the arrangement.
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Derivative instruments

The Company enters into commodity price derivative contracts in order to minimize the price volatility associated with customer natural gas costs at its natural gas distribution
segment. These derivatives are not designated as hedging instruments and are recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value. Changes in the fair value of these
derivatives along with any contract settlements are recorded each period in regulatory assets or liabilities in accordance with regulatory accounting. The Company does not enter
into any derivatives for trading or other speculative purposes.

The Company did not have any material commaodity price derivative contracts at December 31, 2024 or 2023.

Leases

Lease liabilities and their corresponding right-of-use assets are recorded based on the present value of lease payments over the expected lease term. The Company recognizes
leases with an original lease term of 12 months or less in income on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease and does not recognize a corresponding right-of-use asset or
lease liability. The Company determines the lease term based on the non-cancelable and cancelable periods in each contract. The non-cancelable period consists of the term of the
contract that is legally enforceable and cannot be canceled by either party without incurring a significant penalty. The cancelable period is determined by various factors that are
based on who has the right to cancel a contract. If only the lessor has the right to cancel the contract, the Company will assume the contract will continue. If the lessee is the only
party that has the right to cancel the contract, the Company looks to asset, entity and market-based factors. If both the lessor and the lessee have the right to cancel the contract, the
Company assumes the contract will not continue.

The discount rate used to calculate the present value of the lease liabilities is based upon the implied rate within each contract. If the rate is unknown or cannot be determined, the
Company uses an incremental borrowing rate, which is determined by the length of the contract, asset class and the Company's borrowing rates, as of the commencement date of
the contract.

Asset retirement obligations

The Company records the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation in the period in which it is incurred. When the liability is initially recorded, the Company capitalizes
a cost by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. Over time, the liability is accreted to its present value each period and the capitalized cost is depreciated
over the useful life of the related asset. Upon settlement of the liability, the Company either settles the obligation for the recorded amount or incurs a gain or loss at its non-regulated
operations or incurs a regulatory asset or liability at its regulated operations.

Stock-based compensation

The Company determines compensation expense for stock-based awards based on the estimated fair values at the grant date and recognizes the related compensation expense
over the vesting period. The Company uses the straight-line amortization method to recognize compensation expense related to RSUs, which only has a service condition. This
method recognizes stock compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award. The Company recognized compensation expense
related to PSAs that vest based on performance metrics and service conditions on a straight-line basis over the service period. Inception-to-date expense was adjusted based upon
the determination of the potential achievement of the performance target at each reporting date. The Company recognized compensation expense related to PSAs with market-
based performance metrics on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. Outstanding PSAs were converted to RSUs in connection with the completed separation of
Knife River through the spinoff.

The Company records the compensation expense for PSAs using an estimated forfeiture rate. The estimated forfeiture rate is calculated based on an average of actual historical
forfeitures. The Company also performs an analysis of any known factors at the time of the calculation to identify any necessary adjustments to the average historical forfeiture rate.
At the time actual forfeitures become more than estimated forfeitures, the Company records compensation expense using actual forfeitures.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share is
computed by dividing net income by the total of the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the year, plus the effect of nonvested performance
share awards and restricted stock units. Common stock outstanding includes issued shares less shares held in treasury. As a result of the 2023 Knife River separation, the Company
retained legal ownership of 538,921 shares of the Company's common stock that were historically owned by a subsidiary of Knife River and recorded in Treasury stock at cost.
Following the separation, the 538,921 treasury shares were retired. The 538,921 shares of treasury stock did not have an impact on weighted-average shares outstanding, as they
were not outstanding prior to being retired. Net income was the same for both the basic and diluted earnings per share calculations. A reconciliation of the weighted average
common shares outstanding used in the basic and diluted earnings per share calculations follows:
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2024 2023 2022
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic 203,867 203,640 203,358
Effect of dilutive performance share awards 786 298 104
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted 204,653 203,938 203,462
Earnings per share - basic:
Income from continuing operations $ .89 § 162 $ .58
Discontinued operations, net of tax .49 42 1.23
Earnings per share - basic $ 138 $ 204 $ 1.81
Earnings per share - diluted:
Income from continuing operations $ .88 $ 162 $ .58
Discontinued operations, net of tax .49 41 1.23
Earnings per share - diluted $ 137 $ 203 § 1.81
Shares excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share — — 14
Dividends declared per common share $ 5100 $ 6950 $ .8750

Income taxes

The Company provides deferred federal and state income taxes on all temporary differences between the book and tax basis of the Company's assets and liabilities by using
enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in
income in the period that includes the enactment date. Excess deferred income tax balances associated with the Company's rate-regulated activities have been recorded as
regulatory liabilities. These regulatory liabilities are expected to be reflected as a reduction in future rates charged to customers in accordance with applicable regulatory procedures.

The Company uses the deferral method of accounting for investment tax credits and amortizes the credits on regulated electric and natural gas distribution plant over various periods
that conform to the ratemaking treatment prescribed by the applicable state public service commissions.

The Company records uncertain tax positions in accordance with accounting guidance on accounting for income taxes on the basis of a two-step process in which (1) the Company
determines whether it is more-likely-than-not that the tax position will be sustained on the basis of the technical merits of the position and (2) for those tax positions that meet the
more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the Company recognizes the largest amount of the tax benefit that is more than 50 percent likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement
with the related tax authority. Tax positions that do not meet the more-likely-than-not criteria are reflected as a tax liability. The Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued
related to unrecognized tax benefits in income taxes.

Note 3 - Discontinued Operations

On May 31, 2023, the Company completed the separation of Knife River, its former construction materials and contracting segment, into a new independent publicly-traded
company. The separation was achieved through the Company's pro-rata distribution of approximately 90 percent of the outstanding shares of Knife River to the Company's common
stockholders. To effect the separation, the Company distributed to its stockholders one share of Knife River common stock for every four shares of the Company's common stock
held on May 22, 2023, the record date for the distribution, with the Company retaining approximately 10 percent, or 5.7 million shares of Knife River common stock immediately
following the separation. In November 2023, the Company completed the tax-free exchange of its retained shares and recognized a gain of $186.6 million, which was reflected in
continuing operations because the Company did not have continuing significant involvement in Knife River. The separation of Knife River was a tax-free spinoff transaction to the
Company's stockholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes, except for cash received in lieu of fractional shares.

On October 31, 2024, the Company completed the separation of Everus, its former construction services segment, into a new independent, publicly-traded company. The
Company's board of directors approved the distribution of all the outstanding shares of Everus common stock to the Company's stockholders. Stockholders of the Company received
one share of Everus common stock for every four shares of the Company's common stock held as of the close of business on October 21, 2024, the record date for the distribution.
The separation of Everus was a tax-free spinoff transaction to the Company's stockholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes, except for cash received in lieu of fractional shares.

As a result of the separations, the historical results of operations are shown in discontinued operations, net of tax, except for allocated general corporate overhead costs of the
Company, which did not meet the criteria for discontinued operations. The Company’s consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes for prior periods have been
restated. For the comparative periods, Everus' operations are only reflected through October 2024 compared to the full year in 2023 and 2022 and Knife River's operations are only
reflected through May 2023 compared to the full year in 2022.
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On April 25, 2023, Knife River issued $425.0 million of senior notes, pursuant to an indenture, due in 2031 to qualified institutional buyers. Knife River also entered into a new credit
agreement which provided a revolving credit facility in an initial amount of up to $350.0 million and a senior secured term loan facility in an amount up to $275.0 million. The net
proceeds from the notes offering, revolving credit facility and the term loan were used to repay $825.0 million of Knife River's intercompany obligations owed to Centennial.
Centennial used the entirety of these proceeds from Knife River to repay a portion of its existing third-party indebtedness.

As a result of the separation of Knife River, the Company retained legal ownership of 538,921 shares of the Company's common stock that were historically owned by a subsidiary of
Knife River and recorded in Treasury stock at cost. Following the separation of Knife River, the 538,921 treasury shares were retired.

The Company provided to Knife River and Knife River provided to the Company transition services in accordance with the transition services agreement entered into on May 31,
2023. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company received $1.5 million and $2.9 million, respectively; and paid $159,000 and $823,000, respectively,
for these related activities. All transition services were completed as of October 2024.

The Company provided and will provide to Everus and Everus provided and will provide to the Company transition services in accordance with the transition services agreement
entered into on October 31, 2024. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, the Company received $727,000; and paid $47,000, for these related activities. The majority of
the transition services are expected to be provided for a period of approximately eighteen months, however, no longer than two years after the separation.

Separation related costs of $41.7 million, $58.6 million and $11.5 million net of tax, were incurred during the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
Certain separation costs incurred are presented in discontinued operations, net of tax in the Consolidated Statements of Income. These charges primarily relate to transaction and
third-party support costs, one-time business separation fees and related tax charges.
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The Company had no assets or liabilities related to the discontinued operations of Knife River on its balance sheet as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. The carrying amounts of the
major classes of assets and liabilities related to the discontinued operations of Everus included in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2023 were as

follows:

December 31, 2023

Assets
Current assets:

(In Thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 16,501
Receivables, net 692,629
Inventories 42,709
Prepayments and other current assets 17,651
Total current assets of discontinued operations 769,490
Noncurrent assets:
Net property, plant and equipment 116,018
Goodwill 143,224
Other intangible assets, net 2,004
Investments 11,760
Operating lease right-of-use assets 53,232
Other 21,627
Total noncurrent assets of discontinued operations 347,865
Total assets of discontinued operations $ 1,117,355
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 315,240
Taxes payable 8,557
Accrued compensation 44,721
Operating lease liabilities due within one year 21,143
Other accrued liabilities 53,619
Total current liabilities of discontinued operations 443,280
Noncurrent liabilities:
Long-term debt 132,000
Deferred income taxes 6,212
Operating lease liabilities 32,504
Other 8,934
Total noncurrent liabilities of discontinued operations 179,650
Total liabilities of discontinued operations $ 622,930

The reconciliation of the major classes of income and expense constituting pretax income from discontinued operations to the after-tax income from discontinued operations on the

Consolidated Statements of Income were as follows:

2024 2023 2022
(In thousands)
Operating revenues 2,377,332 $ 3,589,251 $ 5,226,766
Operating expenses 2,241,162 3,422,393 4,853,408
Operating (loss) income 136,170 166,858 373,358
Other income (expense) 12,446 10,599 4,119
Interest expense 7,118 47,229 38,590
Income from discontinued operations before income taxes 141,498 130,228 338,887
Income taxes 41,463 45,638 88,650
Discontinued operations, net of tax 100,035 $ 84,590 $ 250,237
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Note 4 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Revenue is recognized when a performance obligation is satisfied by transferring control over a product or service to a customer. Revenue is measured based on consideration
specified in a contract with a customer and excludes any sales incentives and amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Company is considered an agent for certain taxes
collected from customers. As such, the Company presents revenues net of these taxes at the time of sale to be remitted to governmental authorities, including sales and use taxes.

As part of the adoption of ASC 606 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers, the Company elected the practical expedient to recognize the incremental costs of obtaining a
contract as an expense when incurred if the amortization period of the asset that the Company otherwise would have recognized is 12 months or less.

Disaggregation

In the following table, revenue is disaggregated by the type of customer or service provided. The Company believes this level of disaggregation best depicts how the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors. The table also includes a reconciliation of the disaggregated revenue by reportable segments.
For more information on the Company's business segments, see Note 17.

Natural gas
Year ended December 31, 2024 Electric distribution Pipeline Other Total
(In thousands)
Residential utility sales $ 140,054 $ 646,049 $ — $ — 3 786,103
Commercial utility sales 171,760 399,087 — — 570,847
Industrial utility sales 42,883 42,588 — — 85,471
Other utility sales 7,910 — — — 7,910
Natural gas transportation — 60,645 174,623 — 235,268
Natural gas storage — — 23,690 — 23,690
Other 59,288 40,703 13,139 195 113,325
Intersegment eliminations (72) (130) (69,222) (195) (69,619)
Revenues from contracts with customers 421,823 1,188,942 142,230 = 1,752,995
Other revenues (7,417) 12,033 367 — 4,983
Total external operating revenues $ 414,406 $ 1,200,975 $ 142,597 $ — $ 1,757,978
Natural gas
Year ended December 31, 2023 Electric distribution Pipeline Other Total
(In thousands)
Residential utility sales $ 136,274 $ 724,600 $ — 3 — $ 860,874
Commercial utility sales 170,321 442 507 — — 612,828
Industrial utility sales 43,063 45,205 — — 88,268
Other utility sales 7,270 — — — 7,270
Natural gas transportation — 52,465 145,297 — 197,762
Natural gas storage — — 18,254 — 18,254
Other 54,508 15,141 13,874 119 83,642
Intersegment eliminations (138) (301) (62,533) (119) (63,091)
Revenues from contracts with customers 411,298 1,279,617 114,892 — 1,805,807
Other revenues (10,261) 7,619 187 — (2,455)
Total external operating revenues $ 401,037 $ 1,287,236 $ 115,079 $ — $ 1,803,352
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Natural gas
Year ended December 31, 2022 Electric distribution Pipeline Other Total
(In thousands)
Residential utility sales $ 138,634 $ 718,191 $ — $ — $ 856,825
Commercial utility sales 146,182 453,802 — — 599,984
Industrial utility sales 43,766 41,710 — — 85,476
Other utility sales 7,597 — — — 7,597
Natural gas transportation — 48,886 129,290 — 178,176
Natural gas storage — — 14,583 — 14,583
Other 45,608 13,617 11,450 86 70,761
Intersegment eliminations (58) (216) (58,884) (86) (59,244)
Revenues from contracts with customers 381,729 1,275,990 96,439 — 1,754,158
Other revenues (4,714) (2,402) 256 — (6,860)
Total external operating revenues $ 377,015 $ 1,273,588 $ 96,695 $ — $ 1,747,298

Remaining performance obligations

The remaining performance obligations at the pipeline segment include firm transportation and storage contracts with fixed pricing and fixed volumes. The Company has applied the
practical expedient that does not require additional disclosures for contracts with an original duration of less than 12 months to certain firm transportation and non-regulated
contracts. The Company's firm transportation and storage contracts included in the remaining performance obligations have weighted average remaining durations of less than five

years and one year, respectively.

At December 31, 2024, the Company's remaining performance obligations were $606.5 million. The Company expects to recognize the following revenue amounts in future periods
related to these remaining performance obligations: $82.1 million within the next 12 months or less; $81.5 million within the next 13 to 24 months; and $442.9 million in 25 months or

more.

Note 5 - Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment at December 31 was as follows:

Weighted
Average
Depreciable
2024 2023 Life in Years
(Dollars in thousands, where applicable)
Electric:
Generation $ 1,014,906 $ 939,474 49
Distribution 546,121 521,215 47
Transmission 662,466 639,999 65
CWIP 81,316 115,103 0
Other 176,007 153,248 15
Natural gas distribution:
Distribution 2,955,435 2,771,540 53
Transmission 146,710 115,057 56
Storage 43,700 42,654 37
General 229,034 215,572 13
CWIP 74,207 70,373 0
Other 282,007 246,991 15
Pipeline:
Transmission 1,173,259 1,035,995 46
Storage 61,369 57,160 53
CWIP 29,629 57,038 0
Other 73,749 68,194 17
Other:
Land and other 4,148 31,654 7
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 2,209,771 2,076,375
Net property, plant and equipment $ 5,344,292 $ 5,004,892
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Note 6 - Regulatory Assets and Liabilities

The following table summarizes the individual components of unamortized regulatory assets and liabilities as of December 31:

Estimated Recovery
or Refund Period * 2024 2023

(In thousands)

Regulatory assets:

Current:
Natural gas costs recoverable through rate adjustments Up to 1 year $ 91,091 $ 98,844
Environmental compliance programs Up to 1 year 76,964 5,525
Conservation programs Up to 1 year 19,123 14,425
Electric fuel and purchased power deferral Up to 1 year 9,662 33,918
Decoupling mechanisms Up to 1 year 6,767 —
Cost recovery mechanisms Up to 1 year 5,114 9,153
Other Up to 1 year 6,715 10,627
215,436 172,492
Noncurrent:
Pension and postretirement benefits * 142,064 142,511
Cost recovery mechanisms Up to 24 years 76,542 85,944
Plant costs/asset retirement obligations Over plant lives 47,042 46,009
Manufactured gas plant site remediation - 27,964 26,127
Taxes recoverable from customers Over plant lives 12,221 12,249
Electric fuel and purchased power deferral Up to 2 years 4,349 —
Covid-19 deferred costs - 4,167 2,746
Long-term debt refinancing costs Up to 36 years 2,011 2,600
Environmental compliance programs - — 66,806
Natural gas costs recoverable through rate adjustments Up to 2 years — 55,493
Other Up to 14 years 5,990 6,614
322,350 447,099
Total regulatory assets $ 537,786 $ 619,591
Regulatory liabilities:
Current:
Environmental compliance Up to 1 year $ 72,387 $ —
Natural gas costs refundable through rate adjustments Up to 1 year 45,427 43,161
Margin sharing Up to 1 year 4,156 5,243
Provision for rate refund Up to 1 year 3,677 6,866
Taxes refundable to customers Up to 1 year 2,163 2,149
Conservation programs Up to 1 year 2,082 2,130
Cost recovery mechanisms Up to 1 year 1,720 6,284
Other Up to 1 year 5,555 4,928
137,167 70,761
Noncurrent:
Plant removal and decommissioning costs Over plant lives 217,603 220,147
Taxes refundable to customers Over plant lives 185,402 193,578
Cost recovery mechanisms Up to 17 years 30,354 21,791
Accumulated deferred investment tax credit Over plant lives 18,788 15,740
Pension and postretirement benefits ** 4,862 6,044
Environmental compliance programs - — 61,941
Other Up to 13 years 2,161 1,809
459,170 521,050
Total regulatory liabilities $ 596,337 $ 591,811
Net regulatory position $ (58,551) $ 27,780

* Estimated recovery or refund period for amounts currently being recovered or refunded in rates to customers.
** Recovered as expense is incurred or cash contributions are made.
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As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, approximately $181.2 million and $194.3 million, respectively, of regulatory assets were not earning a rate of return but are expected to be
recovered from customers in future rates. These assets are largely comprised of the unfunded portion of pension and postretirement benefits, asset retirement obligations, certain
pipeline integrity costs and the estimated future cost of manufactured gas plant site remediation.

The Company is subject to environmental compliance regulations in certain states which require natural gas distribution companies to reduce overall GHG emissions to certain
thresholds as established by each applicable state. Compliance with these standards may be achieved through increased energy efficiency and conservation measures, purchased
emission allowances and offsets and purchases of low carbon fuels. Emission allowances are allocated by the respective states to the Company at no cost, of which a portion is
required to be sold at auction. The compliance costs for these regulations and the revenues from the sale of the allocated emissions allowances are passed through to customers in
rates and the Company has, accordingly, deferred the environmental compliance costs as a regulatory asset and proceeds from the sale of allowances as a regulatory liability.

For a discussion of the Company's most recent cases by jurisdiction, see Note 20.

If, for any reason, the Company's regulated businesses cease to meet the criteria for application of regulatory accounting for all or part of their operations, the regulatory assets and
liabilities relating to those portions ceasing to meet such criteria would be written off and included in the statement of income or accumulated other comprehensive loss in the period
in which the discontinuance of regulatory accounting occurs.

Note 7 - Environmental Allowances and Obligations

Beginning in 2023, the Company's natural gas distribution segment acquires environmental allowances as part of its requirement to comply with environmental regulations in certain
states. Allowances are allocated by the respective states to the Company at no cost and additional allowances are required to be purchased as needed based on the requirements in
the respective states. The segment records purchased and allocated environmental allowances at weighted average cost under the inventory method of accounting. Environmental
allowances are included in Prepayments and other current assets and noncurrent assets - Other on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Environmental compliance obligations, which are based on GHG emissions, are measured at the carrying value of environmental allowances held plus the estimated value of
additional allowances necessary to satisfy the compliance obligation. Environmental compliance obligations are included in current liabilities - Other accrued liabilities and noncurrent
liabilities - Other on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale of emissions allowances allocated under the environmental programs when the allowances are sold at auction. The revenues
associated with the sale of these allowances are deferred as a component of the respective jurisdiction’s regulatory liability for environmental compliance.

As environmental allowances are surrendered, the segment reduces the associated environmental compliance assets and liabilities from the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
expenses and revenues associated with the Company’s environmental allowances and obligations are deferred as regulatory assets and liabilities and recognized as a component
of purchased natural gas sold as recovered in customer rates. For more information on the Company’s regulatory assets and liabilities, see Note 6.

Note 8 - Goodwill

The carrying amount of goodwill at the natural gas distribution segment, which remained unchanged, was $345.7 million, respectively, at both December 31, 2024 and 2023. No
impairments of goodwill have been recorded in these periods.
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Note 9 - Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value ASC establishes a hierarchy for grouping assets and liabilities, based on the significance of inputs. The estimated fair values of the Company's
assets and liabilities measured on a recurring basis are determined using the market approach.

The Company measures its investments in certain fixed-income and equity securities at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in income. The Company anticipates using
these investments, which consist of insurance contracts, to satisfy its obligations under its unfunded, nonqualified defined benefit and defined contribution plans for executive officers
and certain key management employees and invests in these fixed-income and equity securities for the purpose of earning investment returns and capital appreciation. These
investments, which totaled $59.3 million and $62.9 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, are classified as investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The net
unrealized gain on these investments for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, was $5.9 million and $7.4 million, respectively. The net unrealized loss on these investments
for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $11.2 million. The change in fair value, which is considered part of the cost of the plan, is classified in Other income on the Consolidated
Statements of Income. In the first quarter of 2024 and the fourth quarter of 2023, the Company withdrew $9.0 million and $20.0 million, respectively, of its cost basis, which reduced
Investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company did not elect the fair value option, which records gains and losses in income, for its available-for-sale securities, which include mortgage-backed securities and U.S.
Treasury securities. These available-for-sale securities are recorded at fair value and are classified as Investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Unrealized gains or losses
are recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive loss on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Details of available-for-sale securities were as follows:

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
December 31, 2024 Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
(In thousands)
Mortgage-backed securities $ 7,933 $ 49 383 $ 7,554
U.S. Treasury securities 3,945 80 1 4,024
Total $ 11,878 $ 84§ 384 $ 11,578
Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
December 31, 2023 Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

(In thousands)

Mortgage-backed securities $ 8,234 $ 17 $ 470 $ 7,781
U.S. Treasury securities 3,521 28 8 3,541
Total $ 11,755 $ 45 § 478 $ 11,322
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The Company's assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis were as follows:

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2024, Using

Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs Balance at December
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) 31,2024
(In thousands)
Assets:
Money market funds $ — $ 12,879 $ — 3 12,879
Insurance contracts® — 59,282 — 59,282
Available-for-sale securities:
Mortgage-backed securities — 7,554 — 7,554
U.S. Treasury securities — 4,024 — 4,024
Total assets measured at fair value $ — 3 83,739 § — $ 83,739

* The insurance contracts invest approximately 58 percent in fixed-income investments, 17 percent in common stock of large-cap companies, 8 percent in target date investments, 8 percent in common
stock of mid-cap companies, 4 percent in common stock of small-cap companies, 4 percent in cash equivalents, and 1 percent in international investments.

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2023, Using

Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs Balance at December
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) 31,2023
(In thousands)
Assets:
Money market funds $ — 3 6,409 $ — $ 6,409
Insurance contracts* — 62,936 — 62,936
Available-for-sale securities:
Mortgage-backed securities — 7,781 — 7,781
U.S. Treasury securities — 3,541 — 3,541
Total assets measured at fair value $ — $ 80,667 $ — 3 80,667

* The insurance contracts invest approximately 60 percent in fixed-income investments, 15 percent in common stock of large-cap companies, 8 percent in target date investments, 7 percent in common
stock of mid-cap companies, 5 percent in common stock of small-cap companies, 3 percent in cash equivalents, 1 percent in high yield investments, and 1 percent in international investments.

The Company's money market funds are valued at the net asset value of shares held at the end of the period, based on published market quotations on active markets, or using
other known sources including pricing from outside sources. The estimated fair value of the Company's mortgage-backed securities and U.S. Treasury securities are based on
comparable market transactions, other observable inputs or other sources, including pricing from outside sources. The estimated fair value of the Company's insurance contracts are
based on contractual cash surrender values that are determined primarily by investments in managed separate accounts of the insurer. These amounts approximate fair value. The
managed separate accounts are valued based on other observable inputs or corroborated market data.

Though the Company believes the methods used to estimate fair value are consistent with those used by other market participants, the use of other methods or assumptions could
result in a different estimate of fair value.

The Company applies the provisions of the fair value measurement standard to its nonrecurring, non-financial measurements, including long-lived asset impairments. These assets
are not measured at fair value on an ongoing basis but are subject to fair value adjustments only in certain circumstances. The Company reviews the carrying value of its long-lived
assets, excluding goodwill, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that such carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
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The Company's long-term debt is not measured at fair value on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and the fair value is being provided for disclosure purposes only. The fair value
was categorized as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy and was based on discounted future cash flows using current market interest rates. The estimated fair value of the Company's
Level 2 long-term debt at December 31 was as follows:

2024 2023
(In thousands)
Carrying Amount $ 2,292,610 $ 2,166,223
Fair Value $ 1,963,396 $ 1,914,039

The carrying amounts of the Company's remaining financial instruments included in current assets and current liabilities approximate their fair values.

Note 10 - Debt

Due to the Knife River separation, Centennial repaid all of its outstanding debt in the second quarter of 2023, which was funded by the Knife River repayment and the Company
entering into various new debt instruments. Refer to Note 3 for additional information related to the repayment of debt associated with the Knife River separation.

Certain debt instruments of the Company and its subsidiaries contain restrictive and financial covenants and cross-default provisions. In order to borrow under the respective debt
agreements, the Company and its subsidiaries must be in compliance with the applicable covenants and certain other conditions, all of which the Company and its subsidiaries, as
applicable, were in compliance with at December 31, 2024. In the event the Company or its subsidiaries do not comply with the applicable covenants and other conditions,
alternative sources of funding may need to be pursued.

The following table summarizes the outstanding revolving credit facilities of the Company and its subsidiaries:

Amount Amount Letters of

Outstanding at  Outstanding at Credit at
Facility December 31, December 31, December 31, Expiration
Company Facility Limit 2024 2023 2024 Date

(In millions)
Commercial paper/Revolving credit
Montana-Dakota Utilities Co.  agreement (a) $ 200.0 $ 814 $ 1442 $ — 10/18/28
Cascade Natural Gas

Corporation Revolving credit agreement $ 1750 (b) $ 646 $ 154 $ 22 (o) 6/20/29
Intermountain Gas Company Revolving credit agreement $ 175.0 (b) $ 105.1 $ 30.7 $ — 6/20/29
MDU Resources Group, Inc.  Revolving credit agreement $ 200.0 (d) $ — $ — 3 121 (c) 5/31/28

(a) The commercial paper program is supported by a revolving credit agreement with various banks (provisions allow for increased borrowings, at the option of Montana-Dakota on stated conditions, up to a
maximum of $250.0 million). At December 31, 2024 and 2023, there were no amounts outstanding under the revolving credit agreement.

(b) Certain provisions allow for increased borrowings, up to a maximum of $225.0 million.

(c) Outstanding letter(s) of credit reduce the amount available under the credit agreement.

(d) Certain provisions allow for increased borrowings, up to a maximum of $250.0 million.

Montana-Dakota's commercial paper program is supported by a revolving credit agreement. While the amount of commercial paper outstanding does not reduce available capacity
under the revolving credit agreement, Montana-Dakota does not issue commercial paper in an aggregate amount exceeding the available capacity under the credit agreement. The
commercial paper and revolving credit agreement borrowings may vary during the period, largely the result of fluctuations in working capital requirements due to the seasonality of

certain operations of Montana-Dakota.

Short-term debt

Cascade On January 20, 2023, Cascade entered into a $150.0 million term loan agreement with a SOFR-based variable interest rate and a maturity date of January 19, 2024. On
December 5, 2023, Cascade paid down $100.0 million of the outstanding balance. On January 19, 2024, Cascade made the final $50.0 million repayment on the term loan
agreement.

Intermountain On January 20, 2023, Intermountain entered into a $125.0 million term loan agreement with a SOFR-based variable interest rate and a maturity date of January 19,
2024. In March, April and May 2023, Intermountain paid down $20.0 million, $30.0 million, and $30.0 million, respectively, of the outstanding balance. On January 19, 2024
Intermountain made the final $45.0 million repayment on the term loan agreement.

MDU Resources Group, Inc. On May 31, 2023, the Company entered into a $150.0 million revolving credit agreement with a SOFR-based variable interest rate and a maturity date
of May 29, 2024. At December 31, 2023, the Company had no amount outstanding, which remained that way until this agreement matured and subsequently terminated in May
2024.
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Long-term debt

Long-term Debt Outstanding Long-term debt outstanding was as follows:

Weighted Average
Interest Rate at
December 31, 2024 2024 2023
(In thousands)
Senior notes due on dates ranging from August 23, 2025 to June 15, 2062 4.57% $ 1,947,000 $ 1,882,000
Credit agreements due on June 20, 2029 5.79 % 169,700 46,100
Commercial paper supported by revolving credit agreement 4.76 % 81,400 144,200
Term loan agreements due on dates ranging from September 3, 2032 to April 1, 2039 4.44 % 65,600 64,300
Medium-term notes due on dates ranging from September 15, 2027 to March 16, 2029 7.32% 35,000 35,000
Other notes due on dates ranging from May 31, 2028 to November 30, 2038 6.00 % 346 980
Less unamortized debt issuance costs 6,436 6,357
Total long-term debt 2,292,610 2,166,223
Less current maturities 161,700 61,319
Net long-term debt $ 2,130,910 $ 2,104,904

Montana-Dakota On October 18, 2023, Montana-Dakota amended and restated its revolving credit agreement to increase the borrowing capacity to $200.0 million and extend the
maturity date to October 18, 2028. Montana-Dakota's revolving credit agreement supports its commercial paper program. Commercial paper borrowings under this agreement are
classified as long-term debt as they are intended to be refinanced on a long-term basis through continued commercial paper borrowings. The credit agreement contains customary
covenants and provisions, including covenants of Montana-Dakota not to permit, as of the end of any fiscal quarter, the ratio of funded debt to total capitalization (determined on a
consolidated basis) to be greater than 65 percent. Other covenants include limitations on the sale of certain assets and on the making of certain loans and investments.

On July 11, 2024, Montana-Dakota issued $125.0 million of senior notes under a note purchase agreement with maturity dates ranging from July 11, 2039 to July 11, 2054, at a
weighted average interest rate of 5.96 percent. The agreement contains customary covenants and provisions, including a covenant of Montana-Dakota not to permit, at any time, the
ratio of total debt to capitalization to be greater than 65 percent. The covenants also include certain restrictions on the sale of certain assets, loans and investments.

Montana-Dakota's ratio of total debt to total capitalization at December 31, 2024, was 48 percent.

Cascade On June 20, 2024, Cascade amended and restated its revolving credit agreement to increase the borrowing capacity from $100.0 million to $175.0 million and extend the
maturity date to June 20, 2029. Any borrowings under the revolving credit agreement are classified as long-term debt as they are intended to be refinanced on a long-term basis
through continued borrowings. The credit agreement contains customary covenants and provisions, including a covenant of Cascade not to permit, at any time, the ratio of total debt
to total capitalization to be greater than 65 percent. Other covenants include restrictions on the sale of certain assets, limitations on indebtedness and the making of certain
investments.

Cascade's ratio of total debt to total capitalization at December 31, 2024, was 50 percent.

Intermountain On June 20, 2024, Intermountain amended and restated its revolving credit agreement to increase the borrowing capacity from $100.0 million to $175.0 million and
extend the maturity date to June 20, 2029. Any borrowings under the revolving credit agreement are classified as long-term debt as they are intended to be refinanced on a long-
term basis through continued borrowings. The credit agreement contains customary covenants and provisions, including a covenant of Intermountain not to permit, at any time, the
ratio of total debt to total capitalization to be greater than 65 percent. Other covenants include restrictions on the sale of certain assets, limitations on indebtedness and the making of
certain investments.

Intermountain’s ratio of total debt to total capitalization at December 31, 2024, was 60 percent.

MDU Resources Group, Inc. On May 31, 2023, the Company entered into a $200.0 million revolving credit agreement with a SOFR-based variable interest rate and a maturity date
of May 31, 2028. Any borrowings under the revolving credit agreement are classified as long-term debt as they are intended to be refinanced on a long-term basis through continued
borrowings. The credit agreement contains customary covenants and provisions, including a covenant of the Company not to permit, at any time, the ratio of total debt to total
capitalization to be greater than 65 percent. The covenants also include certain restrictions on the sale of certain assets, loans and investments.

On May 31, 2023, the Company entered into a $375.0 million term loan agreement with a SOFR-based variable interest rate and a maturity date of May 31, 2025. On November 15,
2023, the Company paid down $185.0 million of the term loan agreement. On November 1, 2024, the Company repaid its remaining outstanding balance of $190.0 million and the
term loan agreement subsequently terminated. The Company's repayment was
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funded by the Everus repayment of debt in connection with the separation. Refer to Note 3 for additional information related to the repayment of debt associated with the Everus
separation.

The Company's ratio of total debt to total capitalization at December 31, 2024, was 46 percent.

WBI Energy Transmission WBI Energy Transmission has a $350.0 million uncommitted note purchase and private shelf agreement with an expiration date of December 22, 2025.
WBI Energy Transmission had $235.0 million of notes outstanding at December 31, 2024, which reduced the remaining capacity under this uncommitted private shelf agreement to

$115.0 million. This agreement contains customary covenants and provisions, including a covenant of WBI Energy Transmission not to permit, as of the end of any fiscal quarter, the
ratio of total debt to total capitalization to be greater than 55 percent. Other covenants include a limitation on priority debt, restrictions on the sale of certain assets and the making of
certain investments.

On April 1, 2024, WBI Energy Transmission entered into a $60.0 million term loan agreement with an interest rate of 4.52 percent and a maturity date of April 1, 2039, with the
principal to be repaid in equal annual installments of $4.0 million each, beginning March 2025 and continuing through the maturity date. The agreement contains customary
covenants and provisions, including a covenant of WBI Energy Transmission not to permit, at any time, the ratio of total debt to total capitalization to be greater than 65 percent. The
covenants also include certain restrictions on the sale of certain assets, loans and investments.

WBI Energy Transmission's ratio of total debt to total capitalization at December 31, 2024, was 40 percent.

Schedule of Debt Maturities Long-term debt maturities, which excludes unamortized debt issuance costs and discount, for the five years and thereafter following December 31,
2024, were as follows:

2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Thereafter

(In thousands)
Long-term debt maturities $ 161,700 $ 144,700 $ 24,700 $ 161,100 $ 244,400 $ 1,562,446

Note 11 - Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company records obligations related to retirement costs of natural gas distribution lines, natural gas transmission lines, natural gas storage wells, decommissioning of certain
electric generating facilities, special handling and disposal of hazardous materials at certain electric generating facilities, natural gas distribution facilities and buildings, and certain
other obligations as asset retirement obligations.

A reconciliation of the Company's liability, which the current portion is included in other accrued liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, for the years ended December 31 was
as follows:

2024 2023

(In thousands)
Balance at beginning of year $ 385,154 $ 373,147
Liabilities incurred 2,721 533
Liabilities settled (5,271) (6,633)
Accretion expense* 19,655 18,894
Revisions in estimates 4,388 (787)
Balance at end of year $ 406,647 $ 385,154

* Includes $19.6 million and $18.9 million in 2024 and 2023, respectively, recorded to regulatory assets.

The 2024 revisions in estimates consist principally of updated asset retirement obligation costs resulting from decommissioning studies performed for electric generating facilities at
the electric segment.

The Company believes that largely all expenses related to asset retirement obligations at the Company's regulated operations will be recovered in rates over time and, accordingly,
defers such expenses as regulatory assets. For more information on the Company's regulatory assets and liabilities, see Note 6.

Note 12 - Equity

The Company depends on earnings and dividends from its subsidiaries to pay dividends on common stock. The Company has paid quarterly dividends for 87 consecutive years. For
the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, dividends declared on common stock were $.5100, $.6950 and $.8750 per common share, respectively. Dividends on common
stock are paid quarterly to the stockholders as of the record date. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the dividends declared to common stockholders were
$103.9 million, $141.5 million and $177.9 million, respectively.
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The declaration and payment of dividends of the Company is at the sole discretion of the board of directors. In addition, the Company's subsidiaries are generally restricted to paying
dividends out of capital accounts or net assets. The following discusses the most restrictive limitations.

Certain credit agreements and regulatory limitations of the Company's subsidiaries also contain restrictions on dividend payments. The most restrictive limitation requires the
Company's subsidiaries not to permit the ratio of funded debt to capitalization to be greater than 65 percent. Based on this limitation, approximately $1.3 billion of the net assets of
the Company's subsidiaries, which represents common stockholders' equity including retained earnings, would be restricted from use for dividend payments at December 31, 2024.

The Company may sell any combination of common stock and debt securities if warranted by market conditions and the Company's capital requirements. Any public offer and sale of
such securities will be made only by means of a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act and the rules and regulations thereunder.

The K-Plan provides participants the option to invest in the Company's common stock. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the K-Plan purchased shares of
common stock on the open market. At December 31, 2024, there were 7.2 million shares of common stock reserved for original issuance under the K-Plan.

The Company currently has 2.0 million shares of preferred stock authorized to be issued with a $100 par value. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, there were no shares outstanding.

Note 13 - Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has stock-based compensation plans under which it is currently authorized to grant RSUs and other stock awards. As of December 31, 2024, there were 2.3 million
remaining shares available to grant under these plans. The Company either purchases shares on the open market or issues new shares of common stock to satisfy the vesting of
stock-based awards.

Separations of Knife River and Everus

In connection with the completed separations of Knife River and Everus through spinoffs, the provisions of the existing compensation plans required adjustments to the number and
terms of outstanding employee time-vested RSUs and PSAs to preserve the intrinsic value of the awards immediately prior to each separation. The outstanding awards will continue
to vest over the original vesting period, which is generally three years from the grant date. The outstanding PSAs in place at the time of the Knife River spinoff were modified to no
longer be subject to performance-based vesting conditions. The number of PSAs were first adjusted for performance. The combined performance factors were determined based on
the performance of the Company as of December 31, 2022. As a result, there were no outstanding PSAs at December 31, 2023. Outstanding awards at the time of the spinoffs were
converted into awards of the holder’s employer following each separation. The Company incurred $1.7 million of incremental compensation expense related to the conversion of the
RSUs associated with the Everus spinoff, of which $854,000 was recognized in 2024 and the remainder will be recognized in expense over the remaining service periods of the
applicable awards.

Total stock-based compensation expense (after tax) was $7.1 million, $5.1 million and $6.9 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The Company uses the straight-line
amortization method to recognize compensation expense related to RSUs, which only has a service condition. The Company recognized compensation expense related to PSAs
with market-based performance metrics on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. As of December 31, 2024, total remaining unrecognized compensation expense
related to stock-based compensation was approximately $8.4 million (before income taxes) which will be amortized over a weighted average period of 1.3 years.

Stock awards

Non-employee directors receive shares of common stock in addition to and in lieu of cash payment for directors' fees. There were 46,341 shares with a fair value of $850,000,
50,717 shares with a fair value of $950,000 and 40,800 shares with a fair value of $1.2 million issued to non-employee directors during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023
and 2022, respectively.

RSUs

In February 2024, 2023 and 2022, key employees were granted RSUs under the long-term performance-based incentive plan authorized by the Company's compensation
committee. The compensation committee has the authority to select the recipients of awards, determine the type and size of awards, and establish certain terms and conditions of
unit award grants. The shares vest over three years, contingent on continued employment. Compensation expense is recognized over the vesting period. Upon vesting, participants
receive dividends that accumulate during the vesting period.

As previously discussed, adjustments were made to the number of RSUs to preserve the intrinsic value of the awards in connection with the spinoffs of Knife River and Everus and
outstanding PSAs in place at the time of the Knife River spinoff were converted to RSUs.
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Target grants of RSUs outstanding at December 31, 2024, were as follows:

Target Grant of
Grant Date Performance Period Shares
February 2023/
July 2023 2023-2025 542,233
February 2024/
June 2024 2024-2026 698,284

A summary of the status of the RSUs for the year ended December 31, 2024, was as follows:

RSUs
Weighted
Average
Number of Grant-Date |
Shares Fair Value
Nonvested at beginning of period 873,300 $ 21.16
Granted pre-separation of Everus 478,938 20.89
Forfeited (112,826) 21.35
Non-vested pre-separation of Everus 1,239,412
Adjustments related to the Everus separation* 663,661
Vested shares (662,556) 12.04
Nonvested at end of period 1,240,517 $ 12.56

*Includes the conversion adjustments to preserve the intrinsic value of the awards and the
cancellation of outstanding awards held by employees that transferred to Everus, which were
replaced with awards issued by Everus as part of the separation.

** Weighted average grant-date fair values post-separation of Everus reflects incremental fair
value related to modifying the awards and the Company's adjusted stock price due to the
separation.

Historical PSAs

In February 2022, key employees were granted PSAs under the long-term performance-based incentive plan authorized by the Company's compensation committee. The
compensation committee has the authority to select the recipients of awards, determine the type and size of awards, and establish certain terms and conditions of award grants.
Upon vesting, participants receive dividends that accumulate during the vesting period. Share awards were generally earned over a three-year vesting period and tied to financial
metrics. However, in connection with the spinoff of Knife River, the outstanding PSAs were converted to RSUs. As a result, there were no outstanding PSAs at December 31, 2024.

Under the market condition for these PSAs, participants could earn from zero to 200 percent of the apportioned target grant of shares based on the Company's total stockholder
return relative to that of the selected peer group. Compensation expense was based on the grant-date fair value as determined by Monte Carlo simulation. The blended volatility
term structure ranges were comprised of 50 percent historical volatility and 50 percent implied volatility. Risk-free interest rates were based on U.S. Treasury security rates in effect
as of the grant date. Assumptions used for initial grants applicable to the market condition for certain PSAs issued in 2022 were:

2022
Weighted average grant-date fair value $36.25
Blended volatility range 24.07% - 31.41%
Risk-free interest rate range 1% - 1.68%
Weighted average discounted dividends per
share $2.93

Under the performance conditions for these PSAs, participants could earn from zero to 200 percent of the apportioned target grant of shares. The performance conditions were
based on the Company's compound annual growth rate in earnings from continuing operations. The weighted average grant-date fair value per share for the PSAs applicable to
these performance conditions issued in 2022 was $27.73.

The fair value of the PSAs that vested during the year ended December 31, 2022, was $7.6 million.
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Note 14 - Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The Company's accumulated other comprehensive loss is comprised of losses on derivative instruments qualifying as hedges, postretirement liability adjustments and gain (loss) on

available-for-sale investments.

The after-tax changes in the components of accumulated other comprehensive loss were as follows:

Net
Unrealized Net
Loss on Unrealized Total
Derivative Post- Gain (Loss) on Accumulated
Instruments retirement Available- Other
Qualifying Liability for-sale Comprehensive
as Hedges Adjustment Investments Loss
(In thousands)
At December 31, 2022 $ (125) $ (29,900) $ (558) $ (30,583)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications — (646) 173 (473)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss 81 242 43 366
Net current-period other comprehensive income (loss) 81 (404) 216 (107)
Amounts reclassified related to the separation of Knife River 44 12,262 — 12,306
At December 31, 2023 — (18,042) (342) (18,384)
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications — 1,049 85 1,134
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss — 432 20 452
Net current-period other comprehensive income — 1,481 105 1,586
At December 31, 2024 $ — $ (16,561) $ (237) $ (16,798)

The following amounts were reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive loss into net income. The amounts presented in parentheses indicate a decrease to net income on
the Consolidated Statements of Income. The reclassifications for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

Location on Consolidated

2024 2023 Statements of Income
(In thousands)
Reclassification adjustment for loss on derivative instruments
included in net income — 3 (96) Interest expense
— 15 Income taxes
= (81)
Amortization of postretirement liability losses included in net
periodic benefit credit (577) (320) Other income
145 78 Income taxes
(432) (242)
Reclassification adjustment on available-for-sale investments
included in net income (25) (54) Other income
5 1 Income taxes
(20) (43)
Total reclassifications $ (452) $ (366)
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Note 15 - Income Taxes
The components of income before income taxes from continuing operations for each of the years ended December 31 were as follows:

2024 2023 2022

(In thousands)
United States $ 198,662 $ 340,330 $ 123,447
Income before income taxes from continuing operations $ 198,662 $ 340,330 $ 123,447

Income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations for the years ended December 31 was as follows:

2024 2023 2022
(In thousands)
Current:
Federal $ 30,412 $ 8271 $ (15,849)
State 3,255 3,251 1,857
33,667 11,522 (13,992)
Deferred:
Income taxes:
Federal (17,321) (3,331) 15,038
State (1,805) (125) 4,251
Investment tax credit - net 3,048 2,147 898
(16,078) (1,309) 20,187
Total income tax expense $ 17,589 $ 10,213 $ 6,195

Components of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at December 31 were as follows:

2024 2023

(In thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

Environmental compliance $ 33,730 $ 28,873
Pension and postretirement 25,508 27,584
Compensation-related 15,651 17,106
Customer advances 9,719 8,312
Cost recovery mechanisms 7,402 5,314
Legal and environmental contingencies 5,317 4,881
Other 20,386 13,045
Total deferred tax assets 117,713 105,115
Deferred tax liabilities:
Basis differences on property, plant and equipment 426,493 404,039
Pension and postretirement 48,355 39,110
Purchased gas adjustment 20,441 34,618
Environmental compliance 17,260 16,221
Cost recovery mechanisms 19,245 22,604
Legal and environmental contingencies 6,300 5,902
Other 19,931 33,947
Total deferred tax liabilities 558,025 556,441
Valuation allowance 1,008 1,010
Net deferred income tax liability $ 441,320 $ 452,336

As of both December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had various state income tax net operating loss carryforwards of $1.0 million and state income tax credit carryforwards,
excluding alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards, of $31.6 million and $33.7 million, respectively. The state income tax credit carryforwards are due to expire between 2026
and 2038. Changes in tax regulations or assumptions regarding current and future taxable income could require additional valuation allowances in the future.
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The following table reconciles the change in the net deferred income tax liability from December 31, 2023, to December 31, 2024, to deferred income tax expense:

2024

(In thousands)

Change in net deferred income tax liability from the preceding table $ (11,016)

Excess deferred income tax amortization (8,121)

Deferred taxes associated with other comprehensive income (532)
Other 3,591

Deferred income tax expense for the period $ (16,078)

Total income tax expense differs from the amount computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate to income before taxes. The reasons for this difference were as follows:

Years ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022

Amount % Amount % Amount %

(Dollars in thousands)
Computed tax at federal statutory rate $ 41,719 210 $ 71,469 210 $ 25,924 21.0
Increases (reductions) resulting from:

State income taxes, net of federal income tax 4,047 2.0 3,605 1.1 2,484 2.0
State investment tax credit, net of federal income tax 2,400 1.2 1,545 5 1,624 1.3
Executive compensation 2,111 1.1 564 2 683 .6
Federal renewable energy credit (16,871) (8.5) (15,175) (4.5) (15,343) (12.4)
Excess deferred income tax amortization (8,121) (4.1) (8,383) (2.5) (9,008) (7.3)
State tax rate change (2,317) (1.2) 9) — (3) —
Research and development tax credit (1,465) (.7) (1,985) (.6) (1,692) (1.4)
Nonqualified benefit plans (1,142) (.6) (1,313) (.4) 1,516 1.2
Tax-free debt for equity exchange — — (38,967) (11.4) — —
Other (2,772) (1.4) (1,138) (.3) 10 —
Total income tax expense $ 17,589 88 $ 10,213 31 $ 6,195 5.0

The Company's effective tax rate for 2024 differs from the U.S. federal statutory rate of 21 percent due primarily to the impact of credits and deductions provided by law and excess
deferred income tax amortization.

The Company and its subsidiaries file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, and various state and local jurisdictions. The Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal,
non-U.S., state or local income tax examinations by tax authorities for years ending prior to 2020.

Total reserves for uncertain tax positions were not material. The Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued relative to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.

Note 16 - Cash Flow Information
Cash expenditures for interest and income taxes for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

2024 2023 2022

(In thousands)
Interest, net* $ 108,242 $ 112,839 $ 49,036
Income taxes paid (refunded), net** $ 43,572 $ 12,162 $ (27,884)

*

AFUDC - borrowed was $11.0 million, $10.0 million and $2.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Income taxes paid, including discontinued operations, were $80.9 million, $62.5 million and $26.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023
and 2022, respectively.

*%

Noncash investing and financing transactions at December 31 were as follows:

2024 2023 2022
(In thousands)
Property, plant and equipment additions in accounts payable $ 36,820 $ 46,364 $ 34,886
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities $ 1,787 $ 2,265 $ 1,324
Debt for equity exchange of retained shares in Knife River $ — 3 293,239 $ —
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Note 17 - Business Segment Data

The Company's reportable segments are those that are based on the Company's method of internal reporting, which generally segregates the strategic business activities due to
differences in products, services and regulation. The internal reporting of these operating segments is defined based on the reporting and review process used by the Company's
CODM, the chief executive officer. The Company's operations are located within the United States.

The Company’s CODM regularly reviews discrete financial information of each reportable segment and uses net income to assess performance of each reportable segment. The
CODM uses this information to assess performance and make decisions about resources to be allocated to each reportable segment, including capital and personnel. The
information provided to the CODM is prepared at the reportable segment level in quarterly financial packages and on a more summarized basis monthly. Budget and forecast
information is also provided to the CODM at the reportable segment level.

The electric segment generates, transmits and distributes electricity in Montana, North Dakota, South Dakota and Wyoming. The natural gas distribution segment distributes natural
gas in those states, as well as in Idaho, Minnesota, Oregon and Washington. These operations also supply related value-added services.

The pipeline segment provides natural gas transportation and underground storage services through a FERC regulated pipeline system primarily in the Rocky Mountain and northern
Great Plains regions of the United States. This segment also provides non-regulated energy-related services, including cathodic protection.

The Other category includes the activities of Centennial Capital, which, through its subsidiary InterSource Insurance Company, insures various types of risks as a captive insurer for
certain of the Company's subsidiaries. The function of the captive insurer is to fund the self-insured layers of the insured Company's general liability, automobile liability, pollution
liability and other coverages. Centennial Capital also owns certain personal property. In addition, the Other category includes certain assets, liabilities and tax adjustments of the
holding company primarily associated with corporate functions, as well as the gain on the tax-free exchange of the retained shares in Knife River and costs associated with certain
strategic initiatives. Also included are certain general and administrative costs (reflected in operation and maintenance expense) and interest expense, which were previously
allocated to Knife River, Everus, Fidelity and the refining business and did not meet the criteria for discontinued operations.

Discontinued operations includes the results of operations for Knife River and Everus and certain associated separation costs, including interest on certain debt facilities repaid in
connection with the separations. For the comparative periods below, Everus' operations are only reflected through October 2024 compared to the full year in 2023 and 2022 and
Knife River's operations are only reflected through May 2023, compared to the full year in 2022. Discontinued operations also includes the supporting activities of Fidelity other than
certain general and administrative costs and interest expense as described above.
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The information below follows the same accounting policies as described in Note 2. Information on the Company's segments as of December 31 and for the years then ended was

as follows:
Natural gas
Year ended December 31, 2024 Electric distribution Pipeline Other Consolidated
(In thousands)

Operating revenues:

External operating revenues $ 414,406 $ 1,200,975 $ 142,597 $ — $ 1,757,978

Intersegment operating revenues 72 130 69,222 195 69,619
Operation and maintenance:

External operation and

maintenance 94,897 231,087 75,456 13,051 414,491

Intersegment operation and

maintenance 72 130 324 195 721
Purchased natural gas sold:

External purchased natural gas

sold — 630,403 — — 630,403

Intersegment purchased natural

gas sold — 68,898 — — 68,898
Electric fuel and purchased power 141,148 _ _ _ 141,148
Depreciation and amortization 66,524 101,958 29,362 2,234 200,078
Taxes, other than income 17,605 76,042 12,175 394 106,216
Other income:

External other income 8,205 25,509 5,850 1,803 41,367

Intersegment other income _ — 655 14,798 15,453
Interest expense:

External interest expense 30,058 63,185 10,862 4,242 108,347

Intersegment interest expense _ _ 4,633 10,820 15,453
Income tax expense (benefit) (2,414) 7,974 17,470 (5,441) 17,589
Income (loss) from continuing
operations 74,793 46,937 68,042 (8,699) 181,073
Discontinued operations, net of tax _ _ _ 100,035 100,035
Net income $ 74,793 $ 46,937 $ 68,042 $ 91,336 $ 281,108
Capital expenditures (a) $ 110,812 $ 286,152 $ 126,806 $ 1,728 $ 525,498
Assets $ 1976912 (b)$ 3,730,532 (b)$ 1,151,317 $ 180,057 (c)$ 7,038,818
Property, plant and equipment $ 2480816 (b)$ 3,731,093 (b)$ 1,338,006 $ 4,148 $ 7,554,063
Accumulated depreciation and
amortization $ 716,736  (b)$ 1,139,223 (b)$ 351,045 $ 2,767 $ 2,209,771

(a) Capital expenditures include noncash transactions such as capital expenditure-related accounts payable and AFUDC totaling $7.1 million.

a
(b) Includes allocations of common utility property for the Electric and Natural gas distribution segments.

(c) Other includes assets not directly assignable to a business (i.e. cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, certain accounts receivable,

certain investments and other miscellaneous current and deferred assets).
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Natural gas
Year ended December 31, 2023 Electric distribution Pipeline Other Consolidated
(In thousands)
Operating revenues:
External operating revenues $ 401,037 $ 1,287,236 $ 115,079 $ _ $ 1,803,352
Intersegment operating revenues 138 301 62,533 119 63,091
Operation and maintenance:
External operation and 92,521 219,481 70,386 24,693 407,081
maintenance
Intersegment operation and 138 301 431 119 989
maintenance
Purchased natural gas sold:
Egltc?mal purchased natural gas — 742,965 — — 742,965
Intersegment purchased natural — 62,102 — — 62,102
gas sold
Electric fuel and purchased power 134,779 — — — 134,779
Depreciation and amortization 64,253 95,300 26,811 4,086 190,450
Taxes, other than income 16,695 75,207 10,822 409 103,133
Realized gain on tax-free exchange
of the retained shares in Knife River — — — 186,556 186,556
Other income:
External other income 5,815 20,867 3,675 3,097 33,454
Intersegment other income — — 217 13,431 13,648
Interest expense:
External interest expense 28,064 57,601 9,428 9,531 104,624
Intersegment interest expense — — 3,842 9,806 13,648
Income tax expense (benefit) (1,019) 6,927 12,409 (8,104) 10,213
Income from continuing operations 71,559 48,520 47,375 162,663 330,117
Discontinued operations, net of tax — — (457) 85,047 84,590
Net income $ 71,559 $ 48,520 $ 46,918 $ 247,710 $ 414,707
Capital expenditures (a) $ 109,805 $ 274,836 $ 115,903 $ (2,825) $ 497,719
Assets $ 1955644 (b)$ 3,532,142 (b)$ 1,045,704 $ 1,299,669 (c)$ 7,833,159
Property, plant and equipment $ 2,369,039 (b)$ 3,462,187 (b)$ 1,218,387 $ 31,654 $ 7,081,267
Accumulated depreciation and
amortization $ 660,438 (b)$ 1,068,037 (b)$ 328,010 $ 19,890 $ 2,076,375

(a

million.

(b) Includes allocations of common utility property for the Electric and Natural gas distribution segments.

Capital expenditures include noncash transactions such as capital expenditure-related accounts payable and AFUDC totaling $(13.6)

(c) Other includes assets of discontinued operations and assets not directly assignable to a business (i.e. cash, cash equivalents and

restricted cash, certain accounts receivable, certain investments and other miscellaneous current and deferred assets).
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Natural gas
Year ended December 31, 2022 Electric distribution Pipeline Other Consolidated
(In thousands)
Operating revenues:
External operating revenues $ 377,015 $ 1,273,588 $ 96,695 $ — $ 1,747,208
Intersegment operating revenues 58 216 58,884 86 59,244
Operation and maintenance:
External operation and 93,236 205,009 60,300 21,406 379,951
maintenance
Intersegment operation and 58 216 638 86 998
maintenance
Purchased natural gas sold:
Eé(ltgrnal purchased natural gas — 757,883 — — 757,883
Intersegment purchased natural — 58,246 — — 58,246
gas sold
Electric fuel and purchased power 119,405 — — — 119,405
Depreciation and amortization 67,802 89,466 26,857 4,435 188,560
Taxes, other than income 16,917 71,095 12,318 299 100,629
Other income:
External other income 528 3,213 1,272 (1,753) 3,260
Intersegment other income — — 80 556 636
Interest expense:
External interest expense 28,526 42,126 9,966 65 80,683
Intersegment interest expense — — 136 500 636
Income tax expense (benefit) (5,420) 7,805 10,522 (6,712) 6,195
Income (loss) from continuing 57,077 45,171 36,194 (21,190) 117,252
operations
Discontinued operations, net of tax — — (906) 251,143 250,237
Net income $ 57,077 $ 45,171 $ 35,288 $ 229,953 $ 367,489
Capital expenditures (a) $ 133,970 $ 240,064 $ 61,923 $ 2,272 $ 438,229
Assets $ 1,856,258 (b)$ 3,214,452 (b)$ 961,893 $ 3628178 (c)$ 9,660,781
Property, plant and equipment $ 2276613 (b)$ 3,208,059 (b)$ 1,108,141 $ 36,705 $ 6,629,518
Accumulated depreciation and
amortization $ 625,813 (b)$ 1,009,788 (b)$ 308,516 $ 19,143 $ 1,963,260

(a) Capital expenditures include noncash transactions such as capital expenditure-related accounts payable and AFUDC totaling $4.4 million.
(b) Includes allocations of common utility property for the Electric and Natural gas distribution segments.
(c) Other includes assets of discontinued operations and assets not directly assignable to a business (i.e. cash, cash equivalents and

restricted cash, certain accounts receivable, certain investments and other miscellaneous current and deferred assets).

A reconciliation of reportable segment operating revenues and assets to consolidated operating revenues and assets is as follows:

2024 2023 2022
(In thousands)
Operating revenues reconciliation:
Total reportable segment operating revenues 1,827,402 $ 1,866,324 $ 1,806,456
Other revenue 195 119 86
Elimination of intersegment operating revenues (69,619) (63,091) (59,244)
Total consolidated operating revenues 1,757,978 $ 1,803,352 $ 1,747,298
Asset reconciliation:
Total reportable segment assets 6,892,959 $ 6,564,962 $ 6,061,151
Other assets 525,258 1,847,432 4,784,142
Elimination of intersegment receivables (379,399) (579,235) (1,184,512)
Total consolidated assets 7,038,818 $ 7,833,159 $ 9,660,781
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Note 18 - Employee Benefit Plans

Pension and other postretirement benefit plans

The Company has noncontributory qualified defined benefit pension plans and other postretirement benefit plans for certain eligible employees. The Company uses a measurement
date of December 31 for all of its pension and postretirement benefit plans.

Prior to 2013, defined benefit pension plan benefits and accruals for all nonunion and certain union plans were frozen and on June 30, 2015, the remaining union plan was frozen.
These employees were eligible to receive additional defined contribution plan benefits.

Effective January 1, 2010, eligibility to receive retiree medical benefits was modified at certain of the Company's businesses. Employees who had attained age 55 with 10 years of
continuous service by December 31, 2010, were provided the option to choose between a pre-65 comprehensive medical plan coupled with a Medicare supplement or a specified
company funded Retiree Reimbursement Account, regardless of when they retire. All other eligible employees must meet the new eligibility criteria of age 60 and 10 years of
continuous service at the time they retire to be eligible for a specified company funded Retiree Reimbursement Account. Employees hired after December 31, 2009, will not be
eligible for retiree medical benefits.

In 2012, the Company modified health care coverage for certain retirees. Effective January 1, 2013, post-65 coverage was replaced by a fixed-dollar subsidy for retirees and
spouses to be used to purchase individual insurance through a healthcare exchange.

In connection with the previously discussed separation of Knife River on May 31, 2023, Knife River's pension plan, including the associated assets and liabilities, was transferred to
Knife River and therefore is no longer reflected as part of the Company. Also in connection with the separation, a remeasurement of the Company's postretirement plan and the
Company's unfunded, non-qualified defined benefit plan were performed and the applicable liabilities from the plans relating to transferring employees were transferred to Knife
River.

Changes in benefit obligation and plan assets and amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31 were as follows:

Other
Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
2024 2023 2024 2023

Change in benefit obligation: (In thousands)

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 275,586 $ 278,286 $ 39,590 $ 40,315

Service cost — — 505 534

Interest cost 12,799 13,521 1,837 1,956

Plan participants' contributions — — 412 479

Actuarial (gain) loss (11,040) 5,395 (3,420) (215)

Benefits paid (21,995) (21,616) (3,249) (3,479)
Benefit obligation at end of year 255,350 275,586 35,675 39,590
Change in net plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 248,558 242,031 79,234 76,640

Actual return on plan assets 1,152 20,576 2,297 5,518

Employer contribution 2,911 7,567 71 76

Plan participants' contributions — — 412 479

Benefits paid (21,995) (21,616) (3,249) (3,479)
Fair value of net plan assets at end of year 230,626 248,558 78,765 79,234
Funded status - (under) over $ (24,724) $ (27,028) $ 43,090 $ 39,644
Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31:

Noncurrent assets - other $ — $ — $ 43,090 $ 39,644

Noncurrent liabilities - other 24,724 27,028 — —
Benefit obligation (liabilities) assets - net amount recognized $ (24,724) $ (27,028) $ 43,090 $ 39,644
Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss:

Actuarial loss (gain) $ 13,228 $ 32,273 $ (809) $ (3,515)

Prior service credit — — 37) (115)
Total $ 13,228 $ 32,273 $ (846) $ (3,630)
Amounts recognized in regulatory assets or liabilities:

Actuarial loss (gain) $ 139,962 $ 140,232 $ (1,478) $ (1,146)

Prior service credit — — (1,303) (2,619)
Total $ 139,962 $ 140,232 $ (2,781) $ (3,765)
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Employer contributions and benefits paid in the preceding table include only those amounts contributed directly to, or paid directly from, plan assets. Amounts related to regulated
operations are recorded as regulatory assets or liabilities and are expected to be reflected in rates charged to customers over time. For more information on regulatory assets and
liabilities, see Note 6.

In 2024, the actuarial gain recognized in the benefit obligation was primarily the result of an increase in the discount rate. In 2023, the actuarial loss recognized in the benefit
obligation was primarily the result of a decrease in the discount rate. For more information on the discount rates, see the table below. Unrecognized pension actuarial gains and
losses in excess of 10 percent of the greater of the projected benefit obligation or the market-related value of assets are amortized over the average life expectancy of plan
participants for frozen plans. The market-related value of assets is determined using a five-year average of assets.

The pension plans all have accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets. The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for
these plans at December 31 were as follows:

2024 2023
(In thousands)
Projected benefit obligation $ 255,350 $ 275,586
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 255,350 $ 275,586
Fair value of plan assets $ 230,626 $ 248,558

The components of net periodic benefit cost (credit), other than the service cost component, are included in other income on the Consolidated Statements of Income. Prior service
credit is amortized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining service period of active participants. These components related to the Company's pension and other
postretirement benefit plans for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

Other
Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
2024 2023 2022 2024 2023 2022
Components of net periodic benefit cost (credit): (In thousands)
Service cost — 3 —$ — 3 505 $ 534 $ 894
Interest cost 12,799 13,521 9,396 1,837 1,956 1,383
Expected return on assets (16,113) (17,194) (17,482) (5,315) (5,361) (5,277)
Amortization of prior service credit — — — (1,318) (1,318) (1,318)
Recognized net actuarial loss (gain) 4,149 3,093 5,826 (288) (504) (570)
Net periodic benefit cost (credit), including amount capitalized 835 (580) (2,260) (4,579) (4,693) (4,888)
Less amount capitalized — — — — 107 175
Net periodic benefit cost (credit) 835 (580) (2,260) (4,579) (4,800) (5,063)
Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized
in accumulated comprehensive loss:
Net loss (gain) 401 187 2,369 7 (604) (4,141)
Amortization of actuarial (loss) gain (359) (292) (1,310) 130 108 (281)
Amortization of prior service credit —_ - - 45 78 125
Reclassification of postretirement liability adjustment from
regulatory asset — — 5,343 — — (992)
Total recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss 42 (105) 6,402 246 (418) (5,289)
Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized
in regulatory assets or liabilities:
Net loss (gain) 3,520 1,826 9,757 (472) (107) 11,920
Amortization of actuarial (loss) gain (3,790) (2,801) (5,373) 158 304 500
Amortization of prior service credit —_ — — 1,273 1,273 1,273
Reclassification of postretirement liability adjustment from
regulatory asset — — (5,343) — — 992
Total recognized in regulatory assets or liabilities (270) (975) (959) 959 1,470 14,685
Total recognized in net periodic benefit credit, accumulated other
comprehensive loss and regulatory assets or liabilities 607 $ (1,660) $ 3,183 $ (3,374) $ (3,748) $ 4,333
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Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at December 31 were as follows:

Other
Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
2024 2023 2024 2023
Discount rate 5.41% 4.84 % 5.43 % 4.85 %
Expected return on plan assets 6.50 % 6.50 % 6.00 % 6.00 %

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost (credit) for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

Other
Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
2024 2023 2024 2023
Discount rate 4.84 % 5.06 % 4.85 % 5.07 %
Expected return on plan assets 6.50 % 6.50 % 6.00 % 6.00 %

The expected rate of return on pension plan assets is based on a targeted asset allocation range determined by the funded ratio of the plan. As of December 31, 2024, the expected
rate of return on pension plan assets is based on the targeted asset allocation range of 40 percent to 50 percent equity securities and 50 percent to 60 percent fixed-income
securities and the expected rate of return from these asset categories. The expected rate of return on other postretirement plan assets is based on the targeted asset allocation
range of 10 percent to 20 percent equity securities and 80 percent to 90 percent fixed-income securities and the expected rate of return from these asset categories. The expected
return on plan assets for other postretirement benefits reflects insurance-related investment costs.

Health care rate assumptions for the Company's other postretirement benefit plans as of December 31 were as follows:

2024 2023
Health care trend rate assumed for next year (pre-65/post-
65) 8.5%/6.25% 7.5%/6.5%
Health care cost trend rate - ultimate 4.5% 45%
Year in which ultimate trend rate achieved (pre-65/post-65) 2035/2034 2034/2033

The Company's other postretirement benefit plans include health care and life insurance benefits for certain retirees. The plans underlying these benefits may require contributions
by the retiree depending on such retiree's age and years of service at retirement or the date of retirement. The Company contributes a flat dollar amount to the monthly premiums
which is updated annually on January 1.

The Company expects to contribute to its defined benefit pension plans in 2025 the minimum funding requirement of $1.7 million. The Company expects to contribute approximately
$18,000 to its postretirement benefit plans in 2025.

The following benefit payments, which reflect future service, as appropriate, and expected Medicare Part D subsidies at December 31, 2024, are as follows:

Other Expected

Pension Postretirement Medicare

Years Benefits Benefits ~ Part D Subsidy

(In thousands)

2025 $ 22,280 $ 3333 $ 48
2026 $ 22,070 $ 3235 $ 43
2027 $ 21,870 $ 3,153 $ 37
2028 $ 21,500 $ 3,064 $ 32
2029 $ 21,170 $ 2941 $ 27
2030-2034 $ 98,020 $ 13,659 $ 85

Outside investment managers manage the Company's pension and postretirement assets. The Company's investment policy with respect to pension and other postretirement assets
is to make investments solely in the interest of the participants and beneficiaries of the plans and for the exclusive purpose of providing benefits accrued and defraying the
reasonable expenses of administration. The Company strives to maintain investment diversification to assist in minimizing the risk of large losses. The Company's policy guidelines
allow for investment of funds in cash equivalents, fixed-income securities and equity securities. The guidelines prohibit investment in commodities and futures contracts, equity
private placement, employer securities, leveraged or derivative securities, options, direct real estate investments, precious metals, venture capital and limited partnerships. The
guidelines also prohibit short selling and margin transactions. The Company's practice is to periodically review and rebalance asset categories based on its targeted asset allocation
percentage policy.
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Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value ASC establishes a hierarchy for grouping assets and liabilities, based on the significance of inputs. The estimated fair values of the Company's

pension plans' assets are determined using the market approach.

The carrying value of the pension plans' Level 2 cash equivalents approximates fair value and is determined using observable inputs in active markets or the net asset value of
shares held at year end, which is determined using other observable inputs including pricing from outside sources.

The estimated fair value of the pension plans' Level 1 and Level 2 equity securities are based on the closing price reported on the active market on which the individual securities are
traded or other known sources including pricing from outside sources. The estimated fair value of the pension plans' Level 1 and Level 2 collective and mutual funds are based on
the net asset value of shares held at year end, based on either published market quotations on active markets or other known sources including pricing from outside sources. The
estimated fair value of the pension plans' Level 2 corporate and municipal bonds is determined using other observable inputs, including benchmark yields, reported trades,
broker/dealer quotes, bids, offers, future cash flows and other reference data. The estimated fair value of the pension plans' Level 1 U.S. Government securities are valued based on
quoted prices on an active market. The estimated fair value of the pension plans' Level 2 U.S. Government securities are valued mainly using other observable inputs, including
benchmark yields, reported trades, broker/dealer quotes, bids, offers, to be announced prices, future cash flows and other reference data. The estimated fair value of the pension
plans' Level 2 pooled separate accounts are determined using observable inputs in active markets or the net asset value of shares held at year end, or other observable inputs.
Some of these securities are valued using pricing from outside sources.

All investments measured at net asset value in the tables that follow are invested in commingled funds, separate accounts or common collective trusts which do not have publicly
quoted prices. The fair value of the commingled funds, separate accounts and common collective trusts are determined based on the net asset value of the underlying investments.
The fair value of the underlying investments held by the commingled funds, separate accounts and common collective trusts is generally based on quoted prices in active markets.

Though the Company believes the methods used to estimate fair value are consistent with those used by other market participants, the use of other methods or assumptions could
result in a different estimate of fair value.

The fair value of the Company's pension plans' assets (excluding cash) by class were as follows:

Fair Value Measurements
at December 31, 2024, Using

Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs Balance at December
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) 31, 2024
(In thousands)
Assets:
Cash equivalents $ — $ 4512 $ — 4,512
Equity securities:

U.S. companies 2) — — 2)
Collective and mutual funds (a) 72,777 93,606 — 166,383
U.S. Government securities 33,616 25,857 — 59,473
Investments measured at net asset value (b) — — — 260

Total assets measured at fair value $ 106,391 $ 123,975 $ — 3 230,626

(a) Collective and mutual funds invest approximately 39 percent in corporate bonds, 19 percent in U.S. Government securities, 17 percent in other investments, 15 percent in common stock of international
companies, 9 percent in common stock of large-cap and mid-cap U.S. companies, and 1 percent cash and cash equivalents.

(b) In accordance with ASC 820 - Fair Value Measurements, certain investments that were measured at net asset value per share (or its equivalent) have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy. The
fair value amounts presented in this table are intended to permit reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the line items presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Fair Value Measurements
at December 31, 2023, Using
Quoted Prices
in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs Balance at December
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) 31,2023
(In thousands)
Assets:
Cash equivalents $ — $ 7,197 $ — 3 7,197
Equity securities:

U.S. companies (2) — — )
Collective and mutual funds (a) 84,761 88,219 — 172,980
U.S. Government securities 30,162 33,141 — 63,303
Investments measured at net asset value (b) — — — 5,080

Total assets measured at fair value $ 114,921 $ 128,557 $ — 3 248,558

(a) Collective and mutual funds invest approximately 51 percent in corporate bonds, 15 percent in common stock of international companies, 11 percent in common stock of large-cap and mid-cap U.S.
companies, 7 percent cash and cash equivalents, 7 percent in U.S. Government securities and 9 percent in other investments.

(b) In accordance with ASC 820 - Fair Value Measurements, certain investments that were measured at net asset value per share (or its equivalent) have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy. The
fair value amounts presented in this table are intended to permit reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the line items presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The estimated fair values of the Company's other postretirement benefit plans' assets are determined using the market approach.

The estimated fair value of the other postretirement benefit plans' Level 2 cash equivalents is valued at the net asset value of shares held at year end, based on published market
quotations on active markets, or using other known sources including pricing from outside sources. The estimated fair value of the other postretirement benefit plans' Level 1 and
Level 2 equity securities is based on the closing price reported on the active market on which the individual securities are traded or other known sources including pricing from
outside sources. The estimated fair value of the other postretirement benefit plans' Level 2 insurance contract is based on contractual cash surrender values that are determined
primarily by investments in managed separate accounts of the insurer. These amounts approximate fair value. The managed separate accounts are valued based on other
observable inputs or corroborated market data.

Though the Company believes the methods used to estimate fair value are consistent with those used by other market participants, the use of other methods or assumptions could
result in a different estimate of fair value.

The fair value of the Company's other postretirement benefit plans' assets (excluding cash) by asset class were as follows:

Fair Value Measurements
at December 31, 2024, Using

Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs Balance at December
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) 31,2024
(In thousands)
Assets:
Cash equivalents $ — 8 4,373 §$ — 3 4,373
Equity securities:
U.S. companies 2,880 — — 2,880
Insurance contract (a) — 71,512 — 71,512
Total assets measured at fair value $ 2,880 $ 75,885 $ — 3 78,765

(a) The insurance contract invests approximately 41 percent in corporate bonds, 28 percent in U.S. Government securities, 19 percent in common stock of large-cap U.S. companies, 6 percent in common
stock of small-cap U.S. companies and 6 percent in other investments.
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Fair Value Measurements
at December 31, 2023, Using

Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs Balance at December
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) 31, 2023
(In thousands)
Assets:
Cash equivalents $ — $ 4,562 $ — 3 4,562
Equity securities:
U.S. companies 2,369 — — 2,369
Insurance contract (a) — 72,303 — 72,303
Total assets measured at fair value $ 2,369 $ 76,865 $ — 3 79,234

(a) The insurance contract invests approximately 60 percent in corporate bonds, 16 percent in common stock of large-cap U.S. companies, 15 percent in U.S. Government securities, 5 percent in common
stock of small-cap U.S. companies and 4 percent in other investments.

Nonqualified benefit plans
In addition to the qualified defined benefit pension plans reflected in the table at the beginning of this note, the Company also has unfunded, nonqualified defined benefit plans for
executive officers and certain key management employees that generally provide for defined benefit payments at age 65 following the employee's retirement or, upon death, to their

beneficiaries for a 15-year period. In February 2016, the Company froze the unfunded, nonqualified defined benefit plans to new participants and eliminated benefit increases.
Vesting for participants not fully vested was retained.

The projected benefit obligation and accumulated benefit obligation for these plans at December 31 were as follows:

2024 2023

(In thousands)
Projected benefit obligation $ 52,007 $ 57,033
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 52,007 $ 57,033

The components of net periodic benefit cost are included in other income on the Consolidated Statements of Income. These components related to the Company's nonqualified
defined benefit plans for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

2024 2023 2022

(In thousands)

Components of net periodic benefit cost:

Interest cost $ 2,568 $ 2,740 $ 1,681
Recognized net actuarial loss 365 273 911
Net periodic benefit cost $ 2,933 § 3,013 $ 2,592

Weighted average assumptions used at December 31 were as follows:

2024 2023
Benefit obligation discount rate 5.26 % 4.73 %
Benefit obligation rate of compensation increase N/A N/A
Net periodic benefit cost discount rate 4.73 % 4.97 %
Net periodic benefit cost rate of compensation increase N/A N/A

The amount of future benefit payments for the unfunded, nonqualified defined benefit plans at December 31, 2024, are expected to aggregate as follows:

2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030-2034
(In thousands)
Nongqualified benefits $ 5700 $ 5610 $ 5,830 $ 5,560 $ 5190 $ 20,920
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In 2012, the Company established a nonqualified defined contribution plan for certain key management employees. In 2020, the plan was frozen to new participants and no new
Company contributions will be made to the plan after December 31, 2020. Vesting for participants not fully vested was retained. A new nonqualified defined contribution plan was
adopted in 2020, effective January 1, 2021, to replace the plan originally established in 2012 with similar provisions. Expenses incurred under these plans for 2024, 2023 and 2022
were $4.0 million, $2.7 million and $538,000, respectively.

The amount of investments that the Company anticipates using to satisfy obligations under these plans at December 31 was as follows:

2024 2023
(In thousands)
Investments
Insurance contracts*® $ 59,282 $ 62,936
Life insurance** 30,834 31,303
Other 12,879 6,409
Total investments $ 102,995 $ 100,648

* For more information on the insurance contracts, see Note 9.
** Investments of life insurance are carried on plan participants (payable upon the employee's death).

Defined contribution plans
The Company sponsors a defined contribution plan for eligible employees and the costs incurred under this plan were $10.7 million in 2024, $17.0 million in 2023 and $14.3 million
in 2022.

Multiemployer plans
The Company contributes to a MEPP under the terms of a collective-bargaining agreement that covers its union-represented employees. The risks of participating in this
multiemployer plan is different from single-employer plans in the following aspects:

» Assets contributed to the MEPP by one employer may be used to provide benefits to employees of other participating employers

« If a participating employer stops contributing to the plan, the unfunded obligations of the plan may be borne by the remaining participating employers

« If the Company chooses to stop participating in its MEPP, the Company may be required to pay those plans an amount based on the underfunded status of the plan, referred
to as a withdrawal liability

The Company's participation in this plan is outlined in the following table. Unless otherwise noted, the most recent Pension Protection Act zone status available in 2024 and 2023 is
for the plan's year-end status at December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, respectively. The zone status is based on information that the Company received from the plan and is
certified by the plan's actuary. Among other factors, a plan in the red zone is generally less than 65 percent funded, a plan in the yellow zone is between 65 percent and 80 percent
funded, and a plan in the green zone is at least 80 percent funded.

Pension Prgtection Act c Exlg;aéi&?ea?\}g
Zone Stati ontributions
EIN/Pension ° i FIP/RP Status [outo Surcharge Bargaining
Pension Fund Plan Number 2024 2023 Pending/Implemented 2024 2023 2022 Imposed Agreement

(In thousands)
Idaho Plumbers and

Pipefitters Pension Green as of Green as of
Plan 826010346-001 5/31/2024  5/31/2023 No $ 1,434 § 1,690 $ 1,613 No 3/31/2027
Total contributions $ 1434 $ 169 $ 1,613

The Company was listed in the plans' Forms 5500 as providing more than 5 percent of the total contributions for the following plans and plan years:

Year Contributions to Plan Exceeded More Than 5 Percent
Pension Fund of Total Contributions (as of December 31 of the Plan's Year-End)

Idaho Plumbers and Pipefitters Pension Plan 2023 and 2022
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Note 19 - Jointly Owned Facilities

The consolidated financial statements include the Company's ownership interests in three coal-fired electric generating facilities (Big Stone Station, Coyote Station and Wygen 11)
and two major transmission lines (BSSE and JETx). Each owner of the jointly owned facilities is responsible for financing its investment. The Company's share of the jointly owned
facilities operating expenses was reflected in the appropriate categories of operating expenses (electric fuel and purchased power; operation and maintenance; and taxes, other than
income) in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

At December 31, the Company's share of the cost of utility plant in service, construction work in progress and related accumulated depreciation for the jointly owned facilities was as
follows:

Ownership
Percentage 2024 2023
(In thousands)

Big Stone Station: 22.7 %
Utility plant in service $ 155,302 $ 159,437
CWIP 318 197
Less accumulated depreciation 55,327 52,264
$ 100,293 $ 107,370

BSSE: 50.0 %
Utility plant in service $ 111,043 $ 107,260
CWIP — —
Less accumulated depreciation 10,359 8,111
$ 100,684 $ 99,149

Coyote Station: 25.0 %
Utility plant in service $ 160,343 $ 160,208
CWIP 755 159
Less accumulated depreciation 115,133 113,187
$ 45,965 $ 47,180

JETx: 50.0 %
Utility plant in service $ — $ —
CWIP 6,112 1,372
Less accumulated depreciation — —
$ 6,112 § 1,372

Wygen lll: 25.0 %
Utility plant in service $ 67,851 $ 66,852
CWIP 97 127
Less accumulated depreciation 15,340 13,728
$ 52,608 $ 53,251
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Note 20 - Regulatory Matters

The Company regularly reviews the need for electric and natural gas rate changes in each of the jurisdictions in which service is provided. The Company files for rate adjustments to
seek recovery of operating costs and capital investments, as well as reasonable returns as allowed by regulators. Certain regulatory proceedings and cases may also contain
recurring mechanisms that can have an annual true-up. Examples of these recurring mechanisms include: infrastructure riders, transmission trackers, renewable resource cost
adjustment riders, as well as weather normalization and decoupling mechanisms. The following paragraphs summarize the Company's significant open regulatory proceedings and
cases by jurisdiction. The Company is unable to predict the ultimate outcome of these matters, the timing of final decisions of the various regulators and courts, or the effect on the
Company's results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

MTPSC

On July 15, 2024, Montana-Dakota filed a request with the MTPSC for a natural gas general rate increase of approximately $9.4 million annually or 11.1 percent above current rates.
The requested increase is primarily to recover investments in system upgrades and pipeline replacement projects enhancing the reliability, safety and integrity of the natural gas
system, as well as increased costs to operate and maintain that system. On October 15, 2024, the MTPSC denied Montana-Dakota's request for an interim rate increase of
approximately $8.0 million annually or 10.2 percent above current rates. On October 25, 2024, Montana-Dakota filed a motion for reconsideration of the interim rate increase. On
January 14, 2025, the MTPSC approved an interim increase of approximately $7.7 million with interim rates effective on and after February 1, 2025.

NDPSC

On November 1, 2023, Montana-Dakota filed a request with the NDPSC for a natural gas general rate increase of approximately $11.6 million annually or 7.5 percent above current
rates. The requested increase is primarily to recover investments in system upgrades and pipeline replacement projects enhancing the reliability, safety and integrity of the natural
gas system, as well as increased costs to operate and maintain that system. On December 13, 2023, the NDPSC approved an interim rate increase of approximately $10.1 million
annually or 6.5 percent above current rates, subject to refund, for service rendered on and after January 1, 2024. On September 16, 2024, an all-party settlement agreement was
filed reflecting an annual revenue increase of $9.4 million or 6.1 percent overall. The reduction from the original filing includes lower incentives and a decreased return on equity. On
November 7, 2024, the NDPSC approved the settlement with rates effective on and after December 1, 2024.

Montana-Dakota has a renewable resource cost adjustment rate tariff that allows for annual adjustments for recent projected capital costs and related expenses for projects
determined to be recoverable under the tariff. On November 1, 2024, Montana-Dakota filed an annual update to its renewable resource cost adjustment requesting to recover a
revenue requirement of approximately $18.3 million annually. The update reflects a decrease of approximately $2.8 million annually from the revenues currently included in rates.
The NDPSC approved the renewable resource cost adjustment on January 22, 2025, with rates effective February 1, 2025.

WUTC

On March 29, 2024, Cascade filed a request with the WUTC for a multi-year natural gas general rate increase of $43.8 million or 11.6 percent effective March 1, 2025 and $11.7
million or 2.8 percent to be effective March 1, 2026. Multi-year filings are now required by Washington law that went into effect on January 1, 2022. The requested increase is
primarily to recover infrastructure investments necessary to provide safe and reliable service and higher operating costs due to inflation. On December 11, 2024, a multi-party
settlement agreement was filed reflecting rate increases of $29.8 million or 7.9 percent proposed to be effective March 1, 2025, and $10.8 million or 2.6 percent proposed to be
effective March 1, 2026.

WYPSC

On October 31, 2024, Montana-Dakota filed a request with the WYPSC for a natural gas general rate increase of approximately $2.6 million annually or 14.0 percent above current
rates. The requested increase is primarily to recover investments in system upgrades and pipeline replacement projects enhancing the reliability, safety and integrity of the natural
gas system, as well as increased costs to operate and maintain that system. This matter is pending before the WYPSC.

FERC
On August 29, 2024, Montana-Dakota filed an update to its transmission formula rate under the MISO tariff for its multi-value project and network upgrade changes for $19.7 million.
Rates were effective January 1, 2025.
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Note 21 - Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is party to claims and lawsuits arising out of its business and that of its consolidated subsidiaries, which may include, but are not limited to, matters involving property
damage, personal injury, and environmental, contractual, statutory and regulatory obligations. The Company accrues a liability for those contingencies when the incurrence of a loss
is probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated. If a range of amounts can be reasonably estimated and no amount within the range is a better estimate than any other
amount, then the minimum of the range is accrued. The Company does not accrue liabilities when the likelihood that the liability has been incurred is probable but the amount cannot
be reasonably estimated or when the liability is believed to be only reasonably possible or remote. For contingencies where an unfavorable outcome is probable or reasonably
possible and which are material, the Company discloses the nature of the contingency and, in some circumstances, an estimate of the possible loss. Accruals are based on the best
information available, but in certain situations management is unable to estimate an amount or range of a reasonably possible loss including, but not limited to when: (1) the
damages are unsubstantiated or indeterminate, (2) the proceedings are in the early stages, (3) numerous parties are involved, or (4) the matter involves novel or unsettled legal
theories.

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company accrued liabilities which have not been discounted of $24.1 million and $22.5 million, respectively. At December 31, 2024 and 2023,
the Company also recorded corresponding insurance receivables of $24,000 and $152,000, respectively, and regulatory assets of $22.9 million and $21.6 million, respectively,
related to the accrued liabilities. The accruals are for contingencies resulting from litigation and environmental matters. This includes amounts that have been accrued for matters
discussed in Environmental matters within this note. The Company will continue to monitor each matter and adjust accruals as might be warranted based on new information and
further developments. Management believes that the outcomes with respect to probable and reasonably possible losses in excess of the amounts accrued, net of insurance
recoveries, while uncertain, either cannot be estimated or will not have a material effect upon the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Unless otherwise
required by GAAP, legal costs are expensed as they are incurred.

Environmental matters

Manufactured Gas Plant Sites Claims have been made against Cascade for cleanup of environmental contamination at manufactured gas plant sites operated by Cascade's
predecessors and a similar claim has been made against Montana-Dakota for a site operated by Montana-Dakota and its predecessors. Any accruals related to these claims are
reflected in regulatory assets. For more information, see Note 6.

Demand has been made of Montana-Dakota to participate in investigation and remediation of environmental contamination at a site in Missoula, Montana. The site operated as a
former manufactured gas plant from approximately 1907 to 1938 when it was converted to a butane-air plant that operated until 1956. Montana-Dakota or its predecessors owned or
controlled the site for a period of the time it operated as a manufactured gas plant and Montana-Dakota operated the butane-air plant from 1940 to 1951, at which time it sold the
plant. There are no documented wastes or by-products resulting from the mixing or distribution of butane-air gas. Preliminary assessment of a portion of the site provided a
recommended remedial alternative for that portion of approximately $560,000. However, the recommended remediation would not address any potential contamination to adjacent
parcels that may be impacted from historic operations of the manufactured gas plant. An environmental assessment, which was started in 2020 and is still underway, is estimated to
cost approximately $2.0 million. Montana-Dakota and another party agreed to voluntarily investigate and remediate the site and that Montana-Dakota will pay two-thirds of the costs
for further investigation and remediation of the site. Montana-Dakota has accrued costs of $645,000 for the remediation and investigation costs and has incurred costs of $1.2 million
as of December 31, 2024. Montana-Dakota received notice from a prior insurance carrier that it will participate in payment of defense costs incurred in relation to the claim. On
December 9, 2021, Montana Dakota filed an application with the MTPSC for deferred accounting treatment for costs associated with the investigation and remediation of the site.
The MTPSC approved the application for deferred accounting treatment as requested on July 26, 2022.

A claim was made against Cascade for contamination at the Bremerton Gasworks Superfund Site in Bremerton, Washington, which was received in 1997. A preliminary investigation
has found soil and groundwater at the site contain impacts requiring further investigation and cleanup. The EPA conducted a Targeted Brownfields Assessment of the site and
released a report summarizing the results of that assessment in August 2009. The assessment confirmed that impacts have affected soil and groundwater at the site, as well as
sediments in the adjacent Port Washington Narrows. In April 2010, the Washington DOE issued notice it considered Cascade a PRP for hazardous substances at the site. In May
2012, the EPA added the site to the National Priorities List of Superfund sites. Cascade entered into an administrative settlement agreement and consent order with the EPA
regarding the scope and schedule for a remedial investigation and feasibility study for the site. Current estimates for the cost to complete the remedial investigation and feasibility
study are approximately $16.0 million of which $11.7 million has been incurred as of December 31, 2024. Based on the site investigation, preliminary remediation alternative costs
were provided by consultants in August 2020. The preliminary information received through the completion of the data report allowed for the projection of possible costs for a variety
of site configurations, remedial measures and potential natural resource damage claims of between $13.6 million and $71.5 million. At December 31, 2024, Cascade has accrued
$4.3 million for the remedial investigation and feasibility study, as well as $17.5 million for remediation of this site. The accrual for remediation costs will be reviewed and adjusted, if
necessary, after the completion of the feasibility study. In April 2010, Cascade filed a petition with the WUTC for authority to defer the costs incurred in relation to the environmental
remediation of this site. The WUTC approved the petition in September 2010, subject to conditions set forth in the order. A significant portion of the costs incurred to date have been
recovered by insurance.
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A claim was made against Cascade for impacts at a site in Bellingham, Washington. Cascade received notice from a party in May 2008 that Cascade may be a PRP, along with
other parties, for impacts from a manufactured gas plant owned by Cascade and its predecessor from about 1946 to 1962. Other PRPs reached an agreed order and work plan with
the Washington DOE for completion of a remedial investigation and feasibility study for the site. A feasibility study prepared for one of the PRPs in March 2018 identifies five cleanup
action alternatives for the site with estimated costs ranging from $8.0 million to $20.4 million with a selected preferred alternative having an estimated total cost of $9.3 million. The
other PRPs developed a cleanup action plan and completed public review in 2020. The development of the remediation design is underway, with the Pre-Remedial Design
Investigation Data Report and Engineering Design Report submitted to Washington Ecology in June 2023 and November 2024, respectively. The remedy construction is expected to
commence in 2028 following the approval of the final design. Cascade believes its proportional share of any liability will be relatively small in comparison to other PRPs. The plant
manufactured gas from coal between approximately 1890 and 1946. In 1946, shortly after Cascade's predecessor acquired the plant, the plant converted to a propane-air gas
facility. There are no documented wastes or by-products resulting from the mixing or distribution of propane-air gas. Cascade has recorded an accrual for this site for an amount that
is not material.

The Company has received notices from and entered into agreements with certain of its insurance carriers that they will participate in the defense for certain contamination claims
subject to full and complete reservations of rights and defenses to insurance coverage. To the extent these claims are not covered by insurance, the Company intends to seek
recovery of remediation costs through its natural gas rates charged to customers.

Purchase commitments

The Company has entered into various commitments largely consisting of contracts for natural gas and coal supply; purchased power; natural gas transportation and storage; and
information technology. Certain of these contracts are subject to variability in volume and price. The commitment terms vary in length, up to 35 years. The commitments under these
contracts as of December 31, 2024, were:

2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Thereafter
(In thousands)
Purchase commitments ~ $ 658,012 $ 310,894 $ 210,152 $ 177,613 $ 147,081 $ 1,221,125

These commitments were not reflected in the Company's consolidated financial statements. Amounts purchased under various commitments for the years ended December 31,
2024, 2023 and 2022, were $841.7 million, $1.0 billion and $870.6 million, respectively.

Guarantees

The Company and certain subsidiaries have outstanding letters of credit to third parties related to insurance policies and other agreements, some of which are guaranteed by other
subsidiaries of the Company. At December 31, 2024, the fixed maximum amounts guaranteed under these letters of credit aggregated $14.3 million. The amounts of scheduled
expiration of the maximum amounts guaranteed under these letters of credit aggregate to $14.3 million in 2025. There were no amounts outstanding under the previously mentioned
letters of credit at December 31, 2024. In the event of default under these letter of credit obligations, the Company or subsidiary guaranteeing the letter of credit would be obligated
for reimbursement of payments made under the letter of credit.

In the normal course of business, the Company and its subsidiaries have surety bonds. In the event the Company or its subsidiaries do not fulfill a bonded obligation, the Company
or its subsidiaries would be responsible to the surety bond company for completion of the bonded contract or obligation. At December 31, 2024, approximately $15.6 million of surety
bonds were outstanding, which were not reflected on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Leases

Most of the leases the Company enters into are for equipment, buildings, easements and vehicles as part of their ongoing operations. The Company also leases certain equipment
to third parties through its utility business. The Company determines if an arrangement contains a lease at inception of a contract and accounts for all leases in accordance with ASC
842 - Leases.

The recognition of leases requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect the lease classification and the assets and liabilities recorded. The accuracy of lease
assets and liabilities reported on the Consolidated Financial Statements depends on, among other things, management's estimates of interest rates used to discount the lease
assets and liabilities to their present value, as well as the lease terms based on the unique facts and circumstances of each lease.

Lessee accounting The leases the Company has entered into as part of its ongoing operations are considered operating leases and are recognized on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets as noncurrent assets - other, current liabilities - other accrued liabilities and noncurrent liabilities - other. The corresponding lease costs are included in operation and
maintenance expense on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Generally, the leases for equipment have a term of five years or less and buildings and easements have a longer term of up to 35 years or more. To date, the Company does not
have any residual value guarantee amounts probable of being owed to a lessor, financing leases or material agreements with related parties.
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The following tables provide information on the Company's operating leases at and for the years ended December 31:

2024 2023 2022

(In thousands)

Lease costs:

Short-term lease cost $ 1,549 $ 1,646 $ 1,373
Operating lease cost 3,069 2,871 2,497
Variable lease cost 819 676 413
$ 5437 $ 5193 § 4,283
2024 2023 2022
(Dollars in thousands)
Weighted average remaining lease term 12.65 years 15.35 years 15.15 years
Weighted average discount rate 6.08 % 4.88 % 4.65 %

Cash paid for amounts included in the
measurement of lease liabilities $ 3,063 $ 2,868 $ 2,500

The reconciliation of future undiscounted cash flows to operating lease liabilities presented on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2024, was as follows:

(In thousands)

2025 $ 3,034
2026 2,648
2027 2,011
2028 1,570
2029 1,492
Thereafter 20,808
Total 31,563
Less discount 10,654
Total operating lease liabilities $ 20,909

Lessor accounting The Company leases certain equipment to third parties through its utility businesses, which are considered short-term operating leases with terms of less than
12 months. Lease revenue was not material for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Variable interest entities
The Company evaluates its arrangements and contracts with other entities to determine if they are VIEs and if so, if the Company is the primary beneficiary.

Fuel Contract Coyote Station entered into a coal supply agreement with Coyote Creek that provides for the purchase of coal necessary to supply the coal requirements of the
Coyote Station for the period May 2016 through December 2040. Coal purchased under the coal supply agreement is reflected in Inventories on the Consolidated Balance Sheets
and is recovered from customers as a component of electric fuel and purchased power.

The coal supply agreement creates a variable interest in Coyote Creek due to the transfer of all operating and economic risk to the Coyote Station owners, as the agreement is
structured so that the price of the coal will cover all costs of operations, as well as future reclamation costs. The Coyote Station owners are also providing a guarantee of the value of
the assets of Coyote Creek as they would be required to buy the assets at book value should they terminate the contract prior to the end of the contract term and are providing a
guarantee of the value of the equity of Coyote Creek in that they are required to buy the entity at the end of the contract term at equity value. Although the Company has determined
that Coyote Creek is a VIE, the Company has concluded that it is not the primary beneficiary of Coyote Creek because the authority to direct the activities of the entity is shared by
the four unrelated owners of the Coyote Station, with no primary beneficiary existing. As a result, Coyote Creek is not required to be consolidated in the Company's financial
statements.

At December 31, 2024, the Company's exposure to loss as a result of the Company's involvement with the VIE, based on the Company's ownership percentage, was $25.6 million.
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Note 22 - Subsequent Events

On February 13, 2025, Montana-Dakota entered into a definitive purchase and sale agreement with Badger Wind, LLC, a subsidiary of Orsted Onshore North America, LLC.
Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, Montana-Dakota will purchase a 49 percent undivided ownership interest in a wind project being constructed and located in North Dakota
that is anticipated to have a net generating capacity of approximately 250 MW for a purchase price of $294.0 million, which would represent 122.5 MW of wind generation to be
owned by Montana-Dakota. The purchase agreement is contingent on regulatory approval from the NDPSC. This transaction would reduce Montana-Dakota's purchase
requirements under the existing power purchase agreement with Badger Wind, LLC, dated November 4, 2024.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

The following information includes the evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures by the Company's chief executive officer and the chief financial officer, along with any
significant changes in internal controls of the Company.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The term "disclosure controls and procedures” is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act. The Company's disclosure controls and other procedures are
designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in the reports that the Company files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms. The Company's disclosure controls and other procedures are designed to provide
reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Company's chief executive officer and chief
financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. The Company's management, with the participation of the Company's chief executive officer and chief
financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls and other procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that
evaluation, the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer have concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this report, such controls and procedures were
effective at a reasonable assurance level.

Changes in Internal Controls

No change in the Company's internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) occurred during the three months ended
December 31, 2024, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The information required by this item is included in this Form 10-K at Item 8 - Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.

Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm

The information required by this item is included in this Form 10-K at Item 8 - Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

‘Item 9B. Other Information |

During the three months ended December 31, 2024, no director or officer of the Company adopted or terminated a "Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement" or "non-Rule 10b5-1 trading
arrangement,” as each term is defined in Iltem 408(a) of Regulation S-K.

‘Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections |

None.
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‘Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information required by this item will be included in the Company's Proxy Statement, which is incorporated herein by reference.

‘Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information required by this item will be included in the Company's Proxy Statement, which is incorporated herein by reference.

‘Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item will be included in the Company's Proxy Statement, which is incorporated herein by reference.

‘Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Information required by this item will be included in the Company's Proxy Statement, which is incorporated herein by reference.

‘Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information required by this item about aggregate fees billed to the Company by its principal accountant, Deloitte & Touche LLP (PCAOB ID No. 34), will be included in the
Company's Proxy Statement, which is incorporated herein by reference.
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‘Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Financial Statements, Financial Statement Schedules and Exhibits

Index to Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules

1. Financial Statements
The following consolidated financial statements required under this item are

included under Item 8 - Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. Page
Consolidated Statements of Income for each of the three years in the period ended

December 31, 2024 62
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for each of the three years in

the period ended December 31, 2024 63
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2024 and 2023 64
Consolidated Statements of Equity for each of the three years in the period ended

December 31, 2024 65
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the three years in the period

ended December 31, 2024 66
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 67

2. Financial Statement Schedules
The following financial statement schedules are included in Part IV of this report. Page

Schedule | - Condensed Financial Information of Registrant (Unconsolidated)

Condensed Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2024 110

Condensed Balance Sheets at December 31, 2024 and 2023 111

Condensed Statements of Cash Flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2024 112

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements 113

All other schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is included elsewhere in the financial statements or related notes.

3. Exhibits 114
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MDU RESOURCES GROUP, INC.

Schedule | - Condensed Financial Information of Registrant (Unconsolidated)

Condensed Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income

Years ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022
(In thousands)
Operating revenues $ — 3 — 9 =
Operating expenses 4,416 9,668 1,636
Operating loss (4,416) (9,668) (1,636)
Realized gain on tax-free exchange of the retained shares in Knife River — 186,556 —
Interest expense 642 7,109 —
Income (loss) before income taxes (5,058) 169,779 (1,636)
Income tax benefit (2,324) (4,220) (400)
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries from continuing operations 183,807 156,118 118,488
Income from continuing operations 181,073 330,117 117,252
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries from discontinued operations 140,042 143,181 261,701
Discontinued operations, net of tax (40,007) (58,591) (11,464)
Net income $ 281,108 $ 414,707 $ 367,489
Comprehensive income $ 282,694 $ 414,600 $ 377,910

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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MDU RESOURCES GROUP, INC.

Schedule | - Condensed Financial Information of Registrant (Unconsolidated)
Condensed Balance Sheets

December 31, 2024 2023
(In thousands, except shares and per share amounts)
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 29,361 $ 33,039
Receivables, net 2,777 6,568
Accounts receivable from subsidiaries 31,955 30,526
Taxes receivable 5,799 —
Prepayments and other current assets 3,210 8,261
Total current assets 73,102 78,394
Noncurrent assets
Investments 37,264 37,722
Investment in subsidiaries 2,861,311 3,146,122
Notes receivable from subsidiaries — 58,000
Deferred income taxes 13,569 12,596
Operating lease right-of-use assets 160 31
Other 2,874 2,593
Total noncurrent assets 2,915,178 3,257,064
Total assets $ 2,988,280 $ 3,335,458
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 4,076 $ 4,264
Accounts payable to subsidiaries 1,077 3,435
Notes payable to subsidiaries 198,035 134,107
Taxes payable — 542
Dividends payable 26,511 25,461
Accrued compensation 7,939 9,651
Operating lease liabilities due within one year 60 25
Other accrued liabilities 7,653 8,008
Total current liabilities 245,351 185,493
Noncurrent liabilities:
Long-term debt, net of debt issuance costs (536) 57,048
Operating lease liabilities 100 6
Other 52,791 187,678
Total noncurrent liabilities 52,355 244,732
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity:
Common stock
Authorized - 500,000,000 shares, $1.00 par value
Shares issued - 203,934,578 at December 31, 2024 and 203,689,090 at December 31, 2023 203,935 203,689
Other paid-in capital 1,473,738 1,466,235
Retained earnings 1,029,699 1,253,693
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (16,798) (18,384)
Total stockholders' equity 2,690,574 2,905,233
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 2,988,280 $ 3,335,458

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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MDU RESOURCES GROUP, INC.
Schedule | - Condensed Financial Information of Registrant (Unconsolidated)
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022
(In thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations $ 482,195 $ 282,132 $ 253,663
Net cash used in operating activities of discontinued operations (40,007) (58,591) (11,464)
Net cash provided by operating activities 442,188 223,541 242,199
Investing activities:
Investments in and advances to subsidiaries (211,000) (476,000) (45,000)
Investments 2,253 7,422 (885)
Repayment (issuance) of notes receivable 58,000 (58,000) —
Net cash used in investing activities of continuing operations (150,747) (526,578) (45,885)
Financing activities:
Issuance of short-term borrowings — 535,000 —
Repayment of short-term borrowings — (242,401) —
Issuance of long-term debt — 443,000 —
Repayment of long-term debt (58,000) (385,000) =
Debt issuance costs (401) (952) —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock (50) — (149)
Dividends paid (102,939) (161,316) (176,915)
Repurchase of common stock — (2,270) (3,525)
Tax withholding on stock-based compensation (1,729) (1,471) (2,398)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities of continuing operations (163,119) 184,590 (182,987)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities of discontinued operations (132,000) 132,000 —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (295,119) 316,590 (182,987)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (3,678) 13,553 13,327
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 33,039 19,486 6,159
Cash and cash equivalents - end of year $ 29,361 $ 33,039 $ 19,486

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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Notes to Condensed Financial Statements

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of presentation The condensed financial information reported in Schedule | is being presented to comply with Rule 12-04 of Regulation S-X. The information is unconsolidated
and is presented for the parent company only, MDU Resources Group, Inc. (the Company) as of and for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. In Schedule |,
investments in subsidiaries are presented under the equity method of accounting where the assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries are not consolidated. The investments in net
assets of the subsidiaries are recorded on the Condensed Balance Sheets. The income from subsidiaries is reported as equity in earnings of subsidiaries on the Condensed
Statements of Income. The material cash inflows on the Condensed Statements of Cash Flows are primarily from the dividends and other payments received from its subsidiaries
and the proceeds raised from the issuance of debt and equity securities. The consolidated financial statements of the Company reflect certain businesses as discontinued
operations. These statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto of the Company.

Earnings per common share Please refer to the Consolidated Statements of Income of the registrant for earnings per common share. In addition, see Item 8 - Note 2 for information
on the computation of earnings per common share.

Note 2 - Debt

MDU Resources Group, Inc. On May 31, 2023, the Company entered into a $150.0 million revolving credit agreement with a SOFR-based variable interest rate and a maturity date
of May 29, 2024. At December 31, 2023, the Company had no amount outstanding, which remained that way until this agreement matured and subsequently terminated in May
2024.

On May 31, 2023, the Company entered into a $200.0 million revolving credit agreement with a SOFR-based variable interest rate and a maturity date of May 31, 2028. Any
borrowings under the revolving credit agreement are classified as long-term debt as they are intended to be refinanced on a long-term basis through continued borrowings. The
credit agreement contains customary covenants and provisions, including a covenant of the Company not to permit, at any time, the ratio of total debt to total capitalization to be
greater than 65 percent. The covenants also include certain restrictions on the sale of certain assets, loans and investments. At December 31, 2024, there were no amounts
outstanding under the agreement.

On May 31, 2023, the Company entered into a $375.0 million term loan agreement with a SOFR-based variable interest rate and a maturity date of May 31, 2025. On November 15,
2023, the Company paid down $185.0 million of the term loan agreement. On November 1, 2024, the Company repaid its remaining outstanding balance of $190.0 million and the
term loan agreement subsequently terminated. The Company's repayment was funded by the Everus repayment of debt in connection with the separation. Refer to Note 3 for
additional information related to the repayment of debt associated with the Everus separation.

At December 31, 2024, the Company had no long-term debt maturities for 2025. For more information on debt, see Item 8 - Note 10.

Note 3 - Dividends The Company depends on earnings and dividends from its subsidiaries to pay dividends on common stock. Cash dividends paid to the Company by subsidiaries
were $418.3 million, $165.5 million and $242.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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Exhibits
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit Filed Period
Number  Exhibit Description Herewith  Form Ended Exhibit Filing Date File Number
*2(a) Separation and Distribution Agreement, dated as of May 8-K 21 6/1/23 1-03480

30, 2023, by and between Knife River Corporation and
MDU Resources Group, Inc.

*2(b) Separation and Distribution Agreement, dated as of 8-K 21 11/1/24 1-03480
October 31, 2024, by and between MDU Resources
Group, Inc. and Everus Construction Group, Inc.

3(a) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of 8-K 3.2 5/8/19 1-03480
MDU Resources Group, Inc.
3(b) Bylaws of MDU Resources Group, Inc. 8-K 3.1 2/14/25 1-03480
4(a) MDU Resources Group, Inc. Description of Securities 10-K  12/31/19 4(9) 2/21/20 1-03480
4(b) Indenture, dated as of December 15, 2003, between S-8 4(f) 1/21/04  333-112035
MDU Resources Group, Inc. and The Bank of New York,
as trustee
4(c) First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 17, 10-K  12/31/09 4(c) 2/17/10 1-03480

2009, between MDU Resources Group, Inc. and the
Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee

**4(d) Montana-Dakota Utilities Co. Amended and Restated 10-K  12/31/19 4(d) 2/21/20 1-03480
Credit Agreement, dated December 19, 2019, among
Montana-Dakota Utilities Co., Various Lenders, and Wells
Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative
Agent

4(e) Montana-Dakota Utilities Co. Note Purchase Agreement, 10-Q  9/30/19 4(a) 11/1/19 1-03480
dated July 24, 2019, among Montana-Dakota Utilities Co.
and various purchasers of the notes

**4(f) Montana-Dakota Utilities Co. Note Purchase Agreement, 10-Q 6/30/24 4(a) 8/8/24 1-03480
dated July 11, 2024
**4(9) WBI Energy Transmission, Inc. Second Amendment and 10-K  12/31/22 4(h) 2/24/23 1-03480

Restatement Note Purchase and Private Shelf
Agreement, effective as of December 22, 2022, among
Prudential Investment Management, Inc. and certain
investors described therein

4(h) WBI Energy Transmission, Inc. Term Loan Agreement, 10-Q 3/31/24 4(a) 5/2/24 1-03480
dated April 1, 2024, among WBI Energy Transmission,
Inc., Various Lenders, and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Administrative Agent

10(a) Tax Matters Agreement, dated as of May 30, 2023, by 8-K 10.2 6/1/23 1-03480
and between Knife River Corporation and MDU
Resources Group, Inc.

**10(b) Tax Matters Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2024, by 8-K 10.2 11/1/24 1-03480
and between MDU Resources Group, Inc. and Everus
Construction Group, Inc.

**10(c) Employee Matters Agreement, dated as of October 31, 8-K 10.3 11/1/24 1-03480
2024, by and between MDU Resources Group, Inc. and
Everus Construction Group, Inc.

**10(d) Transition Services Agreement, dated as of October 31, 8-K 10.1 11/1/24 1-03480
2024, by and between MDU Resources Group, Inc. and
Everus Construction Group, Inc.

**10(e) 5-Year Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of May 31, 8-K 10.5 6/1/23 1-03480
2023, by and among MDU Resources Group, Inc., the
financial institutions from time to time party thereto and
U.S. Bank National Association.

**10(f) 364-Day Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of May 8-K 10.6 6/1/23 1-03480
31, 2023, by and among MDU Resources Group, Inc.,
the financial institutions from time to time party thereto
and U.S. Bank National Association.

**10(g) Term Loan Agreement, dated as of May 31, 2023, by and 8-K 10.7 6/1/23 1-03480
among MDU Resources Group, Inc., the lenders from
time to time party thereto and U.S. Bank National
Association.
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31(b)

MDU Resources Group, Inc. Supplemental Income
Security Plan, as amended and restated May 10, 2017

MDU Resources Group, Inc. Director Compensation
Policy, as amended May 15, 2024

Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors, as amended
May 15, 2008

Non-Employee Director Stock Compensation Plan, as
amended May 12, 2011

MDU Resources Group, Inc. Non-Employee Director
Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan, as amended
May 17, 2012

MDU Resources Group, Inc. Long-Term Performance-
Based Incentive Plan, as amended February 15, 2024

MDU Resources Group, Inc. Executive Incentive
Compensation Plan, as amended February 13, 2025

Form of Performance Share Award Agreement (Absolute)
under the Long-Term Performance-Based Incentive Plan,
as amended

Form of Performance Share Award Agreement (TSR)
under the Long-Term Performance-Based Incentive Plan,
as amended

Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the Long-
Term Performance-Based Incentive Plan, as amended

Form of Performance Share Award Agreement under the
Long-Term Performance-Based Incentive Plan, as
amended February 17, 2022

Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the Long-
Term Performance-Based Incentive Plan, as amended
February 17, 2022

Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the Long-
Term Performance-Based Incentive Plan, as amended
February 16, 2023

Form of MDU Resources Group, Inc. Indemnification
Agreement for Section 16 Officers and Directors, dated
May 15, 2014

Form of Amendment No. 1 to Indemnification Agreement,
dated May 15, 2014

MDU Resources Group, Inc. Nonqualified Defined
Contribution Plan, as amended and restated November
12, 2020

MDU Resources Group, Inc. Deferred Compensation
Plan Adoption Agreement, as amended August 12, 2021

MDU Resources Group, Inc. Deferred Compensation
Plan Document, dated November 12, 2020

Cooperation Agreement, dated as of January 24, 2023,
by and among Keith A. Meister, Corvex Management LP
and MDU Resources Group, Inc.

MDU Resources Group, Inc. Change in Control
Severance Plan
Insider Trading Policy

Subsidiaries of MDU Resources Group, Inc.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm

Certification of Chief Executive Officer filed pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer filed pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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***32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief X

Financial Officer furnished pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

+97 Incentive Compensation Recovery Policy 10-K  12/31/23 97 2/22/24 1-03480

101.INS  XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does
not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL
tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document

101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
Document

101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline
XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

* Certain exhibits and schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The Company agrees to furnish
supplementally to the SEC a copy of any omitted exhibits or schedules upon request; provided that the Company may request confidential
treatment pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Exchange Act.

** Schedules and exhibits to this agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted
schedule and/or exhibit will be furnished as a supplement to the SEC upon request.

*** Furnished herewith.
+ Management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement.

MDU Resources Group, Inc. agrees to furnish to the SEC upon request any instrument with respect to long-term debt that MDU
Resources Group, Inc. has not filed as an exhibit pursuant to the exemption provided by Item 601(b)(4)(iii)(A) of Regulation S-K.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.

Date: February 20, 2025

MDU Resources Group, Inc.

By:

/sl Nicole A. Kivisto

Nicole A. Kivisto

(President and Chief Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on
the date indicated.

Signature

/sl Nicole A. Kivisto

(President and Chief Executive Officer)

Nicole A. Kivisto

/sl Jason L. Vollmer

Jason L. Vollmer
(Chief Financial Officer)

/s/ Stephanie A. Sievert

(Chief Accounting and Regulatory Affairs Officer)

Stephanie A. Sievert

/s/ Dennis W. Johnson

Dennis W. Johnson
(Chair of the Board)

/s/ Darrel T. Anderson

Darrel T. Anderson

/sl Vernon A. Dosch

Vernon A. Dosch

/s/ Marian M. Durkin

Marian M. Durkin

/sl Douglas W. Jaeger

Douglas W. Jaeger

/sl Chenxi Wang

Chenxi Wang

Chief Executive Officer and Director

Chief Financial Officer

Chief Accounting Officer

Title

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Date

February 20, 2025

February 20, 2025

February 20, 2025

February 20, 2025

February 20, 2025

February 20, 2025

February 20, 2025

February 20, 2025

February 20, 2025
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MDU RESOURCES GROUP, INC. DIRECTOR COMPENSATION POLICY

Each director of MDU Resources Group, Inc. (the “Company”) who is not a full-time employee of the Company (a
“Director”) shall receive compensation made up of annual cash retainers and shares of the Company’s common stock (“Common
Stock”), as set forth in this policy.

Director Compensation

Annual Cash Retainers

Base Retainer $110,000*
Additional Retainers:
Non-Executive Chair of the Board $100,000*
Chair of Audit Committee 20,000%*
Chair of Compensation Committee 15,000*
Chair of Environmental and Sustainability Committee 15,000%*
Chair of Nominating and Governance Committee 15,000*

*Effective subject the successful spinoff of Everus Construction Group.

Such cash retainers shall be paid in monthly installments.

In the event that the Non-Executive Chair of the Board concurrently serves as a Committee Chair, the Non-Executive Chair
of the Board will not receive any additional cash retainer for serving as the Committee Chair.

The MDU Resources Group, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors (as amended and restated effective May 15,
2008) (the “Plan”) permits a Director to defer all or any portion of the annual cash retainers. The amount deferred is recorded in
each participant's deferred compensation account and credited with income in the manner prescribed in the Plan. For further
details, reference is made to the Plan, a copy of which is attached.

Common Stock

Each person, other than the Non-Executive Chair of the Board, who is a Director of the Company at any time during the
calendar year shall receive a $150,000 stock payment, and any person who is the Non-Executive Chair of the Board shall receive a
$175,000 stock payment, on or about the Wednesday following the Board of Directors’ regularly-scheduled November meeting,
pursuant to the Non-Employee Director Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan. The stock payment shall be made under the
Non-Employee Director Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan. The stock payment shall be made by providing the Director or
Non-Executive Chair with the number of whole shares of Common Stock determined (i) if the shares are original issue or treasury
stock, by dividing the amount of the applicable stock payment by the closing price of the Common Stock on the New York Stock
Exchange on the grant date and (ii) if the shares are purchased on the open market, by dividing the amount of the applicable
stock payment by the weighted average price paid to purchase shares for the Director or Non-Executive Chair for that stock
payment, excluding any related brokerage commissions or other service fees. Any fractional shares shall be paid in cash. The
stock payment shall be prorated for any Director or Non-Executive Chair who does not serve the entire

1



calendar year by multiplying the applicable stock payment by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of actual or
expected

months (with a partial month counted as a full month) of service on the Board during the calendar year and the denominator of
which is twelve.

By written election a Director may reduce his or her annual cash retainers and have that amount applied to the purchase
of additional shares of Common Stock under the Non-Employee Director Long- Term Incentive Compensation Plan. The annual
election shall specify the percentage of the annual cash retainers to be applied toward the purchase of additional shares and
must be received by the Company by the last business day of the year prior to the year in which the election is to be effective. No
election may be changed or revoked for the current year but may be changed for a subsequent year. The additional stock
payments will be made on the last business day of March, June, September, and December. The stock payment shall be made by
providing the Director with the number of whole shares of Common Stock determined (i) if the shares are original issue or
treasury stock, by dividing the amount of the applicable stock payment by the closing price of the Common Stock on the New
York Stock Exchange on the grant date or (ii) if the shares are purchased on the open market, by dividing the amount of the
applicable stock payment by the weighted average price paid to purchase shares for the Director for that stock payment,
excluding any related brokerage commissions or other service fees. No fractional shares shall be purchased and cash in lieu of
any fractional shares shall be paid to the Director.

Travel Expense Reimbursement

All Directors will be reimbursed for reasonable travel expenses incurred while serving as a Director, including spouse’s
expenses, in connection with attendance at meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors and its committees. If the travel
expense is related to the reimbursement of airfare, such reimbursement will not exceed full-coach rate. Spousal travel expenses
paid by the Company are treated as taxable income to the Director. See the paragraph below entitled "Code Section 409A" for
further rules relating to travel expense reimbursements.

Directors' Liability

Article Seven of the Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation provides that no Director of the
Company shall be liable to the Company or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a Director,
except for liability: (i) for any breach of the Director’s duty of loyalty to the Company or its stockholders, (ii) for acts or omissions
not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (iii) under Section-174 of the Delaware
General Corporation Law (relating to unlawful declaration of dividends and unlawful purchase of the Company's stock), or (iv) for
any transaction from which the Director derived an improper personal benefit.

Section 7.07 of the Company’s Bylaws requires the Company to indemnify a Director, to the fullest extent permitted by
applicable law, against expenses, attorneys fees, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement of any suit, action or
proceeding, whether civil or criminal, arising from the fact that the Director was a Director of the Company.

Additional protection is provided through individual indemnification agreements with each Director.



The Company has and does maintain Directors' and Officers' liability insurance coverage with a $130 million limit.

Insurance Coverages

The Company maintains the following insurance for protection of its Directors as they carry out the business of the
Company, which shall be provided while serving as a Director: (i) general liability and automobile liability insurance, (ii) fiduciary
and crime insurance, (iii) aircraft liability insurance, and
(iv) business travel accident insurance.

All outside Directors are protected by a non-contributory group life insurance policy with coverage of $100,000. The
coverage begins the day the Director is elected to the Board of Directors and terminates when the Director ceases to be an
outside Director. A Summary Plan Description (SPD) can be provided to the Director. The beneficiary of the insurance will be the
beneficiary recorded on a beneficiary designation provided by the Company. The group life insurance policy is considered taxable
compensation under current tax laws. Consequently, the Company will provide each Director annually on Form 1099 the amount
of taxable income related to this coverage.

Hedging Stock Ownership

Directors are not permitted to hedge their ownership of Company common stock. Hedging strategies include but are not
limited to zero-cost collars, equity swaps, straddles, prepaid variable forward contracts, security futures contracts, exchange
funds, forward sale contracts and other financial transactions that allow the Director to benefit from devaluation of the
Company's stock. Hedging strategies may allow Directors to own stock technically but without the full benefits and risks of such
ownership. Therefore, Directors are prohibited from engaging in any such transactions.

Policy Regarding Margin Accounts and Pledging of Company Stock

Effective December 21, 2012, Directors and related persons are prohibited from holding Company common stock in a
margin account or pledging Company securities as collateral for a loan, with certain exceptions. Company common stock may be
held in a margin brokerage account only if the stock is explicitly excluded from any margin, pledge or security provisions of the
customer agreement. Company common stock may be held in a cash account, which is a brokerage account that does not allow
any extension of credit on securities. “Related person” means a Director’s spouse, minor child and any person (other than a
tenant or domestic employee) sharing the household of a Director, as well as any entities over which a Director exercises control.

Code Section 409A

To the extent any reimbursements or in-kind benefits provided to a Director pursuant to this policy constitute “deferred
compensation” under Internal Revenue Code Section 409A, any such reimbursement or in-kind benefit shall be paid in a manner
consistent with Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i)(1)(iv), including the requirements that the amount of reimbursable
expenses or in-kind benefits provided during a year may not affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement or in-kind benefits
provided in any other year and that any reimbursement be made on or before the last day of the calendar year following the
calendar year in which the expense was incurred.



Adopted and effective August 3, 1989

Amended February 13, 1992, and effective January 1, 1992

Amended May 7, 1992

Amended May 6, 1993, and effective June 1, 1993

Amended November 3, 1994, and effective January 1, 1995, as to the Chairman of the Board Amended May 11, 1995, and

effective April 25, 1995

Amended August 17, 1995, and effective October 13, 1995, as to the three-for-two stock split Amended May 16, 1996, and

effective June 1, 1996, as to the Board and Committee meeting fees

Amended by the Board of Directors May 14, 1998, and effective June 1, 1998, as to the Directors travel expense reimbursement and annual
retainer fees for Committee Chairmen

Amended by the Board of Directors May 14, 1998, and effective July 13, 1998, as to the three-for-two stock split Amended by the Board of

Directors May 11, 2000

Amended by the Board of Directors May 17, 2001, and effective January 1, 2001

Amended by the Board of Directors August 16, 2001, as to Directors’ liability insurance coverage Amended by the Board of

Directors May 15, 2003, as to Directors Stock payment and Committee fee Amended by the Board of Directors August 13, 2003,

and effective October 29, 2003, as to the
three-for-two stock split

Amended by the Board of Directors May 12, 2005, as to the Audit Committee Chairman retainer

Amended by the Board of Directors May 11, 2006, effective June 1, 2006, as to annual retainers, travel expense reimbursement and insurance
coverages and effective July 26, 2006 as to the three-for-two stock split

Amended by the Board of Directors February 15, 2007, as to Hedging Stock Ownership

Amended by the Board of Directors May 15, 2008, for Internal Revenue Code Section 409A revisions and to reflect changes in insurance
benefits

Amended by the Board of Directors May 14, 2009 (1) effective June 1, 2009, to increase annual cash retainers and delete meeting fees and
(2) effective January 1, 2009, to provide that the Non-Executive Chairman of the Board's additional retainer is payable solely in cash

Amended by the Board of Directors August 12, 2010, to reflect changes to insurance coverage and, effective January 1, 2011, to provide for
prorated annual stock awards to be made each November

Amended by the Board of Directors May 12, 2011 (1) effective June 1, 2011, to increase Committee Chairs’ additional retainers by $5,000 per
year and (2) effective for 2011, to grant shares equal in value to
$110,000 instead of a fixed number of shares

Amended by the Board of Directors November 15, 2012, effective December 21, 2012, as to Margin Accounts and Pledging of Company Stock

Amended by the Board of Directors February 14, 2013, effective December 21, 2012, to reflect changes to the Policy Regarding Margin
Accounts and Pledging of Company Stock

Amended by the Board of Directors May 16, 2013, to increase the Chairman of the Board’s additional retainer by $15,000 per year, effective
June 1, 2013

Amended by the Board of Directors May 15, 2014, effective June 1, 2014, to increase Directors base retainer by
$10,000 per year

Amended by the Board of Directors May 10, 2017, to include reference to the Non-Employee Director Long- Term Incentive Compensation
Plan, to remove language relating to Lead Director retainer, and to increase the Chair of the Board’s Common Stock Payment by
$35,000, and effective June 1, 2017, to increase Directors base retainer by $5,000 per year

Amended by the Board of Directors November 16, 2017, to specify that stock awards will be made under the Non-Employee Director Long-
Term Incentive Compensation Plan after termination of the Non-Employee Director Stock Compensation Plan, and to reflect changes
and clarifications regarding an election to purchase additional shares of Company stock in-lieu of cash compensation

Amended by the Board of Directors November 15, 2018, to provide for the additional stock payments in lieu of cash retainers to be made on
a quarterly basis on the last business day of March, June, September, and December, which is consistent with the dates for crediting
of Investment Units for deferred cash retainers under the Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors. Also, reference to the Non-
Employee Director Stock Compensation Plan on page 1 of the Policy is removed since those shares have been depleted and that plan
is terminated.



Amended by the Board of Directors May 8, 2019, to reflect increases to Director’s base retainer, committee chair retainers and stock-based
compensation and to add committee chair fees for the Environmental and
Sustainability Committee. Increased Director General Liability, Auto Liability and Director/Officer Liability coverage.

Amended by the Board of Directors May 12, 2021, to reflect changes to Director’s and Non-Executive Chair retainers and equity award. Also
reflects simplification and changes to align with Bylaws in the Director Liability and Insurance Coverages sections.

Amended by the Board of Directors May 11, 2022, to reflect changes to Director’s and Non-Executive Chair retainers and equity award.

Amended by the Board of Directors May 10, 2023, to reflect changes to the Non-Executive Chair compensation in the event of concurrent
service as a Committee Chair.

Amended by the Board of Directors May 15, 2024 to reflect changes to the Non-Executive Chair additional cash retainer.
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MDU RESOURCES GROUP, INC.
EXECUTIVE INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN

. ESTABLISHMENT AND PURPOSE

This Executive Incentive Compensation Plan (this “Plan”), as amended and restated as of February 13, 2025, and as may be
subsequently amended from time to time, of MDU Resources Group, Inc. (the “Company”), is to provide an incentive for officers
and key employees of the Company and its subsidiaries to focus their efforts on the achievement of performance objectives.

[I.  DEFINITIONS

Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth below.
“Administrator” has the meaning ascribed in Article IV.

“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Compensation Committee” shall be the Compensation and Human Capital Committee of the Board.

“Participants” for any Plan Year shall be those employees who have been approved by the appropriate Administrator as eligible for
participation in the Plan for such Plan Year.

“Plan Year” means the calendar year.
“Service Year” means the Plan Year during which the services giving rise to the incentive award are performed.

“Year of Service” means any calendar year in which a Participant was employed by the Company or any subsidiary thereof and
worked over 1,000 hours during such year.

[ll.  BASIC PLAN CONCEPT

The Plan provides an opportunity to earn annual incentive compensation based on the achievement of specified annual
performance measures. A target incentive award for each Participant within the Plan is established by the Administrator. The target
incentive award represents the amount to be paid, subject to the achievement of the performance measures established each year.
Larger incentive awards than target may be authorized when performance exceeds targets; lesser amounts or no amount may be
paid when performance is below target. As set forth in Section IX, the Administrator reserves the right at any time to modify the
amount of any payment of an incentive under the Plan.



IV. ADMINISTRATION

The Plan shall be administered by the Administrator. With respect to employees subject to Section 16 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchange Act”), the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors will be the Administrator. With
respect to employees who are not subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act, the Chief Executive Officer shall be the Administrator
with respect to Company employees.

The Administrator shall approve the list of eligible Participants and the threshold, target, and maximum (if any) incentive award
level for each Participant within the Plan. The Plan’s performance measure targets for the year shall be approved by the
Administrator no later than 90 days after the beginning of that Plan Year. The Administrator shall have final discretion to determine
actual award payment levels, and whether or not payments shall be made for any Plan Year.

The Administrator may, at any time and from time to time, alter, amend, supersede, or terminate the Plan in whole or in part,
provided that, without the written consent of the Participant, no termination, amendment, or modification of the Plan shall
materially and adversely affect any award for which all requirements for payment have been satisfied, unless such termination,
modification, or amendment is permitted pursuant to the terms of the Plan or required by applicable law.

V. ELIGIBILITY

Employees eligible to participate in the Plan will be selected by the Administrator in its sole discretion. Nothing in the Plan shall
interfere with or limit in any way the right of an employer to terminate any Participant’s employment at any time, for any reason or
no reason in its sole discretion, or confer upon any Participant any right to remain employed by the employer. No employee shall
have the right to be selected to receive an award under the Plan, or, having been so selected, to be selected to receive a future
award.

PLAN PERFORMANCE MEASURES

The Administrator will annually establish and evaluate performance measures based on the achievement of specified objectives.
Performance measures may be based on the performance of the Company, any subsidiary, or any other operating unit, level,
business segment, division, or function thereof, and may be applied either alone or relative to the performance of other businesses
or individuals (including industry or general market indices). The Administrator may assign different performance measures and/or
different weights to performance measures for each Participant.

The Administrator may establish threshold, target, and maximum or other award levels annually for some or all of the established
performance measures. The Administrator will retain the right to make all interpretations as to the actual attainment of the desired
performance measure and may determine whether any unusual circumstances, including ones beyond the control of management,
need to be considered in determining the degree to which a performance measure has been attained.



VIl. TARGET INCENTIVE AWARDS

Target incentive awards are expressed as a percentage of each Participant’s base salary. These percentages may vary by position
and may reflect larger reward opportunity for positions having greater effect on the perceived establishment and accomplishment
of the performance objectives. A schedule showing the target awards as a percentage of the Participant’s base salary for eligible
positions will be prepared for each Plan Year.

VIIl. TARGET INCENTIVE AWARDS PAYOUT DETERMINATION

At the close of each Plan Year, an analysis shall be prepared showing the actual performance results in relation to each of the target
performance measures, if applicable. This will be provided to the Administrator for review and comparison to threshold, target, and
maximum or other performance levels, if applicable. The Administrator will then determine the amount of each Participant’s
incentive award. Each Participant’s award will generally be based upon the level of actual performance achieved relative to the
established performance measures, as determined by the Administrator.

IX. ADJUSTMENT TO AWARDS

The Administrator may, in its sole discretion, and for any reason modify (including by increasing or reducing) the amount of any
Participant’s award. There is no obligation of uniformity of treatment of Participants under the Plan.

X. PAYMENT OF AWARDS

Except as provided below or as otherwise determined by the Administrator, in order to receive an award payment under the Plan,
the Participant must remain in the employment of the Company or one of its subsidiaries for the entire Service Year. If a Participant
terminates employment during the Service Year after the Participant’s 60th birthday and after having at least 10 Years of Service,
determination of whether the performance measures have been met will be made at the end of the Service Year, and to the extent
met, payment of the award will be made to the Participant, prorated. Proration of awards shall be based upon the number of days
of employment during the Service Year. The prorated award shall be paid as soon as practicable in the year following the Service
Year, but in all events between January 1 and March 15.

A Participant who transfers between the Company and one of its subsidiaries during the Plan Year may receive a prorated award at
the discretion of the Administrator.

Unless otherwise expressly provided for under the operative retirement plan document, payments made under the Plan will not be
considered part of any “compensation” definition for any pension or 401(k) Plan. Payments will be made in cash as soon as
practicable in the year following the Service Year, but in all events between January 1 and March 15.



To the extent approved by the Administrator of the Plan with respect to employees of the Company or its subsidiaries, as
applicable, incentive awards may be deferred in accordance with the deferral election rules and provisions of the MDU Resources
Group, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan.

Xl.  ACCOUNTING RESTATEMENTS

This Article Xl shall apply to incentive granted to all participants in the Plan. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, if
the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement due to material noncompliance with any financial reporting
requirements under the securities laws, the Company or the Committee may, or shall if required, take action to recover incentive-
based compensation from specific executive officers in accordance with the Company’s Incentive Compensation Recovery Policy, as
it may be amended or substituted from time to time, and in accordance with applicable law and applicable rules of the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission and the New York Stock Exchange.

Xll. GENERAL PROVISIONS

Non-transferability. A person’s rights and interests under the Plan or any amounts payable under the Plan may not be assigned,
pledged, or transferred.

No Right to Employment. Nothing in the Plan shall confer upon any person the right to continue in the employment of the
Company or any subsidiary thereof or affect the right of the Company or any subsidiary thereof to terminate the employment of
any Participant.

Withholding. The Company or any subsidiary thereof shall have the right to withhold from any payment under the Plan, any
federal, state, or local income and/or payroll taxes required by law to be withheld and to take such other action as the
Administrator may deem advisable to enable the Company or any subsidiary thereof and Participants to satisfy obligations for the
payment of withholding taxes and other tax obligations relating to any payment.

Unfunded Status. Nothing contained in the Plan, and no action taken pursuant to its provisions, shall create or be construed to
create a trust of any kind or a fiduciary relationship between the Company or any subsidiary thereof and any Participant,
beneficiary, or legal representative or any other person. To the extent that a person acquires a right to receive payments under the
Plan, such right shall be no greater than the right of an unsecured general creditor of the Company. All payments to be made
hereunder shall be paid from the general funds of the Company and no special or separate fund shall be established, and no
segregation of assets shall be made to assure payment of such amounts except as expressly set forth in the Plan. The Plan is not
intended to be subject to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

Governing Law. The Plan shall be construed, administered and enforced in accordance with the laws of Delaware without regard to
conflicts of law.



Section 409A of the Code. It is intended that any payment under the Plan qualifies as a short-term deferral exempt from the
requirements of Section 409A of the Code. In the event that any payment does not qualify for treatment as an exempt short-term

deferral, it is intended that such amount will be paid in a manner that satisfies the requirements of Section 409A of the Code. The
Plan shall be interpreted and construed accordingly.



MDU RESOURCES GROUP, INC.
LONG-TERM PERFORMANCE-BASED INCENTIVE PLAN
PERFORMANCE SHARE ("PSA'") AWARD AGREEMENT
(Based on the Absolute Performance of MDU Resources Group, Inc.)
[Date]
[Participant Name]

In accordance with the terms of the MDU Resources Group, Inc. (the "Company") Long-Term Performance-Based Incentive Plan
(the "Plan"), pursuant to action of the Compensation and Human Capital Committee (the "Committee") of the Company’s Board of
Directors, the Company hereby grants to you (the "Participant") PSAs (the "Award"), subject to the terms and conditions set forth in
this Award Agreement (including Annex A and all documents incorporated herein by reference), as set forth below:

Target Award: [No. of Shares] PSAs (the "Target Award")
Performance Period: January 1, through
December 31, (the "Performance Period")

Date of Grant:

Dividend Equivalents: Yes

THESE PSAs ARE SUBJECT TO FORFEITURE AS PROVIDED HEREIN. THIS AWARD AND AMOUNTS RECEIVED
IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AWARD ARE ALSO SUBJECT TO FORFEITURE, RECAPTURE, OR OTHER ACTION
IN THE EVENT OF AN ACCOUNTING RESTATEMENT, AS PROVIDED IN THE PLAN.

Further terms and conditions of the Award are set forth in Annex A hereto, which is an integral part of this Award Agreement.

Subject to the terms of the Plan, decisions and interpretations of the Committee are binding, conclusive, and final upon any questions
arising under the Award Agreement or the Plan.

Attachment:

Annex A: Performance Share Award Agreement



ANNEX A

It is understood and agreed that the Award of PSAs evidenced by the Award Agreement to which this is annexed is subject to the
following additional terms and conditions.

1. Nature of Award. The Target Award represents the opportunity to receive shares of Company common stock, $1.00 par value
("Shares") and Dividend Equivalents on such Shares. The number of Shares that may be earned under this Award shall be
determined pursuant to Section 3 hereof. The amount of Dividend Equivalents that may be earned under this Award shall be
determined pursuant to Section 5 hereof. Except for Dividend Equivalents, which are paid in cash, Awards will be paid in Shares.

2. Performance Measures. The "Payout Percentage" of the Target Award number of Shares will be determined based on [¢] for the
three-year Performance Period.

The applicable Payout Percentage of the Target Award number of Shares based achievement of the [*] performance measure will be
determined in accordance with the following table:

Payout Percentage
(% of Target Award)

Performance Measure

Payout Percentages for results achieved between the stated performance levels will be determined by linear interpolation.

3. Determination of Number of Shares Earned. The number of Shares earned, if any, for the Performance Period shall be determined
in accordance with the following formula:

# of Shares earned = Payout Percentage x Target Award
All PSAs that are not earned for the Performance Period shall be forfeited

4. Issuance of Shares. Subject to any restrictions on distributions of Shares under the Plan, and subject to Section 5 of this Annex, the
Shares earned under the Award, if any, shall be issued to the Participant as soon as practicable following the close of the
Performance Period but no later than the March 15" immediately following the close of the Performance Period. Executives are
required to comply with the Company’s Stock Ownership Policy and Insider Trading Policy. If a Participant has not achieved an
applicable stock ownership requirement, the Participant shall hold the net after-tax Shares received under this Award until the
requirement is met.

5. Dividend Equivalents. Dividend Equivalents shall be earned with respect to any Shares issued to the Participant pursuant to this
Award. The amount of Dividend Equivalents earned shall be equal to the total dividends declared on a Share for stockholders of
record between the Date of Grant of this Award and the last day of the Performance Period, multiplied by the number of Shares
issued to the Participant pursuant to the Award Agreement. Any Dividend Equivalents earned shall be paid in
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cash to the Participant when the Shares to which they relate are issued or as soon as practicable thereafter, but no later than the
March 15" immediately following the close of the Performance Period. If the Award is forfeited or if no Shares are issued, no
Dividend Equivalents shall be paid.

6. Termination of Employment During the Performance Period.
(a) If the Participant's employment with the Company is terminated during the Performance Period for "Cause" (as defined below) at
any time, all PSAs (and related Dividend Equivalents) shall be forfeited.

(b) If the Participant's employment with the Company is terminated after the Participant, as of the effective date of termination, has
reached age 55 and completed 10 "Years of Service" (i) during the first year of the Performance Period, all PSAs (and related
Dividend Equivalents) shall be forfeited; (ii) during the second year of the Performance Period, determination of the Company's
Payout Percentage for the Performance Period will be made by the Committee at the end of the Performance Period, and Shares (and
related Dividend Equivalents) earned, if any, will be paid based on the Payout Percentage, prorated for the number of full months
elapsed from and including the month in which the Performance Period began to and including the month in which the termination
of employment occurs; and (iii) during the third year of the Performance Period, determination of the Company's Payout Percentage
for the Performance Period will be made by the Committee at the end of the Performance Period, and Shares (and related Dividend
Equivalents) earned, if any, will be paid based on the Payout Percentage without prorating.

(¢) If'the Participant’s employment with the Company is terminated due to death or disability, a portion of the unvested PSAs will
vest based on the ratio of the number of full months of employment completed during the Performance Period to the date of death or
disability divided by the total number of months in the Performance Period.

(d) For purposes of the Award Agreement, the term "Cause" shall mean the Participant's fraud or dishonesty that has resulted or is
likely to result in material economic damage to the Company or a Subsidiary, or the Participant's willful nonfeasance if such
nonfeasance is not cured within ten days of written notice from the Company or a Subsidiary, as determined in good faith by a vote
of at least two-thirds of the non-employee directors of the Company at a meeting of the Board at which the Participant is provided an
opportunity to be heard. For purposes of the Award Agreement, the term "Years of Service" shall mean the full 12-month years a
Participant is employed by the Company and/or a Subsidiary.

7. Tax Withholding. Pursuant to Article 15 of the Plan, the Committee has the power and the right to deduct or withhold, or require
the Participant to remit to the Company, an amount sufficient to satisfy any federal, state and local taxes (including the Participant's
FICA obligations) required by law to be withheld with respect to the Award and Dividend Equivalents. The Committee may
condition the delivery of Shares upon the Participant's satisfaction of such withholding obligations. The withholding requirement for
Shares will be satisfied by the Company withholding Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to federal income tax withholding
obligations using an IRS accepted methodology plus additional amounts for state and local tax purposes, as applicable, including
payroll taxes, that are applicable to such supplemental taxable income but with rates not to exceed the maximum effective statutory
rates, unless the Participant elects, in a manner satisfactory to the Committee, to remit an amount to satisfy the withholding
requirement subject to such restrictions or limitations that the Committee, in its sole discretion, deems appropriate. Such
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election must be made before, and is irrevocable after, December 15 of the last year of the Performance Period, and cannot be made
or revoked while the Participant possesses information that will be material nonpublic information at the time the Shares are issued
such that the Participant would be prohibited from trading on the Company’s stock under the Company's Insider Trading Policy.

8. Ratification of Actions. By accepting the Award or other benefit under the Plan, the Participant and each person claiming under
or through him or her shall be conclusively deemed to have indicated the Participant's acceptance and ratification of, and consent to,
any action taken under the Plan or the Award by the Company, its Board of Directors, or the Committee.

9. Personal Information. The Participant agrees the Company and its suppliers or vendors may collect, use, and disclose the
Participant's personal information for the purposes of the implementation, management, administration, and termination of the Plan.

10. Amendment. The Committee may amend, alter, modify, suspend, or terminate the Award Agreement at any time and from time
to time, in whole or in part; provided, however, no amendment, alteration, modification, suspension, or termination of the Award
Agreement shall adversely affect in any material way the Award Agreement, without the Participant's written consent, except to the
extent such amendment, alteration, modification, suspension, or termination is reasonably determined by the Committee in its sole
discretion to be necessary to comply with applicable laws, rules, regulations, or is necessary for such approvals by any governmental
agencies or national securities exchanges as may be required.

11. Binding Effect. The Award Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company, and, subject to
the restrictions on transfer set forth herein, be binding upon the Participant and the Participant's heirs, beneficiaries, executors, legal
representatives, successors, and assigns.

12. Integrated Agreement. The Award Agreement and the Plan constitute the entire understanding and agreement between the
Participant and the Company with respect to the subject matter contained herein or therein and supersedes any prior agreements,
understandings, restrictions, representations, or warranties between the Participant and the Company with respect to such subject
matter other than those as set forth or provided for herein or therein.

13. Notices. Any notice hereunder to the Company shall be addressed to its office, 1200 West Century Avenue, Bismarck, North
Dakota 58503; Attention: Corporate Secretary, and any notice hereunder to the Participant shall be addressed to him or her at the
address specified on the Award Agreement, subject to the right of either party to designate at any time hereafter in writing some other
address.

14. Definitions. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein or in the Award Agreement shall have the meanings given them in the
Plan.

15. Governing Law and Severability. To the extent not preempted by federal law, the Award Agreement will be governed by and
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to conflicts of law provisions. In the event any
provision of the Award Agreement
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shall be held illegal or invalid for any reason, the illegality or invalidity shall not affect the remaining parts of the Award Agreement,
and the Award Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if the illegal or invalid provision had not been included.

16. No Rights to Continued Employment. The Award Agreement is not a contract of employment. Nothing in the Plan or in the
Award Agreement shall interfere with or limit in any way the right of the Company or any Subsidiary to terminate the Participant's
employment at any time, for any reason or no reason, or confer upon the Participant the right to continue in the employ of the
Company or a Subsidiary.

17. Construction. Captions and titles contained in the Award Agreement are for convenience only and shall not affect the meaning
or interpretation of any provision of the Award Agreement. Except when otherwise indicated by the context, the singular shall
include the plural and the plural shall include the singular. Use of the term "or" is not intended to be exclusive, unless the context
clearly requires otherwise.

18. Conformity. The Award Agreement is intended to conform in all respects with, and is subject to all applicable provisions of, the
Plan. Any conflict between the terms of the Award Agreement and the Plan shall be resolved in accordance with the terms of the
Plan. In the event of any ambiguity in the Award Agreement or any matters as to which the Award Agreement is silent, the Plan shall
govern.
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MDU RESOURCES GROUP, INC.

LONG-TERM PERFORMANCE-BASED INCENTIVE PLAN
PERFORMANCE SHARE ("PSA'") AWARD AGREEMENT
(Based on the Relative TSR Performance of MDU Resources Group, Inc.)
[Date]

[Participant Name]

In accordance with the terms of the MDU Resources Group, Inc. (the "Company") Long-Term Performance-Based Incentive Plan
(the "Plan"), pursuant to action of the Compensation and Human Capital Committee (the "Committee") of the Company's Board of
Directors, the Company hereby grants to you (the "Participant") PSAs (the "Award"), subject to the terms and conditions set forth in
this Award Agreement (including Annexes A and B hereto and all documents incorporated herein by reference), as set forth below:

Target Award: [No. of Shares] PSAs (the "Target Award")
Performance Period: January 1, through
December 31, (the "Performance Period")

Date of Grant:

Dividend Equivalents: Yes

THESE PSAs ARE SUBJECT TO FORFEITURE AS PROVIDED HEREIN. THIS AWARD AND AMOUNTS RECEIVED
IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AWARD ARE ALSO SUBJECT TO FORFEITURE, RECAPTURE OR OTHER ACTION
IN THE EVENT OF AN ACCOUNTING RESTATEMENT, AS PROVIDED IN THE PLAN.

Further terms and conditions of the Award are set forth in Annexes A and B hereto, which are integral parts of this Award Agreement.
Subject to the terms of the Plan, decisions and interpretations of the Committee are binding, conclusive, and final upon any questions
arising under the Award Agreement or the Plan.

Attachments:

Annex A: Performance Share Award Agreement

Annex B: Peer Group



ANNEX A

It is understood and agreed that the Award of PSAs evidenced by the Award Agreement to which this is annexed is subject to the
following additional terms and conditions.

1. Nature of Award. The Target Award represents the opportunity to receive shares of Company common stock, $1.00 par value
("Shares") and Dividend Equivalents on such Shares. The number of Shares that may be earned under this Award shall be
determined pursuant to Section 3 hereof. The amount of Dividend Equivalents that may be earned under this Award shall be
determined pursuant to Section 5 hereof. Except for Dividend Equivalents, which are paid in cash, Awards will be paid in Shares.

2. Performance Measures. The "Payout Percentage" of the Target Award number of Shares will be determined based on the
Company's total stockholder return ("TSR") relative to that of the Peer Group (as defined below) (the "Percentile Rank") for the
Performance Period.

(a) The applicable Payout Percentage of the Target Award number of Shares based on the achievement of the relative TSR
performance measure will be determined in accordance with the following table:

Payout Percentage

Percentile Rank (% of Target Award)

Payout percentages for results achieved between the above-stated percentile ranks will be determined by linear interpolation. The
Percentile Rank of a given Peer Group company's TSR is defined as the percentage of the Peer Group companies' returns falling at
or below the given Peer Group company's TSR. The formula for calculating the Percentile Rank follows:

Percentile Rank = (n - r+ 1)/n x 100

Where:

n = total number of companies in the Peer Group at the end of the Performance Period, excluding the Company

r = the numeric rank of the Company's TSR relative to the Peer Group at the end of the Performance Period,
where the highest return in the group is ranked number 1

To illustrate, if the Company's TSR is the third highest in the Peer Group comprised of 20 companies, its Percentile Rank would be
90. The calculation is: (20 - 3 + 1)/20 x 100 = 90.

The Percentile Rank shall be rounded to the nearest whole percentage.

For purposes of this Award Agreement, the applicable Peer Group shall be the companies identified in Annex B, as determined by
the Committee (the "Peer Group"). If a Peer Group company is
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acquired or merges with another entity (or it is publicly announced that it will be acquired or merges with another entity) during the
Performance Period, the company or companies will be deleted from the Peer Group for the entire Performance Period and
Percentile Rank will be calculated without regard to the return of the deleted company or companies. If a peer group company
becomes bankrupt, or is delisted (and not otherwise acquired) from trading on national securities exchange due to a voluntary or
involuntary delisting, prior to or during the Performance Period, the company will be moved to the bottom of the Peer Group for the
entire Performance Period and Percentile Rank will be calculated with regard to the return of the bankrupt or delisted company. If
the Company or a company in the Peer Group spins off a segment of its business, the shares of the spun-off entity will be treated as a
cash dividend that is reinvested in the Company or the company in the Peer Group. If the Company’s and/or any Peer Group
company’s stock splits, such company’s TSR will be adjusted for the stock split so as not to give an advantage or disadvantage to
such company by comparison to the other companies.

TSR is the percentage change in the value of an investment in the common stock of a company based on the average closing prices
for the last twenty trading days in the calendar year preceding the beginning of the Performance Period through the average closing
prices for the last twenty trading days in the final year of the Performance Period. It is assumed that dividends are reinvested in
additional shares of common stock at the frequency paid.

3. Determination of Number of Shares Earned. The number of Shares earned, if any, for the Performance Period shall be
determined in accordance with the following formula:

# of Shares earned = Payout Percentage x Target Award
All PSAs that are not earned for the Performance Period shall be forfeited

4. Issuance of Shares. Subject to any restrictions on distributions of Shares under the Plan, and subject to Section 5 of this Annex
A, the Shares earned under the Award, if any, shall be issued to the Participant as soon as practicable, but no later than the March 15%
immediately following the close of the Performance Period. Executives are required to comply with the Company’s Stock
Ownership Policy and Insider Trading Policy. If a Participant has not achieved an applicable stock ownership requirement, the
Participant shall hold the net after-tax Shares received under this Award until the requirement is met.

5. Dividend Equivalents. Dividend Equivalents shall be earned with respect to any Shares issued to the Participant pursuant to this
Award. The amount of Dividend Equivalents earned shall be equal to the total dividends declared on a Share for stockholders of
record between the Date of Grant of this Award and the last day of the Performance Period, multiplied by the number of Shares
issued to the Participant pursuant to the Award Agreement. Any Dividend Equivalents earned shall be paid in cash to the Participant
when the Shares to which they relate are issued or as soon as practicable thereafter, but no later than the March 15" immediately
following the close of the Performance Period. If the Award is forfeited or if no Shares are issued, no Dividend Equivalents shall be
paid.
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6. Termination of Employment During the Performance Period.
(a) If the Participant's employment with the Company is terminated during the Performance Period for "Cause" (as defined below) at
any time, all PSAs (and related Dividend Equivalents) shall be forfeited.

(b) If the Participant's employment with the Company is terminated after the Participant, as of the effective date of termination, has
reached age 55 and completed 10 "Years of Service" (i) during the first year of the Performance Period, all PSAs (and related
Dividend Equivalents) shall be forfeited; (ii) during the second year of the Performance Period, determination of the Company's
Payout Percentage for the Performance Period will be made by the Committee at the end of the Performance Period, and Shares (and
related Dividend Equivalents) earned, if any, will be paid based on the Payout Percentage, prorated for the number of full months
elapsed from and including the month in which the Performance Period began to and including the month in which the termination
of employment occurs; and (iii) during the third year of the Performance Period, determination of the Company's Payout Percentage
for the Performance Period will be made by the Committee at the end of the Performance Period, and Shares (and related Dividend
Equivalents) earned, if any, will be paid based on the Payout Percentage without prorating.

(c) If the Participant’s employment with the Company is terminated due to death or disability, a portion of the unvested PSAs will
vest based on the ratio of the number of full months of employment completed during the Performance Period to the date of death or
disability divided by the total number of months in the Performance Period.

(d) For purposes of the Award Agreement, the term "Cause" shall mean the Participant's fraud or dishonesty that has resulted or is
likely to result in material economic damage to the Company or a Subsidiary, or the Participant's willful nonfeasance if such
nonfeasance is not cured within ten days of written notice from the Company or a Subsidiary, as determined in good faith by a vote
of at least two-thirds of the non-employee directors of the Company at a meeting of the Board at which the Participant is provided an
opportunity to be heard. For purposes of the Award Agreement, the term "Years of Service" shall mean the full 12-month years a
Participant is employed by the Company and/or a Subsidiary.

7. Tax Withholding. Pursuant to Article 15 of the Plan, the Committee has the power and the right to deduct or withhold, or require
the Participant to remit to the Company, an amount sufficient to satisfy any federal, state and local taxes (including the Participant's
FICA obligations) required by law to be withheld with respect to the Award and Dividend Equivalents. The Committee may
condition the delivery of Shares upon the Participant's satisfaction of such withholding obligations. The withholding requirement for
Shares will be satisfied by the Company withholding Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to federal income tax withholding
obligations using an IRS accepted methodology plus additional amounts for state and local tax purposes, as applicable, including
payroll taxes, that are applicable to such supplemental taxable income but with rates not to exceed the maximum effective statutory
rates, unless the Participant elects, in a manner satisfactory to the Committee, to remit an amount to satisfy the withholding
requirement subject to such restrictions or limitations that the Committee, in its sole discretion, deems appropriate. Such election
must be made before, and is irrevocable after, December 15 of the last year of the Performance Period, and cannot be made or
revoked while the Participant possesses information that will be material nonpublic information at the time the Shares are issued
such that the

Annex A -4



Participant would be prohibited from trading on the Company’s stock under the Company's Insider Trading Policy.

8. Ratification of Actions. By accepting the Award or other benefit under the Plan, the Participant and each person claiming under
or through him or her shall be conclusively deemed to have indicated the Participant's acceptance and ratification of, and consent to,
any action taken under the Plan or the Award by the Company, its Board of Directors, or the Committee.

9. Personal Information. The Participant agrees the Company and its suppliers or vendors may collect, use, and disclose the
Participant's personal information for the purposes of the implementation, management, administration, and termination of the Plan.

10. Amendment. The Committee may amend, alter, modify, suspend, or terminate the Award Agreement at any time and from time
to time, in whole or in part; provided, however, no amendment, alteration, modification, suspension, or termination of the Award
Agreement shall adversely affect in any material way the Award Agreement, without the Participant's written consent, except to the
extent such amendment, alteration, modification, suspension, or termination is reasonably determined by the Committee in its sole
discretion to be necessary to comply with applicable laws, rules, regulations, or is necessary for such approvals by any governmental
agencies or national securities exchanges as may be required.

11. Binding Effect. The Award Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company, and, subject to
the restrictions on transfer set forth herein, be binding upon the Participant and the Participant's heirs, beneficiaries, executors, legal
representatives, successors, and assigns.

12. Integrated Agreement. The Award Agreement and the Plan constitute the entire understanding and agreement between the
Participant and the Company with respect to the subject matter contained herein or therein and supersedes any prior agreements,
understandings, restrictions, representations, or warranties between the Participant and the Company with respect to such subject
matter other than those as set forth or provided for herein or therein.

13. Notices. Any notice hereunder to the Company shall be addressed to its office, 1200 West Century Avenue, Bismarck, North
Dakota 58503; Attention: Corporate Secretary, and any notice hereunder to the Participant shall be addressed to him or her at the
address specified on the Award Agreement, subject to the right of either party to designate at any time hereafter in writing some other
address.

14. Definitions. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein or in the Award Agreement shall have the meanings given them in
the Plan.

15. Governing Law and Severability. To the extent not preempted by federal law, the Award Agreement will be governed by and
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to conflicts of law provisions. In the event any
provision of the Award Agreement shall be held illegal or invalid for any reason, the illegality or invalidity shall not affect the
remaining parts of the Award Agreement, and the Award Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if the illegal or invalid
provision had not been included.
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16. No Rights to Continued Employment. The Award Agreement is not a contract of employment. Nothing in the Plan or in the
Award Agreement shall interfere with or limit in any way the right of the Company or any Subsidiary to terminate the Participant's
employment at any time, for any reason or no reason, or confer upon the Participant the right to continue in the employ of the

Company or a Subsidiary.

17. Construction. Captions and titles contained in the Award Agreement are for convenience only and shall not affect the meaning
or interpretation of any provision of the Award Agreement. Except when otherwise indicated by the context, the singular shall
include the plural and the plural shall include the singular. Use of the term "or" is not intended to be exclusive, unless the context
clearly requires otherwise.

18. Conformity. The Award Agreement is intended to conform in all respects with, and is subject to all applicable provisions of, the
Plan. Any conflict between the terms of the Award Agreement and the Plan shall be resolved in accordance with the terms of the
Plan. In the event of any ambiguity in the Award Agreement or any matters as to which the Award Agreement is silent, the Plan shall

govern.
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MDU RESOURCES GROUP, INC.
LONG-TERM PERFORMANCE-BASED INCENTIVE PLAN
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT ("RSU") AWARD AGREEMENT
[Date]
[Participant Name]

In accordance with the terms of the MDU Resources Group, Inc. (the "Company") Long-Term Performance-Based Incentive Plan
(the "Plan"), pursuant to action of the Compensation and Human Capital Committee (the "Committee") of the Company's Board of
Directors, the Company hereby grants to you (the "Participant™) RSUs (the "Award"), subject to the terms and conditions set forth in
this Award Agreement (including Annex A and all documents incorporated herein by reference), as set forth below.

When vested, each RSU entitles you to receive one share of common stock of the Company (the "Shares").

Grant Date:

Number of RSUs: [No. of Shares] RSUs, subject to adjustment as provided under Section 4.2
of the Plan.

Vesting Schedule: Subject to the provisions of the Award Agreement and the Plan and provided
that you remain continuously employed by the Company and/or an Affiliate
through the respective vesting dates as set forth below, the RSUs shall vest
on . The Vesting Schedule is the 36-month period beginning
January 1, and ending December 31, . Except for termination of
employment due to retirement after the Participant has reached age 55 and
completed 10 Years of Service, death or disability, or a Change in Control as
defined in the Plan, any unvested portion of the Award will be forfeited
and/or cancelled on the date you cease to be an employee of the Company or
an Affiliate.

Settlement Date: Each vested RSU will be settled in Shares as soon as practicable following
the end of the Vesting Schedule but not later than March 15 following the
close of the Vesting Schedule.




Acceleration on In the case of death or disability, a portion of the unvested RSUs will vest

Death, or Disability: based on the ratio of the number of full months of employment completed
during the Vesting Schedule to the date of your death or disability divided
by the total number of months in the Vesting Schedule.

In the case of retirement where the Participant has reached age 55 and
) completed 10 Years of Service (i) during the first year of the Vesting

Retirement Schedule, all RSUs (and related Dividend Equivalents) shall be forfeited,;
(i1) during the second year of the Vesting Schedule, determination of the
vesting and payment of RSUs and Shares (and related Dividend
Equivalents, if any), will be based on a proration for the number of months
employed during the 36-month Vesting Schedule, including the month in
which the termination of employment occurs; and (iii) during the third year
of the Vesting Schedule, 100% of the RSUs and Shares (and related
Dividend Equivalents, if any), will be paid without prorating. For purposes
of the Award Agreement, the term Years of Service shall mean the full 12-
month years a Participant is employed by the Company and/or a
Subsidiary.

Dividend Equivalents: Yes

THESE RSUs ARE SUBJECT TO FORFEITURE AS PROVIDED HEREIN. THIS AWARD AND AMOUNTS RECEIVED
IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AWARD ARE ALSO SUBJECT TO FORFEITURE, RECAPTURE, OR OTHER ACTION
IN THE EVENT OF AN ACCOUNTING RESTATEMENT, AS PROVIDED IN THE PLAN.

Further terms and conditions of the Award are set forth in Annex A hereto, which is an integral part of this Award Agreement.
Subject to the terms of the Plan, decisions and interpretations of the Committee are binding, conclusive, and final upon any questions
arising under the Award Agreement or the Plan.

Attachment:
Annex A: Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement



ANNEX A

It is understood and agreed that the Award of RSUs evidenced by the Award Agreement to which this is annexed is subject to the
following additional terms and conditions.

1. Grant of RSUs. On the Grant Date, the Participant was awarded the number of RSUs set forth in the Award Agreement.

2. Vesting of RSUs. The RSUs shall become vested and nonforfeitable in accordance with the Vesting Schedule set forth in the
Award Agreement. Vesting may be accelerated only as described in the Award Agreement.

3. Settlement of RSU. Each RSU, at the discretion of the Committee, will be settled in Shares as soon as practicable after the end of
the Vesting Schedule but not later than March 15% following the close of the Vesting Schedule. Executives are required to comply
with the Company’s Stock Ownership Policy and Insider Trading Policy. If a Participant has not achieved an applicable stock
ownership requirement, the Participant shall hold the net after-tax Shares received under this Award until the requirement is met.

4. Voting Rights. Since RSUs do not represent actual Shares, no voting rights or other rights as a stockholder of the Company arise
with respect to the RSUs until Shares have been delivered to the Participant upon settlement of the RSUSs.

5. Dividend Equivalents. Dividend Equivalents shall be earned with respect to any Shares issued pursuant to the Award. The amount
of Dividend Equivalents earned shall be equal to the total dividends declared on a Share for stockholders of record between the
Grant Date of this Award and the vesting date of the RSUs, multiplied by the number of Shares issued pursuant to the vesting of the
RSUs awarded in the Award Agreement. Any Dividend Equivalents earned shall be paid in cash to the Participant when the Shares to
which they relate are issued or as soon as practicable thereafter, but no later than March 15™ following the close of the Vesting
Schedule. No Dividend Equivalents will be issued for unvested or forfeited RSUs.

6. Termination of Employment During the Vesting Schedule.
(a) If the Participant's employment with the Company is terminated during the Vesting Schedule for "Cause" (as defined below) at
any time, all RSUs (and related Dividend Equivalents) shall be forfeited.

(b) If the Participant's employment with the Company is terminated after the Participant, as of the effective date of termination, has
reached age 55 and completed 10 "Years of Service" (i) during the first year of the Vesting Schedule, all RSUs (and related Dividend
Equivalents) shall be forfeited; (ii) during the second year of the Vesting Schedule, Shares (and related Dividend Equivalents) earned
will be paid based on the number of full months elapsed from and including the month in which the Vesting Schedule began to and
including the month in which the termination of employment occurs; and (iii) during the third year of the Vesting Schedule, the
Shares (and related Dividend Equivalents) earned will be paid without prorating.
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(c) If the Participant’s employment with the Company is terminated due to death or disability, a portion of the unvested RSUs will
vest based on the ratio of the number of full months of employment completed during the Vesting Schedule to the date of death or
disability divided by the total number of months in the Vesting Schedule.

(d) For purposes of the Award Agreement, the term "Cause" shall mean the Participant's fraud or dishonesty that has resulted or is
likely to result in material economic damage to the Company or a Subsidiary, or the Participant's willful nonfeasance if such
nonfeasance is not cured within ten days of written notice from the Company or a Subsidiary, as determined in good faith by a vote
of at least two-thirds of the non-employee directors of the Company at a meeting of the Board at which the Participant is provided an
opportunity to be heard. For purposes of the Award Agreement, the term "Years of Service" shall mean the full 12-month years a
Participant is employed by the Company and/or a Subsidiary.

7. Non-transferability of RSUs. No RSUs granted under the Plan may be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated
or hypothecated, other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution.

8. Personal Information. The Participant agrees the Company and its suppliers or vendors may collect, use, and disclose the
Participant's personal information for the purposes of the implementation, management, administration, and termination of the Plan.

9. Amendment. The Committee may amend, alter, modify, suspend, or terminate the Award Agreement at any time and from time to
time, in whole or in part; provided, however, no amendment, alteration, modification, suspension, or termination of the Award
Agreement shall adversely affect in any material way the Award Agreement, without the Participant's written consent, except to the
extent such amendment, alteration, modification, suspension, or termination is reasonably determined by the Committee in its sole
discretion to be necessary to comply with applicable laws, rules, regulations, or is necessary for such approvals by any governmental
agencies or national securities exchanges as may be required.

10. Binding Effect. The Award Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company, and, subject to the
restrictions on transfer set forth herein, be binding upon the Participant and the Participant's heirs, beneficiaries, executors, legal
representatives, successors, and assigns.

11. Integrated Agreement. The Award Agreement and the Plan constitute the entire understanding and agreement between the
Participant and the Company with respect to the subject matter contained herein or therein and supersedes any prior agreements,
understandings, restrictions, representations, or warranties between the Participant and the Company with respect to such subject
matter other than those as set forth or provided for herein or therein.

12. Tax Withholding. Pursuant to Article 15 of the Plan, the Committee has the power and the right to deduct or withhold, or require
the Participant to remit to the Company, an amount sufficient to satisfy any federal, state, and local taxes (including the Participant's
FICA obligations) required by law to be withheld with respect to the Award and Dividend Equivalents.
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The Committee may condition the delivery of vested Shares upon the Participant's satisfaction of such withholding obligations. The
withholding requirement for Shares will be satisfied by the Company withholding Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to
federal income tax withholding obligations using an IRS accepted methodology plus additional amounts for state and local tax
purposes, as applicable, including payroll taxes, that are applicable to such supplemental taxable income but with rates not to exceed
the maximum effective statutory rates, unless the Participant elects, in a manner satisfactory to the Committee, to remit an amount to
satisfy the withholding requirement subject to such restrictions or limitations that the Committee, in its sole discretion, deems
appropriate. Such election must be made before, and is irrevocable after, December 15 of the last year in the Vesting Schedule, and
cannot be made or revoked while the Participant possesses information that will be material nonpublic information at the time the
Shares are issued such that the Participant would be prohibited from trading on the Company's stock under the Company's Insider
Trading Policy.

13. Notices. Any notice hereunder to the Company shall be addressed to its office, 1200 West Century Avenue, Bismarck, North
Dakota 58503; Attention: Corporate Secretary, and any notice hereunder to the Participant shall be addressed to him or her at the
address specified in the Award Agreement, subject to the right of either party to designate at any time hereafter in writing some other
address.

14. Definitions. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein or in the Award Agreement shall have the meanings given to them in
the Plan.

15. Governing Law and Severability. To the extent not preempted by federal law, the Award Agreement will be governed by and
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to conflicts of law provisions. In the event any
provision of the Award Agreement shall be held illegal or invalid for any reason, the illegality or invalidity shall not affect the
remaining parts of the Award Agreement, and the Award Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if the illegal or invalid
provision had not been included.

16. No Rights to Continued Employment. The Award Agreement is not a contract of employment. Nothing in the Plan or in the
Award Agreement shall interfere with or limit in any way the right of the Company or any Subsidiary to terminate the Participant's
employment at any time, for any reason or no reason, or confer upon the Participant the right to continue in the employ of the
Company or a Subsidiary.

17. Construction. Captions and titles contained in the Award Agreement are for convenience only and shall not affect the meaning or
interpretation of any provision of the Award Agreement. Except when otherwise indicated by the context, the singular shall include
the plural and the plural shall include the singular. Use of the term "or" is not intended to be exclusive, unless the context clearly
requires otherwise.

18. Conformity. The Award Agreement is intended to conform in all respects with, and is subject to all applicable provisions of, the
Plan. Any conflict between the terms of the Award Agreement and the Plan shall be resolved in accordance with the terms of the
Plan. In the event
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of any ambiguity in the Award Agreement or any matters as to which the Award Agreement is silent, the Plan shall govern.
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=== MDU RESOURCES

GROUP, INC.

1200 West Century Avenue, P.O. Box 5650
Bismarck, North Dakota 58506-5650

POLICY STATEMENTS
Policy No. 87.2
Insider Trading Policy

Effective Date:
February 13, 2025

PURPOSE

It is illegal for any director, officer, or employee of MDU Resources Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the
“Company”), who possesses material non-public information concerning the Company to engage in transactions
concerning the Company’s securities or to pass such information on to others who may be induced to engage in
securities transactions on the basis of such information. The law further prohibits trading on material non-public
information about the Company’s customers, suppliers, competitors, joint venture partners, and proposed
acquisitions or divestitures. The law also requires directors and certain officers of the Company to file reports with
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) when they trade in the Company’s securities. This
Insider Trading Policy (this “Policy”) is intended to assure compliance with these laws.

SCOPE

A. This Policy shall apply to directors of the Company and all officers and employees of the Company,

including all companies directly or indirectly majority-owned by the Company.

B. This Policy applies to all trading or other transactions in the Company’s common stock and any other

securities the Company may issue, such as preferred stock, notes, bonds, and convertible securities, as
well as to derivative securities relating to any of the Company’s securities, whether or not issued by the
Company.

. Persons subject to the blackout periods imposed by this Policy whose employment terminates during a

blackout period (or persons who otherwise leave while in possession of material non-public information),
will continue to be subject to this Policy, and specifically to the ongoing prohibition against trading, until the
blackout period ends or otherwise until the close of the trading day on which the Company publicly
announces the material non-public information.

POLICY STATEMENT

A. No director, officer, or employee of the Company, or any Related Person of any of the foregoing, who is

aware of material non-public information relating to the Company may directly or through other persons or
entities (a) buy or sell securities of the Company, or (b) communicate that information to others outside the
Company, including family and friends or recommend to another person that they engage in transactions
concerning the Company’s securities.

. No director, officer, or employee of the Company who, in the course of his or her involvement with the

Company, learns of material non-public information about



another entity, including a customer, supplier, or competitor of the Company, may trade in the other entity’s
securities or recommend to another person that they do so until the information becomes public or is no
longer material.

C. No director, officer, or employee of the Company may make bona fide gifts while aware of material non-
public information or during a blackout period.

D. Covered Persons must “pre-clear” all trading in the Company’s securities in accordance with the
procedures of Section V below.

E. The Company will not trade in Company securities while aware of material non-public information relating
to the Company or Company securities.

IV. DEFINITIONS

A. “Covered Persons” are all directors of the Company, and all officers of the Company serving on the
Company’s Management Policy Committee

B. “Related Person” with respect to any person is any other person living in such person’s household (other
than tenants or domestic employees) and family members who do not live in such person’s household but
whose trading in the Company’s securities is directed by such person or is subject to such person’s
influence or control, as well as any corporation, partnership, trust, or other entity that is subject to such
person’s control.

C. “Material” information is information that a reasonable investor would consider important in deciding
whether to buy, sell, or hold the Company’s securities or the information, if disclosed, could be viewed by a
reasonable investor as having significantly altered the total mix of information available in the marketplace
about the Company. In other words, information that is likely to affect the price of the Company’s securities
is likely material information. While it is not possible to define all categories of material information,
examples of information that ordinarily would be considered material include financial results, forecasts, or
expectations for the quarter or the year (or even monthly results under certain circumstances, including
when they would indicate a material departure from market expectations); significant write-downs in assets
or increases in reserves; major developments regarding significant litigation or government agency
investigations; a significant cybersecurity incident, such as a data breach, or any other significant
disruption in the Company’s operations or loss, potential loss, breach or unauthorized access of its
property or assets, whether at its facilities or through its information technology infrastructure; earnings
estimates or guidance, changes in earnings estimates or guidance, or unusual gains or losses in major
operations; major changes in senior management; extraordinary borrowings or offerings of Company
securities; gain or loss of a major contract, customer, supplier or financing source; changes in credit rating;
stock splits, public or private securities/debt offerings, or changes in dividend policies or amounts; a
change in auditors or notification that the auditor’s reports may no longer be relied upon; a Company
restructuring; an impending bankruptcy or the existence of severe liquidity problems; the imposition of an
event-specific restriction on trading in the
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Company’s securities or the securities of another company or the extension or termination of such
restriction; and proposals, plans, or agreements, even if preliminary in nature, involving material mergers,
acquisitions, divestitures, tender offers, joint ventures, or purchases and sales of substantial assets.
Material Information is not limited to historical facts but may also include projections and forecasts. With
respect to a future event, such as a merger, acquisition, sale, or disposition of a business or major asset,
the point at which negotiations become material information is determined by balancing the probability that
the event will occur against the magnitude the event could have on the Company’s operations or stock
price should it occur. Thus, information concerning an event that would have a large effect on stock price,
such as a merger, may be material information even if the possibility that the event will occur is relatively
small. When in doubt about whether particular non-public information is material information, you should
presume it is material information. If you are unsure whether information is material information, you
should consult the Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary before making any decision to
trade in, or recommend to others to trade in, securities to which that information relates.

D. “Non-public” information is information about the Company that is known by persons within the Company,
but that has not yet been disseminated in a manner designed to reach investors generally. The Company
generally discloses information to the public either by press release or in reports the Company files with
the SEC. Even after public disclosure of information about the Company, you must wait until the close of
the trading day on which the information is publicly disclosed by the Company before you can treat the
information as public. For example, if the public disclosure occurs prior to the market opening on a
Tuesday, the blackout ends at the close of regular trading on Tuesday, and you could resume trading on
Wednesday (assuming you are not otherwise aware of material non-public information). As with
questions of materiality, if you are not sure whether information is considered non-public
information, you should either consult with the Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary or
assume that the information is non-public information and treat it as confidential.

V. PROCEDURE

A. Trading_“Windows”. (1) Covered Persons, and (2) all officers and senior employees of the Accounting
departments of the Company’s direct and indirect subsidiaries, certain employees of the Company’s SEC
and Financial Reporting, Tax, Treasury, Investor Relations, Corporate Planning, Internal Auditing,
Communications, Legal, and Human Resources departments, as well as any other employees in roles that
make it likely they will have involvement with material non-public information (collectively, “Other Restricted
Persons”), and, in each case, their Related Persons, may only trade in the Company’s securities during the
window period that begins following the close of the trading day on which the Company releases year-end
or quarterly earnings and ends on the fifteenth day of the last month of each fiscal quarter (the “Trading
Window”), unless advised of a shorter Trading Window by the Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary.
Please note that, even during the Trading Window, you may not initiate a trade in the Company’s securities
if you are aware of material non-public information about
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the Company. The Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary may change the list of Other Restricted
Persons from time to time, as appropriate.

. In addition, from time to time, other types of material non-public information regarding the Company (such
as negotiation of material mergers, acquisitions, dispositions, or significant contracts) may be pending and
not publicly disclosed. While such material non-public information is pending, the Company, through the
Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary, may impose special blackout periods during which it will
require or recommend that directors, Covered Persons, and selected officers and employees refrain from
trading in the Company’s securities. If you are informed the Company has imposed a special blackout
period, you may not disclose the fact that a special blackout period exists to anyone, including Company
employees (who themselves may not be subject to the special blackout), family members (other than
Related Persons who would be prohibited from trading because you are), friends, or brokers. You should
treat the imposition of a special blackout period as material non-public information. The Company may not
widely announce a special blackout period; therefore, it is important that Covered Persons adhere to the
pre-clearance procedures of this Policy, so they do not trade during any special blackout period.

. Pension Plan Blackouts. To the extent required under Regulation BTR, directors and Section 16 officers
of the Company are prohibited from trading in the Company’s equity securities during a blackout period
imposed under an “individual account” plan of the Company, during which at least 50% of the plan
participants are unable to purchase, sell or otherwise acquire or transfer an interest in equity securities of
the Company due to a temporary suspension of trading by the Company or the plan fiduciary. The
Company will provide affected persons with advance notice of a pension plan blackout.

. Pre-Clearance of Securities Transactions. Subject to the exceptions in Section VI below, no Covered
Person, their Related Persons, or entities over which the Covered Person exercises control may, directly or
indirectly, purchase or sell (or otherwise make any transfer, gift, pledge, or loan of) any Company security
even during an open trading window (a period in which a blackout period is not in effect) without first
complying with the Company’s pre-clearance procedures. To pre-clear a transaction, you must get
approval of the Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary before you enter into the transaction. You
should contact the Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary at least 3 business days before you intend
to engage in any transaction to allow enough time for pre-clearance procedures. The Chief Legal Officer is
under no obligation to approve a transaction submitted for pre-clearance, and may determine not to permit
the transaction. If a person seeks pre-clearance and permission to engage in the transaction is denied,
then he or she should refrain from initiating any transaction in Company securities and should not inform
any other person of such restriction on trade.

. Hedging _Stock Ownership. Directors and executive officers are not permitted to hedge their ownership of
the Company’s common stock. Hedging strategies include but are not limited to zero-cost collars, equity
swaps, straddles, variable prepaid forward contracts, security futures contracts, exchange funds, forward
sale
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contracts, and other financial transactions that allow the director or executive officer to benefit from
devaluation of the Company's common stock.

their respective Related Persons are prohibited from holding Company common stock in a margin account
or pledging Company securities as collateral for a loan, with certain exceptions. Company common stock
may be held in a margin brokerage account only if the stock is explicitly excluded from any margin, pledge,
or security provisions of the customer agreement. Company common stock may be held in a cash account,
which is a brokerage account that does not allow any extension of credit on securities.

G. Remember to cancel any “limit” orders or other pending trading orders you have in place during a blackout
period (unless the orders were made pursuant to an approved Rule 10b5-1 trading program).

VI. RECOGNIZED EXCEPTIONS. The trading restrictions of this Policy do not apply to the following, except as
specifically noted:

A. 401(k)_Plan. Employees investing 401(k) plan contributions in Company common stock in accordance with
the terms of the Company's 401(k) plan. Any changes, however, in investment elections regarding the
Company’s stock, intra-plan transfers, or sales involving Company stock, or, plan loans where some of the
Company’s common stock may be sold, are subject to this Policy.

B. Dividend Reinvestment Plan. Ongoing purchases of Company common stock through the dividend
reinvestment feature of the Company’s dividend reinvestment plan or a bank or broker sponsored dividend
reinvestment plan. However, an election to participate in the Company’s dividend reinvestment plan or a
bank or broker-sponsored dividend reinvestment plan, changes in the level of participation, and voluntary
purchases of Company stock through additional contributions are subject to this Policy. This Policy applies
to the sale of any stock purchased pursuant to the plan.

C. Approved 10b5-1 Plan. Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 provides a defense
against a claim of insider trading for transactions made pursuant to a pre-existing written plan, contract,
instruction, or arrangement, as long as such plan (an "Approved 10b5-1 Plan"):

1. has been approved at least 10 days in advance of entering into such plan by the Chief Legal Officer
and Corporate Secretary (or, if revised or amended, such revisions or amendments have been
approved by the Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary at least 10 days in advance of any
subsequent modifications to such plan);

2. contains a certification by the employee or Covered Person that, at the time of plan adoption, such
employee or Covered Person (a) is not aware of any material non-public information about the
Company or the Company’s securities, and (b) is adopting the plan in good faith and not as part of a
plan
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or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Exchange Act Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5;

3. gives a third party the discretionary authority to execute such purchases and sales, outside the
control of the person trading, and prohibits the plan holder from exercising any subsequent influence
over the volume, price, or timing of trades under the plan, so long as such third party does not
possess any material non-public information at the time such third party executes such trade; or
explicitly specifies the security or securities to be purchased or sold, the number of shares, the
prices and/or dates of transactions, or other formula(s) describing such transactions;

4. meets the twelve-month limitation on single transaction plans set forth in Rule 10b5-1, subject to
certain exceptions (i.e., to permit sell-to-cover plans); and

5. has a minimum duration of six months and a maximum duration of 12 months.

When establishing or amending an Approved 10b5-1 Plan by a Covered Person, no purchases or sales
pursuant to a plan may occur until expiration of a cooling-off period ending on the later of 90 days after the
adoption or modification of the plan, and two business days following the disclosure of the Company’s
financial results in a Form 10-Q or Form 10-K for the completed fiscal quarter in which the plan was
adopted or modified; provided, however, that in no event shall the required cooling-off period exceed 120
days. When establishing or amending an Approved 10b5-1 Plan by all other employees, no purchases or
sales may occur until the expiration of a cooling-off period that is 30 days after the adoption or modification
of an Approved 10b5-1 Plan.

Modifications that change the amount, price, or timing of the transaction in the plan would be deemed a
termination of the existing plan and an adoption of a new plan, triggering a new cooling-off period.
Modifications that do not change the price, amount of securities, or timing of transactions under an
Approved Rule 10b5-1 plan will not trigger a new cooling-off period. Moreover, the Covered Person or
other employee may not have more than one plan in effect at a time, subject to certain exceptions (i.e., to
permit sell-to-cover plans).

The Company and the Company’s officers and directors must make certain disclosures in SEC filings
concerning Rule 10b5-1 plans. Officers and directors of the Company must undertake to provide any
information requested by the Company regarding Rule 10b5-1 plans for the purpose of providing the
required disclosures or any other disclosures that the Company deems to be appropriate under the
circumstances.

. Director Compensation. Acquisition by directors of notional investments in Company common stock
(whether cash-settled or stock-settled) as a result of a prior deferral of cash director compensation.
However, a director’s initial election to defer cash director compensation into a notional investment in
Company
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VII.

VIII.

Reviewed:

common stock, and any subsequent change by a director in a prior election that has the effect of reducing
or increasing the number of Company shares to be notionally credited to the director, are subject to this
Policy.

. Tax Withholding. The exercise of a tax withholding right pursuant to an election to withhold shares of

stock to satisfy tax withholding requirements upon the vesting of performance shares or restricted stock.

F. Equity Awards. The vesting of equity awards, or the exercise of a tax withholding right pursuant to which

you elect to have the Company withhold shares of stock to satisfy tax withholding requirements upon the
vesting of any equity award. This Policy does apply, however, to any market sale of such stock.

VIOLATIONS

A. Legal Penalties. Penalties for trading on, or communicating, material non-public information can be

severe both for individuals involved in such unlawful conduct and their employers and supervisors, and
may include jail terms, criminal fines, civil penalties, and civil enforcement injunctions. It is your individual
responsibility to comply with laws against insider trading. This Policy is intended to assist you in complying
with laws against insider trading, but you should always exercise appropriate judgment in connection with
any trade of the Company’s securities.

. Company Discipline. Employees who violate this Policy may be subject to disciplinary action by the

Company, including dismissal for cause. Any exceptions to this Policy, if permitted, may only be approved
by the Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary and must be provided before any activity contrary to
this Policy.

ADMINISTRATION

The Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary is responsible for the overall administration of this Policy.
Questions about the provisions of this Policy should be directed to the Chief Legal Officer and Corporate
Secretary.

/s/ Anthony D. Foti Approved: /sl Nicole A. Kivisto
Name: Anthony D. Foti Name: Nicole A. Kivisto
Title: Chief Legal Officer and Title: President and

Corporate Secretary Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 13, 2025

Page 7 of 7



MDU RESOURCES GROUP, INC.

List of Subsidiaries
(effective December 31, 2024)

Formation
Subsidiaries Jurisdiction
Cascade Natural Gas Corporation Washington
CEHI, LLC Delaware
Centennial Holdings Capital LLC Delaware
Fidelity Exploration & Production Company Delaware
FutureSource Capital Corp. Delaware
Intermountain Gas Company Idaho
InterSource Insurance Company Vermont
MDU BenefitCo II, Inc. Delaware
MDU BenefitCo, LLC Delaware
MDU BPT BenefitCo, Inc. Delaware
MDU Energy Capital, LLC Delaware
Montana-Dakota Utilities Co. Delaware
Prairie Cascade Energy Holdings, LLC Delaware
Prairie Intermountain Energy Holdings, LLC Delaware
WBI Canadian Pipeline, Ltd. Federally Chartered
WBI Energy Midstream, LLC Colorado
WBI Energy Transmission, Inc. Delaware
WBI Energy, Inc. Delaware
WBI Holdings, Inc. Delaware




CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-27877, 333-114488, and 333-234760 on Form S-8 of our
reports dated February 20, 2025, relating to the financial statements of MDU Resources Group, Inc., and the effectiveness of MDU Resources
Group, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
February 20, 2025



CERTIFICATION

I, Nicole A. Kivisto, certify that:

1.

2.

5.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of MDU Resources Group, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 20, 2025

/s/ Nicole A. Kivisto

Nicole A. Kivisto
President and Chief Executive Officer



CERTIFICATION

I, Jason L. Vollmer, certify that:

1.

2.

5.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of MDU Resources Group, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 20, 2025

/s/ Jason L. Vollmer

Jason L. Vollmer
Chief Financial Officer



CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Each of the undersigned, Nicole A. Kivisto, the President and Chief Executive Officer, and Jason L. Vollmer, the Chief Financial Officer of MDU
Resources Group, Inc. (the "Company"), DOES HEREBY CERTIFY that:

1. The Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024 (the "Report"), fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. Information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned has executed this statement this 20" day of February, 2025.
/s/ Nicole A. Kivisto

Nicole A. Kivisto
President and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Jason L. Vollmer
Jason L. Vollmer
Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to MDU Resources Group, Inc. and will be retained by MDU Resources
Group, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



